ZARZĄDZANIE PUBLICZNE **PUBLIC GOVERNANCE**

2 (48) / 2019



Publishing partner



Publishing House

Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief Stanisław Mazur Thematic Editors Marek Ćwiklicki – management science John E. Jackson - economics, political science Jacek Klich - political science, economics Lukasz Mamica - economics Stanisław Mazur - political science Michał Możdżeń - political economy Karol Olejniczak - management science Steven Saxonberg - political science, economics Dawid Sześciło – law Pasquale Tridico – economics Mariusz Trojak - economics Marcin Zawicki - public policy science Statistical Editor Andrzej Sokołowski

Language Editor Dorota Kassjanowicz

Managing Editor Anna Chrabąszcz

Database Editors Urszula Cieraszewska Marek Oramus

Online Content Editor Marcin Kukiełka Programme Board

President

Jerzy Hausner - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Alain Alcouffe - Université Toulouse 1, France Ash Amin - University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Andrzej Bukowski - Jagiellonian University, Poland John L. Campbell - Dartmouth College, USA Bernard Chavance - University of Paris Diderot, France Robert Delorme - CEPREMAP, France Dagmir Długosz - Center for Public Administration Assessment, Chancellery of the Prime Minister, Poland Marius D. Gavriletea - Babes Bolyai University, Romania Anna Giza - University of Warsaw, Poland Jarosław Górniak - Jagiellonian University, Poland Jan Herbst - University of Warsaw, Poland Hubert Izdebski - University of Warsaw, Poland Dag Ingvar Jacobsen - University of Agder, Norway Robert Jessop - Lancaster University, United Kingdom Janusz Koczanowski - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Tadeusz Kudłacz - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Adam Leszkiewicz - Grupa JD, Poland Ove K. Pedersen - Copenhagen Business School, Denmark Victor Pestoff - Ersta-Sköndal University College, Sweden Grażyna Skąpska - Jagiellonian University, Poland Jacek Szlachta - Warsaw School of Economics, Poland Magdalena Środa - University of Warsaw, Poland Jan Jakub Wygnański - The Unit for Social Innovation and Research 'Shipyard,' Poland Janusz Zaleski - Wrocław University of Technology, Poland

Content in this issue is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Licence



Copyright © by Malopolska School of Public Administration, Cracow University of Economics, 2019

The original version of the magazine is its printed version. The magazine is available in the following databases: CEEOL, CEJSH, BazEkon, BazHum, EBSCO (Business Source Corporate Plus, Ultimate Business Source), ERIH Plus, ICI World of Journals/ICI Journals Master List, ProQuest

ISSN 1898-3529

Graphic Design - Agata Lankowska

Copy Editing - John Beauchamp

Publisher Malopolska School of Public Administration Cracow University of Economics ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow phone: + (48) 122 937 560 www.msap.uek.krakow.pl

Publishing Partner Scholar Scientific Publishing Company ul. Wiślana 8, 00-317 Warsaw phone/fax: + (48) 22 692 41 18, 22 826 59 21, 22 828 93 91; Sales Department: ext. 108 e-mail: info@scholar.com.pl; www.scholar.com.pl

> Typesetting: WN Scholar (*Jerzy Łazarski*) Printing and binding: MCP, Marki Circulation: 200 copies

Contents

Anna Adamus-Matuszyńska, Grzegorz Polok	
Ethical values and norms in the communication systems of public institutions	5
George Lundskow, Brian Phillips, Phyllis Curtiss	
Gender and Right-Wing Authoritarianism in a working-class case-study	16
Aleksander Noworól	
Management of the Kraków Functional Urban Area, in Poland, using a European Union Instrument: Integrated Territorial Investments	26
Adam Mateusz Suchecki	
Spatiotemporal analysis of Polish municipal budget expenditure on selected categories of cultural institutions in the years 2003 to 2016	37
Dorota Jendza, Piotr Wróbel	
The barriers to co-operation in the food safety system in Poland	45
Agnieszka Wincewicz-Price	
Does behavioural economics equip policy-makers with a complete (enough) picture of the human: the case of nudging	58
Guidelines for Authors	74

Anna Adamus-Matuszyńska, Grzegorz Polok

Ethical values and norms in the communication systems of public institutions

Abstract

Objectives: This article aims to provide a theoretical analysis of communication in public institutions with regard to ethical values and norms. More specifically, the objective is to try to understand how ethics is anchored in communication systems in organizations acting on behalf and for the community.

Research Design & Methods: The paradigm which the authors refer to is the social communication theory, theories of professional ethics and writings of management specialists who work in the field of organisational communication.

Findings: While exploring the literature in the said fields, the authors draw analytical conclusions regarding values and norms which should (normative approach) characterise the system of internal and external communication in public institutions, undertaking an attempt to build a theoretical model at the same time.

Implications / Recommendations: The analysis shows that the values and norms necessary for public institutions to operate properly are connected primarily with the need for all groups of stakeholders focused around this process to co-operate.

Contribution / Value Added: The authors try to organise the values and norms typical for communication systems in public institutions into a model.

Article classification: theoretical article: conceptual article

Keywords: ethics, communication, morality, norms, values, public institution

JEL classification: M140

Introduction

Communicating and communication¹ are key terms existing nowadays and analysed both in studies of social sciences and humanities and in daily life of individuals, groups and organisations. Many scientific articles have been written, numerous studies carried out, and textbooks and handbooks written on this topic, even though it is only about 45 years old (Watzlawick et al., 1967; Habermas,

Anna Adamus-Matuszyńska, University of Economics in Katowice, 40-287 Katowice, ul. 1 Maja 50; anna.adamusmatuszynska@ue.katowice.pl; ORCID: 0000-0003-3234-4599. Ks. Grzegorz Polok, University of Economics in Katowice, 40-287 Katowice, ul. 1 Maja 50; grzegorz.polok@ue.katowice.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-9398-9561.

¹ Many languages do not distinguish between those two terms, e.g. in English there is only one term: *communication*. For the purposes of this article a distinction has made between these two terms: communicating is understood as a process of interaction between entities (people and/ or groups, organisations), which consists of creating and

negotiating meanings through symbolic, verbal and nonverbal interaction (Cheney et al., 2011, p. xii; Mumby, 2013, p. 14); and communication is a term underlining the existence of a system within the meaning of a set of elements which are in a mutual relationship (Bertalanffy, 1984, p. 86).

1981a, 1981b; Johannesen, 1990; Graber, 2003; Huang, 2004; Welch & Jackson, 2007; Stewart, 2011; Maigret, 2012). Nevertheless, there are many areas requiring investigation, expert evaluations, analyses or discussions (Donsbach, 2006). The topic which has so far been examined poorly seems to be the issue of ethics in the communication process and communication system. Probably the first, and definitely the first comprehensive, book discussing this issue is a handbook titled *The Handbook of Communication Ethics*, published in 2011 (Cheney et al., 2011).

The etymology of the word "communicating" itself shows implicit values and ethical norms. It is derived from Latin word communicare and originally meant participating and connecting rather than passing on content. Today it combines both these elements, because it means both the participation of the sender and the receiver in the same process and the act of exchange which takes place between them as with the help of various techniques, a symbolic transaction occurs between the sender and the receiver of the message (Maigret, 2012, p. 35). A significant contribution to the understanding of this process has been made by research carried out by culture anthropologists and developmental psychologists, who not so much want to learn the ways and forms of communicating but rather understand the reasons for the occurrence of communication as a process that takes place between people (Tomasello, 2015). Their research shows that communication evolved as part of group ventures (Tomasello, 2015, p. 75); for example, children communicate with each other by informing and interpreting in such way as to encourage co-operation at the same time (idem, p. 39). This means that co-operation was a norm which contributed to the establishing of relationships between people using intentional information. This is why the analysis of relations between communication and ethics seems to be a topic enabling one to understand the nature of the communication process better.

The connection between communicating and ethics can be studied at least in four areas. The

first one is the interpretation of the placement of ethics in the very process of communicating (Johannesen, 1990); the second is the topic of ethical communicating; the third is the practical issue, meaning how to communicate ethical behaviours; and the fourth is the ethics of communicating in individual fields, such as management, marketing, public relations, human resources, media, linguistics and everyday social practice, with particular emphasis put on cultural diversity. Communicating and ethics are thus strongly connected with each other through humans, because they are the communicators (Johannesen, 2001, p. 126) and because it is the entity that is the bearer of ethical values and norms. As many researchers in this field underline, humans are moral agents, rational subjects and communicators who make choices (Stewart, 2011, p.18).

One of the important questions those researching the communicating process and communication systems pose relates to an alternative choice: research should be a description and/or explanation free of normative assumptions or should have a clear normative goal of indicating norms and rules that people should follow at all levels of communicating, from interpersonal to social (Donsbach, 2006, p. 446). That is why the goal of this article is a theoretical analysis of communicating in public institutions with regard to ethical values and norms. In more detail, the goal is an attempt to understand the anchoring of ethics in communication systems in organisations operating on behalf of society and for its benefit.

One of today's particularly appreciated systems in every organisation is the communication system, because all organisations generate, receive, use and manage information (Graber, 2003). Communication is considered a factor preceding trust (Grudzewski et al., 2007, p. 113). Organisations are thus communication structures constituted by the communicating process, so they exist because people communicate and make structural associations as a result (Mumby, 2013, p. 14). What also applies to people is the issue of the ethicality of their actions. Ethics is a primaeval afterthought tackled by people since the very beginning of their existence both in a scientific and casual way. In the most basic sense, ethics is a science dealing with discerning what is good and what is bad. Ethics is divided into two basic branches: descriptive ethics and normative ethics. It is this division that has particular significance in the analysis of processes and systems of communication typical for public institutions, because the following question comes up: which branch of ethics should examine these systems? The descriptive one, which means recreating the values and norms that the entities follow in communicating processes, or the normative one, which means determining what should characterise these values and norms?

Communicating as a process of interaction taking place between people is one of the oldest processes known to man. Due to the meaning and role of communicating in the lives of entities and social life, today it is tackled by researchers from various scientific fields, who try to understand what influences behaviours, attitudes, emotions, decisionmaking process, tasks performed by people, changes taking place in the world and many other issues which are still not recognised sufficiently and which we simply want to understand. The prevalence of various forms of communicating and functions performed by this process makes people form real communication communities (Apel, 1973, p. 431 after Borowicz-Sierocka, 2016, p. 195). If only on the basis of the fact that both ethics and communicating accompany people from the very beginning, ethics can be regarded as an integral part of communicating. However, this does not mean that every instance of communicating and every communication system are ethical. Therefore, since the ancient times the philosophers for whom morality was significant tried to indicate the norms and rules allowing people to communicate in an ethical way. Communication also became a subject of consideration by philosophers and some of them talk directly about the philosophy of communication (Apel, 1990). As Borowicz-Sierocka underlines, "It is our communication competence, the specific human capacity for communicative co-operation,

that decides (one would like to say, in the final instance) about the specific nature of the highest ethical duty, its universal dimension and timeless character." (Borowicz-Sierocka, 2016, p. 189). That author, summarising the considerations of Michael Tomasello (Tomasello, 2002), states that communication is characterised by the following: co-operation in the scope of culturally determined co-creation of knowledge, intentionality hidden in symbols via which communication takes place, joint participation and joint intentionality (Sierocka, 2012). These features result from the understanding of communication as a concept wider than just message conveyance. This is so as communication is "Symbolically mediated and co-intentionally shaped cooperation in the field of information conveyance, expression of sensations and emotions, regulation of behaviours and co-shaping of norms, knowledge and social institutions" (Borowicz-Sierocka, 2016, p. 190).

The multitude of approaches to the issue of communicating and numerous perspectives analysing the role and meaning of ethics make it difficult to expressly define what communicating/ communication means when described with the adjective by "ethical". Generally, it is specified through the following issues: (a) utilitarianism, in the sense of communication as a means to do moral good; (b) openness and access to information, as a foundation for forming relationships between people; and (c) social responsibility, as a moral interpretation of the communicating process because two parties are involved the process, so both are jointly responsible for the result (Huang, 2004, p. 335).

The following ethics values and norms resulting from the co-creation of a communication community can be identified from a brief analysis of the relationships between communicating and ethics.

 a. Values: (1) openness, because the condition for this process to be successful is transparency of information; (2) honesty, because access to information is necessary in order to communicate; (3) trust, because in order to achieve goals (pragmatism and utilitarianism in pursuit of moral good) communicating is necessary, as it is the immanent feature of human communities.

b. Norms: (1) the co-responsibility of the sender and the receiver for the communicating process in order to ensure the possibility of maintaining the communication community (Borowicz-Sierocka, 2016, p. 195); (2) co-operation between the sender and the receiver, because without that there is no option to implement the communicating process; (3) engagement of the sender and the receiver, without which it is not possible to form any relationship between them.

Public institutions: characteristics and functions

Public institutions are organisations, operating in a legally regulated public space, the primary task of which is to protect the public interest. Under Polish law they are equated with public organisations such as: government administration authorities, state control and legal protection authorities, courts, prosecutor's office organisational units, local government entities and their bodies, budgetary entities, local government budgetary institutions, target funds, health care centres, the National Health Fund, and other state or local government legal entities. Their activity primarily consists of offering and providing social services. Social services can be defined in many ways. For the purposes of the analysis, the term presented by Szarfenberg is adopted, which emphasises that those are services offered by the state via welfare benefits (monetary, material and service-based) meeting the needs of people, contributing to their well-being and levelling out differences (Szarfenberg, 2011). Social services are provided by various entities, including social institutions, which address social problems in this way (Grewiński, 2013, p. 29).

Therefore public institutions providing specific services serve specific functions (Grewiński, 2013, p. 31):

- a. they satisfy the vital needs of people, primarily of the weaker groups in the society;
- b. they ensure protection against various threats and crises;
- c. they support families;
- d. they protect human rights;
- e. they integrate the members of the population;
- f. they combat expressions of discrimination.

All tasks performed by public institutions result from goals which are to be achieved and are based on rules of co-operation established earlier. Tomasello, continuing his considerations regarding the co-operation between people, states, with reference to numerous studies and experiments, that people had to develop institutional practices covering public social norms and determining the scope of responsibilities of individual social roles (Tomasello, 2002, p. 64). People live in an institutional and cultural world, which they have created themselves. They use two main norms: cooperation (including moral norms) and adjustment (including constitutive principles). Tomasello's further considerations show how important norms are in the functioning of societies. He emphasises that the strength of norms derives from the mutually recognised correlation and reaction to setbacks (Tomasello, 2002, p. 88). The social practices on which people co-operate in order to achieve goals creates mutual expectations which in turn lead to subjectively normative judgments.

Taking into consideration the above-mentioned tasks which are expected to be performed by public institutions, specific values and ethical norms that result from them can be indicated. Therefore the overarching values will be solidarity, family, human rights, integrity, equality, human dignity and responsibility. The ethical norms resulting from the function of public institutions will be as follows: subsidiarity, protection of the weak against threats, support for the weak, support for families, protection of those in need, social integrity and active participation in social life through the resolution of problems which occur.

Literature review: communication systems in public institutions

Organisational communicating is a process of creating and negotiating a certain collective, coordinating systems of meaning through symbolic practices oriented towards the achievement of organisational goals (Mumby, 2013, p. 15). There are numerous models of communicating, which shows the diversity of communication systems operating in the practice of social life (van Ruler, 2004).

Public institutions are required by law to communicate with the social environment through appropriate conveyance of information and receipt of information coming from society. The need to inform the community about planned and performed actions of public institutions results from Polish law. The Act of 6 September 2001 on access to public information (Journal of Laws No. 112, item 1198, as amended) provides for general principles of citizens' access to public information in the possession of public authorities and other entities performing public tasks. Obligations in the scope of sharing information differ depending on the entity which is in possession of such information, in particular with regard to the necessity to publish information in the Public Information Bulletin.

Article 4 of the aforementioned Act states that public authorities and other entities performing public tasks are required to disclose public information, including, but not limited to, the following:

- 1. public authorities;
- 2. authorities of economic and professional self-government;
- 3. entities representing the State Treasury under separate regulations;
- 4. entities representing state legal persons or local government legal persons and entities representing other state organisational entities or local government organisational entities;
- 5. entities representing other persons or organisational entities which perform public tasks or dispose of public assets as well as legal persons

in which the State Treasury, local government entities, economic local government entities and professional local government entities which have a dominant position as per regulations on competition and consumer protection.

Despite the concept of new public management and the approaching of operation of public institutions to commercial organisations, what should be emphasised are the differences and specific nature of each, resulting primarily from the characteristics of the environment in which these entities operate. Researchers studying the process of public institutions' communicating after the terrorist attacks on 9 September 2001 noted eight factors influencing one of forms of communication – or rather of organisational communication management - which is public relations: politics, common welfare, legal restrictions, meaning of communication lesser than in business, negative public opinion, low level of professional development and simultaneous dependence on central and local authorities (Liu & Horsley, 2007; Adamus-Matuszyńska & Austen, 2011, p. 28-29). Other authors add to those factors even more complex ones, such as non-stable environment of the public sector, numerous rigid procedures and very diverse products (Gelders et al., 2007, p. 334). The number and meaning of factors determining the communication system of public institutions results in the fact that such communication must be burdened with additional properties of the system in order to meet the expectations of the stakeholders they represent and have to co-operate with to satisfy those needs. What is more, public institutions are legally defined and determined, which means that all of their functions, tasks, measures, procedures, relationships with the environment and other factors are limited by legal and ethical norms.

The literature regarding the possibilities to transfer some management models from the private sector to public institution management, including communication management, is relatively rich, but at the same time it does not provide any clear-cut findings (Gelders et al., 2007, p. 327). A significant factor determining the communication of public institutions is the need for potency and effectiveness, but most important is the pursuit of adherence to democratic values (Gelders et al., 2007, p. 334).

Public institutions convey information and encourage certain behaviours (e.g. during a crisis), but they are also carriers of some meanings in the process of policy formation, e.g. the need to explain a waste sorting policy to the local community (Gelders et al., 2007, p. 334). Therefore they are not just passive entities performing tasks and meeting responsibilities imposed on them. Treating both the internal and external communication of those institutions as a process of information conveyance is an understatement of its significance. Public institutions, due to their functions and social expectations, participate in the process of co-responsibility for the community for which they operate. The anthropological communication model examining the human being as a homo communicativus (Borowicz-Sierocka, 2016) allows one to investigate the relationship between communicating and ethics in a manner different than in management sciences traditionally analysing the communicating process in organisations. Communication in a public institution concerns the following:

- communicating policies of the social surroundings the problems of which the institution solves and has impact on;
- strategies for building the image of the institution and social groups represented by the given institution;
- interpersonal communication, both at the level of internal communication (personnel management) and external communication (direct and indirect contact with specific people);
- organisational communication as part of which activities related to public relations or marketing can be indicated;
- communicating with the local or regional community for which the institution operates;
- intercultural communication and in the era of globalisation international communication.

Each of the above-mentioned tasks of communicating of public institutions with the environment – the internal one and the external one – is characterised by specific rules and values. What is more, message receivers have specific expectations with regard to each such task, often not crystallised but burdened with ethical and legal responsibility.

Discussion 1: Ethical values and communicating process of public institutions with the environment

The communicating process always has a bidirectional nature, from the sender to the receiver and the vice versa, it is sometimes intentional and sometimes not, but, as a result, the sender always has some effect on the receiver and vice versa (Griffin, 2003). This basic pattern shows the significance of ethicality because de facto every instance of communicating determines behaviours, attitudes, opinions, knowledge and experience of both parties involved. This is why both sender and receiver should acknowledge the dignity and independence of the other party of the process (Jaska & Pritchard 1988; Nilsen 1974).

The public zone, in which public institutions play a special role, according to the theory of Jurgen Habermas, creates the space of mutual, public interest and transparency is a fundamental value but also a rule (Habermas, 2007). Thus the values significant in the communication system of public institutions are as follows:

- a. adequacy of information;
- b. correctness of information;
- c. timeliness of information;
- d. accuracy of information;
- e. confidentiality of some information.

However, as emphasised above, the communication of public institutions is not merely the conveyance and receipt of information it: is a responsible process of co-creation of communication community. This is why the values of openness (transparency) and integrity (honesty) entail the result of bi-directional communication between the public institution and the citizen. Subsequently, this bi-directionality of communicating determines the level of trust between participants of this process (Maeda; Miyahara, 2003). The need to convey and receive information also results from the value of tolerance, which contributes to pro-social behaviours (Tomasello, 2002, p. 85).

The internal communication of public institutions determines the attitudes and behaviours of their employees (Wright, 2004; Organ 1988, Pandey, Garnett, 2006; Garnett et al., 2008) and has a direct impact on the level of trust in the organisation (Porumbescu et al., 2013). The external communication of public institutions plays a part in the creation of the local or regional community, thus being co-responsible for its achievements and failures (Adamus-Matuszyńska & Austen, 2009). Therefore the communication of public institutions is a system which actively participates in the formation of the community and in the building of its identity.

Nowadays, many organisations – wishing to organise their norms and values, which are, as Edgar Schein (1985) observed, a partially invisible and unconscious element of the organisational culture – compile ethical codes consisting of a set of values professed by the organisation and the ethical norms postulated to be adhered to. These are documents in which the organisation refers to basic values such as integrity, trust, honesty and solidarity (Murphy, 2005). Apart from that, organisations define specific rules the adherence to which is expected from all entities included in them.

Rest (1986) proposed a theoretical framework for moral decisions in organisations: (1) identification of the moral nature of a given issue; (2) moral evaluation; (3) establishing of moral intent; and (4) engagement in moral action. This model is useful and determines the expectations of ethical behaviours in organisations (Ki & Kim, 2010, p. 268). Research shows that there is a positive correlation between ethical codes and ethical behaviours (Adam & Rachman-Moore, 2004; Boo & Koh, 2001; Ki & Kim, 2010). Research also shows that employees of public institutions, for example municipal offices, have full awareness of the magnitude of ethical codes in their professional work (Kapias et al., 2011, p. 182). Every organisation has a lot of freedom when defining the content of its ethical code, hence the codes are so diverse. The majority of them inform about and recommend certain norms rather than set out detailed rules and regulations (Tomczyk-Tołkacz, 1994; Kapias et al., 2011).

Analysis of preferred ethical values in institutions such as municipal, regional and provincial offices shows that the basic value is honesty, followed by impartiality, responsibility, respect and lawfulness (Kapias et al., 2011, p. 186). Because one of the basic functions of public institutions is the promotion of law, this surely impacts the value system used in the communication practice. Values such as lawfulness, truthfulness or fairness should be characteristic for the communication systems used by public institutions. Research conducted in Polish offices shows that they are really preferred and values appealing to relations between people are not valued that much (Kapias et al., 2011).

Discussion 2: Ethical norms and the communication of public institutions with the environment

Taking into consideration Tomasello's work regarding the mechanism of the formation of public institutions, it should be noted that such institutions are created and operate on the foundation of specific norms contributing to the co-operation of people undertaking joint activities contributing to the fulfilment of goals. Cooperation is inscribed in the structure of their mutual relationship. However, in the case of complex social references resulting from cultural or moral-andethical diversity, for example, there is a need to indicate common norms shaping the human conduct and integrating it. Such norms usually appear in different types of ethical codes, i.e. in documents containing a collection of rules and principles of conduct both for co-workers and the entire external environment (Kryk, 2001, pp. 341–342).

Those types of ethical codes are a record of performance standards for the management and for the other employees. In this case it is difficult to speak of any kind of Decalogue: the norms of which are inviolable, permanent and indisputable. Though the fundamental principles included in them should be essentially undeniable and timeless. As a rule, greater modifiability concerns more detailed issues, which may change depending on the occurrence of new situations or the specification of existing regulations for better understanding of them and compliance with them.

Declaration of legalism is something which in particular characterises ethical codes. This way the assumption suggesting the need to comply with the law is made at the very foundations. There stands another condition behind this one, equally universal, suggesting the necessity for a given institution to satisfy various moral obligations towards all stakeholders.

Very often, the principles presented in such codes are the result of patterns of behaviour already existing in a given environment, adopted due to historical conditions or on the basis of artificially created ideals necessary for joint and efficient operation of a given organisation. What is important is to pay attention to the required procedures, if possible, to be rooted in the axiological systems of the employees and in the culture of a given organisation (Zbiegień-Maciąg, 1996, p. 105). Creation of a common position of conduct in this way largely favours the acceptability of such action by the environment and, in turn, better mutual communication.

Norms empowered in these types of codes aim to support the employees in ethical conduct, because they contain various types of indication, in what way general moral rules can be applied in specific problematic cases which occur in the array of public institutions in relation with the environment. These type of activities can also come forward in the form of a series of ethical programs that, in addition to moral instructions, also cover the main principles that an institution uses, such as action strategy, mission, behavioural norms, and even ethical ways of evaluating employees' activities (Szulczewski 2003, p. 622). The aforementioned mission of an institution is a crucial element because, in general, it should be visionary, meaning it looks far ahead. Thanks to this, its influence will not be limited to a given target group, but it will have vistas for development, allowing it to influence next generations to a significant extent.

One should note that shaping ethical attitudes of employees in various institutions very much translates to how the society existing around them behaves. After all, the norms are a reflection of the axiological system adopted in a particular community. Unification of this system translates into a greater acceptance of these norms, and thus a more efficient and insightful process of mutual communication between entities with each other.

Finally, it needs to be highlighted that if codes of ethics are used in an organisation, due to their public nature, one may hope to convey significant ethical attitudes to external stakeholders. Thus, one can notice a specific process of shaping the desirable attitudes in society, a specific "upbringing towards morality" (how those attitudes are communicated and shaped is, of course, an entirely different issue). At the same time, one should also take into account that the environment itself may have an effect the formation of particular normative systems in the aforementioned institutions.

Conclusions

The phenomenon of communication is closely related to mutual interpersonal and intergroup relationships. It can also take a macro scale, which is particularly evident when contacting compact groups, i.e. all kinds of organisations along with their stakeholders. Therefore the existing methods of communication have a huge impact on their participants. Those methods not only shape the mutual image but also strengthen bonds, support integration processes and, last but not least, form desirable attitudes. A whole set of axionormative activities plays a significant role in this process. It is difficult to build lasting communication bonds without establishing, accepting and implementing common values. Their perception and emphasis significantly facilitate appropriate communication between the institution and the environment. However, the values themselves are not enough. Their acceptance should translate into proper operation. It, in turn, should be shaped through a correct system of norms and principles. In other words, moral responsibility, shaped among employees of various types of social institutions, translates into a better and more dignified approach to the entire environment in a complex communication process. To sum up the theoretical analysis of the relationship between communicating and communication with ethical values and norms, one can indicate four levels of communication activity of public institutions: the micro level, i.e. relationships between individuals; the meso level, i.e. internal relationships in the institution; the level of the relationships between institutions and the local or regional community; and the macro level, i.e. the relationship with society. Those levels each have their specific nature resulting from the characteristics of entities co-creating the communication community. In turn the values and norms prevailing at each of these levels result from the characteristics of these entities. An attempt



Figure 1. A public institution multi-level communication and its values and norms

13

to organise the values and norms typical for particular communication systems is presented in Fig. 1.

References

- Apel, K-O. (1973). Das Apriori der Kommunikationsgemeinschaft und die Grundlagen der Ethik. In K.-O. Apel, *Transformation der Philosophie II*, Frankfurt a/M.: Suhrkamp.
- Apel, K.-O. (1990). Komunikacja a etyka: perspektywa transcendentalno-pragmatyczna (trans. by A. Przyłębski). In: B. Andrzejewski (Ed.), *Komunikacja, rozumienie, dialog.* Poznań: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UAM.
- Adam, A. M. & Rachman-Moore, D. (2004). The methods used to implement an ethical code of conduct and employee attitudes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 54(3): 225–244.
- Adamus-Matuszyńska, A. & Austen, A. (Eds.) (2011). Public relations w jednostce samorządu terytorialnego. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo C. H. Beck.
- Boo, E. H. & Koh, H. C. (2001). The influence of organizational and code-supporting variables on the effectiveness of a code of ethics. *Teaching Business Ethics*, 5(4): 357–373.
- Bertalanffy, L. von (1984). Ogólna teoria systemów. Podstawy, rozwój, zastosowania. Trans. E. Woydyłło-Woźniak. Warsaw: PWE.
- Borowicz-Sierock, a B. (2016). Etyka współodpowiedzialności, czyli moralność wywiedziona z międzyludzkiej komunikacji (Ethics of co-responsibility, that is morality derived from interpersonal communication). *Rocznik Bezpieczeństwa Międzynarodowego*, 10(1): 186–196.
- Cheney, G., May, S. & Munshi, M. (Eds.) (2011). *The Handbook of Communication Ethics*. New York – London: Routledge.
- Donsbach, W. (2006). The identity of communication research. *Journal of Communication*, 56(3): 437–448.
- Garnett, J. L., Marlowe, J. & Pandey, S. K. (2008). Penetrating the performance predicament: Communication as a mediator or moderator of organizational culture's impact on public organizational performance. *Public Administration Review*, 68(2): 266–281.
- Gelders, D., Bouckaert, G. & van Ruler, B. (2007). Communication management in the public sector: Consequences for public communication about policy

intentions. *Government Information Quarterly*, 24(2): 326–337.

- Graber, D. A. (2003). The Power of Communication. Managing Information in Public Organizations. Washington: CQ Press.
- Grewiński, M. (2013). Usługi społeczne i socjalne jako wspólny obszar polityki i ekonomii społecznej. *Ekonomia Społeczna*, 3: 24–39.
- Griffin, E. (2003). Podstawy komunikacji społecznej. Trans. O. Kubińska, W. Kubiński, M. Kacmajor. Gdański: Gdańskie Wydawnictwo Psychologiczne.
- Grudzewski, W. M., Hajduk, I. K., Sankowska, A. & Wańtuchowicz, M. (2007). Zarządzanie zaufaniem w organizacjach wirtualnych. Warszawa: Difin.
- Habermas, J. (1981). Theory of Communicative Action, Volume One: Reason and the Rationalization of Society. Boston, Mass.: Beacon Press.
- Habermas, J. (1981). Theory of Communicative Action, Volume Two: Lifeworld and System: A Critique of Functionalist Reason. Boston, Mass.: Beacon Press.
- Habermas J. (2007). *Strukturalne przeobrażenia sfery publicznej*. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Huang, Y-H. (2004). Is symmetrical communication ethical and effective? Journal of Business Ethics, 53(4): 333–352.
- Jaska, J. A. & Pritchard, M. S. (1988). *Communication Ethics: Methods of Analysis*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Johannesen, R. L. (1990). *Ethics in Human Communication*. Prospect Heights, IL: Waveland Press, Inc.
- Kapias, M., Polok, G. & Burda-Świerz, K. (2011). Wartości etyczne fundamentem demokratycznej tożsamości jednostki samorządu terytorialnego. In A. Adamus-Matuszyńska, A. Austen (Eds.), *Public* relations w jednostce samorządu terytorialnego (pp. 174–230). Warszawa: Wydawnictwo C.H. Beck.
- Ki, E-J. & Kim, S-Y. (2010). Ethics statements of public relations firm: What do they say? *Journal of Business Ethics*, *91*(2): 223–236.
- Kryk, B., (2001). Czy kodeks przedsiębiorstwa może stanowić rozwiązanie problemów firmy. In W. Gasparski, J. Dietl (Eds.), *Etyka biznesu w dzialaniu – doświadczenia i perspektywy*. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Liu, B. F. & Horsley, J. S. (2007). The government communication decision wheel: Toward a public relations model for the public sector. *Journal* of Public Relations Research, 19(4): 377–393.

- Maeda, Y. & Miyahara, M. (2003). Determinants of trust in industry, government, and citizen's groups in Japan. *Risk Analysis*, 23(2): 303–310.
- Maigret, E. (2012). *Socjologia komunikacji i mediów*. Warszawa: Oficyna Naukowa.
- Mumby, D. K. (2013). Organizational Communication. A Critical Approach. London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- Murphy, P. (2005). Developing, communicating and promoting corporate ethics statements: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *62*(2): 183–189.
- Nilsen, Th. (1974). *Ethics of Speech Communication*. Second edition. Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill Company, Inc.
- Organ, D. W. (1988). Organizational Citizenship Behavior: The Good Soldier Syndrome. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Pandey, S. K. & Garnett, J. L. (2006). Exploring public sector communication performance: Testing a model and drawing implications. *Public Administration Review*, 66(1): 37–51.
- Porumbescu, G., Park, J. & Oomsels, P. (2013). Building trust communication and subordinate trust in public organizations. *Transylvanian Review* of Administrative Sciences, 38: 158–179.
- Ruler, B. van (2004). The communication grid: an introduction of a model of four communications strategies. *Public Relations Review*, 30: 123–143.
- Schein, E.H. (1985). Organizational Culture and Leadership. A Dynamic View. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Pub.
- Sierocka, B. (2012). Wokół antropologii komunikacji. In: B. Sierocka (Ed.), Prace z antropologii komunikacji i epistemologii społecznej, Via Communicandi, Vol. IV. Wrocław: Atut.

- Szarfenberg, R. (2011). *Standaryzacja usług społecznych.* Publication issued as part of the project titled "Formation and Development of Norms for Social Integration and Assistance Services". Warszawa: WRZOS.
- Szulczewski, G. (2003). Programy etyczne firm i ich wykorzystanie w działalności public relations. In S. Ślusarczyk, J. Świda & D. Tworzydło (Eds.), Public relations w kształtowaniu pozycji konkurencyjnej organizacji. Vol. 1. Wrocław: WSIiZ.
- Tomasello, M. (2002). *Kulturowe źródła ludzkiego poznawania*. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Tomasello, M. (2015). *Historia naturalna ludzkiego myślenia*. Warszawa: Copernicus Center Press.
- Tomczyk-Tołkacz, J. (1994). *Etyka biznesu: wybrane problemy*. Wrocław: Wydawnictwo Akademii Ekonomicznej im. Oskara Langego.
- Watzlawick, P. H., Beavin, J. & Jackson, D. (1967). Pragmatics of Human Communication. A Study of Interactional Patters, Pathologies and Paradoxes. New York: Mental Research Institute, Norton Company.
- Welch, M. & Jackson, P. R. (2007). Rethinking internal communication: A stakeholder approach. *Corporate Communications*, 12(2): 177–198.
- Wright B. E. (2004). The Role of work context in work motivation: A public sector application of goal and social cognitive theories. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 14(1): 59–78.
- Zbiegień-Maciąg, L. (1996). *Etyka w zarządzaniu*. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Centrum Informacji Menedżera.

George Lundskow, Brian Phillips, Phyllis Curtiss

Gender and Right-Wing Authoritarianism in a working-class case-study

Abstract

Objective: In this article we attempt to shed light on the changing attitudes American workers may have, specifically authoritarian personality characteristics, by reviewing the results obtained from our survey of 74 retired auto workers.

Research Design & Methods: Part of our survey utilizes the Zakrisson short version of the Right-Wing Authoritarian scale and our interests are to provide any differences found between men and women. Also, we seek to test for the presence of authoritarianism as one aspect to understand the appeal of right-wing politics among the white working class.

Findings: Our findings indicate that men and women are each no more or less likely to develop authoritarian personality characteristics. The differences by gender that we found in our case-study mirror the literature over the last several decades since empirical research began in 1950 – ambivalence.

Implications/Recommendations: As a discontented citizenry searches for answers, by leaning more politically right or left will gender differences widen or converge due to the issues.

Contribution/Value Added: Given the current social and economic climate in the United States we find this research study to be both timely and important. A conservative or liberal orientation by American workers may have important contributions for the direction the US takes not only on pressing economic and social issues at home but abroad as well.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: labor, gender, right wing authoritarianism, labor studies

JEL classification: J1, J7

Introduction

Over the past few years the social fabric of the United States has been stretched in a variety of directions. For many Americans, tolerance and understanding of difference seems to be buttressed against issues of morality and traditionalism. This conflict created starkly antagonistic themes in the Presidential campaigns of two political mavericks, Donald Trump and Bernie Sanders, and elevated Trump to the Presidency with strong core support from the white working class, especially those who manifest strong authoritarian personality traits (Choma & Hanoch, 2017; MacWilliams, 2016). Far more extensively than the recent national elections, the major issues in the media, such as

George Lundskow, Grand Valley State University, Department of Sociology, Au Sable Hall, 1 Campus Drive, Allendale, Michigan, USA 49401; lundskog@gvsu.edu; ORCID: 0000-0003-1560-1469. **Brian Phillips**, Grand Valley State University, Department of Sociology, Au Sable Hall, 1 Campus Drive, Allendale, Michigan, USA 49401; phillipb@gvsu.edu; ORCID: 0000-0002-2087-7905. **Phyllis Curtiss**, Department of Statistics, Mackinac Hall, 1 Campus Drive, Allendale, Michigan, USA 49401; curtissp@gvsu.edu; ORCID: 0000-0002-3177-9323.

the war on terror (Bayoumi, 2015; Paletta, 2016; Coghlan 2016; Mashal & Shah, 2016), immigration (Santos & Medina, 2016; Campo-Flores, 2016), and gay and transgender rights (Londono, 2016; McGregor, 2016; Kaufman, 2016), provoke strongly polarised perspectives, which speaks of a bifurcated citizenry (Romans, 2016). The broader economic context of an ever-increasing gap between the rich and poor (Fleming & Murphy, 2015) has mostly reduced the traditional working-class to a lower socioeconomic position as a result of stagnant wages and job loss (Goldstein et al., 2016) and detached the wage-earning segment from conventional political moorings and pushed them to look both to the political right and left at the same time (Myers et al., 2016). We are not concerned here with official platforms or the campaign promises a particular candidate makes. Rather, our work draws from the long tradition in Critical Theory to test for the presence of authoritarian personality traits among the traditional unionised working class rather than survey opinions about recent issues or the election. In this way, we seek to test for the presence of authoritarianism as one aspect to understand the appeal of right-wing politics among the white working class.

In this article we attempt to shed light on the changing attitudes American workers may have by reviewing the results obtained from our survey of 74 retired auto workers. Part of our survey utilises the Zakrisson short version of the Right-Wing Authoritarian scale and our interests are to provide any differences found between men and women. As a discontented citizenry searches for answers, by leaning more politically right or left, will gender differences widen or converge due to the issues. A conservative or liberal orientation of American workers may have important implications for the direction the US takes, not only with regard to pressing economic and social issues at home but abroad as well.

Literature review

Right-Wing Authoritarianism

Over the past 60 years, Right-Wing Authoritarianism (RWA) has been well-established in literature. Beginning with Adorno et al. (1950), *The Authoritarian Personality* became the basis of numerous subsequent studies, and with Altemeyer (1981, 1996, 1998) received a substantial conceptual update that collapsed nine measures into three: conventionalism, submission, and aggression. Although various researchers have reformulated the particular survey items and varied the specific number of items, these three variables have remained consistent conceptually as the core of authoritarianism.

Conventionalism refers to a high degree of commitment to authorities or dominant cultural standards that are seen as inherently superior and therefore legitimate. Submission refers to uncritical allegiance to conventional norms and authority. Aggression refers to authoritarian aggressiveness towards people, values, or lifestyles perceived to be different and therefore inferior to and in conflict with conventional norms. Hence, authoritarians overwhelmingly cluster on the right of the political landscape - more conventional, judgmental, and exclusionary compared to liberals found to be more open minded and tolerant (Carney et al., 2008). Authoritarian conservatives adhere to traditional gender-role identity and attitudes (Duncan et al., 1997) and see the world as a dangerous place, which shapes non-political aspects of life as well (Unger, 2002), such as attitudes towards education and religion, all guided by the belief that a disintegrating moral state (Crowson, 2009) allows allegedly lazy and dangerous minorities to invade, undermine and eventually overthrow the hard-working and moral white hegemony (Crawford, 2012; Crowson et al., 2005; Dhont & Van Hiel, 2009; Duckitt 2001; Duckitt & Sibley, 2010; Hodson et al., 2009; Jost et al., 2003; McFarland, 1998).

RWA and the working class

The relationships between RWA and the working class has been reviewed and debated for many years. With the influential work of Lipset (1959), the working class, being exposed to negative experiences and having low levels of education and cultural capital, develop low levels of political interest, high levels of prejudice and a narrow world view. Since the mid-twentieth century, extensive research has supported Lipset's foundational discoveries (Middendorp & Meloen, 1990; Goodin & Dryzek, 1980; Solt, 2008; Kraus & Stephens, 2012; Kohn, 1977; Oakes & Rossi, 2003; de Regt et al., 2012), while others have fine-tuned and expanded those initial conclusions (Dekker & Ester, 1987; Case et al., 1989; Lott, 2002 and 2012; Diemer et al., 2012; Funke, 2005; Napier & Jost, 2008), namely that the working-class is in general highly ambivalent, which is a highly charged state that results from emotional conflict that pulls people in competing directions at the same time, which may create many and varied behavioural and attitudinal maladjustments.

As the status of the working class eroded with the decline of industrial jobs, members of the working class embraced authoritarian commitment to right-wing ideals of power, moral authority, and hostility towards ethnic minorities as emotional compensation to their disadvantaged status (Brandt et al., 2015; Kohn, 2006). When an RWA loses (or feels he/she loses) status and prosperity, he/she typically embrace a law-and-order mentality, usually attached to racism - black and brown people's criminality will destroy civilisation (Hodson et al., 2017) - because they perceive the world as a fundamental battle between ingroup homogeneity and out-group transgressions of normality. For the RWA, diversity is a threat to moral order and consequently, the existence of diversity in any form inherently creates a conflict in which neither can prosper as long as the other survives (Perry et al., 2013). However, the very nature of labour unionisation requires some commitment to collective benefit, and the larger

collectivity (workers) supersedes particular attitudes or individual preferences (Kurtz, 2002); the more workers who join a union the better. In essence, workers exhibited high levels of ambivalence.

RWA and gender

In terms of the relationships between gender and authoritarianism, some of the literature points to no differences between the genders (Brandt & Henry, 2012; de Regt et al., 2012, p. 288; Henry, 2011, p. 430; Duncan et al., 1997, p. 45; Feather, 1993; Heaven & Bucci, 2001, p. 52). Although men and women can both register high on the RWA scale, the magnitude of difference within their answers to the questions on the scale can be different. For example, Nagoshi et al. (2007) linked male and female high-responders on the RWA scale and in this way found a decrease in coping strategies for males but no change for females before and after the events of 9/11 (Nagoshi et al., 2007). In a similar way, other researchers have found male and female high-responders approached their personal life orientations differently, such that men and women live in highly gendered worlds with social roles narrowly defined (Peterson & Zurbriggen, 2010), so that while both men and women test equally high, women also exhibit higher countervailing traits. This produces observable differences in applied research, such that high RWA scoring men remained decisively focused on career goals, whereas high RWA scoring women experienced career confusion (Peterson & Lane, 2001). Similarly, Eagly and Karau (1991) found that, overall, men emerged as singularly focused leaders more often than women, who tend to self-reflect to a greater extent, which partially minimises their authoritarian commitments. Eagly et al. (2003) argue that this accounts for consistent differences in leadership styles even among men and women who both score high on the RWA scale. Specifically, men's leadership abilities were seen in the area of task-oriented work groups. On the other hand, women emerged as social leaders (in long-term groups requiring socially complex tasks) slightly more than men (Eagly & Karau, 1991) and women are opposed to group-based hierarchy more than men (Lee et al., 2011).

Similarly, Sidanius et al. (2000) shows males being more domination-oriented than females and score higher on both the RWA and SDO (Social Dominance Orientation) scales. Lippa (1995) found men to be more authoritarian than women and, accordingly, Lippa and Arad (1999) found that authoritarian individuals, especially men, were defensive and prejudiced. Kemmelmeier (2010) argued that the need for structure in one's thinking predicts authoritarianism and prejudice, and furthermore that women show lower levels of authoritarianism and prejudice than men in this regard. Also, some studies have shown females tend to have more positive attitudes toward culturally different people and display greater empathy than men (Cundiff & Komarraju, 2008, p. 8). Also, women were found to be more socially compassionate and more supportive of equal rights for minorities than men (Eagly et al., 2004).

On the other hand, Cundiff and Komarraju (2008) found that women and men may be more psychologically similar than once believed. Hyde (2005) shows that we have overinflated gender differences by assuming that women are more caring and nurturing and that men lack nurturing skills and naturally take charge, when in fact the differences are an intersection of sociocultural factors. An early study (Kelman & Barclay, 1963) argued that the narrower "breadth of perspective" that many women exhibited made them more amenable to authoritarian thinking because their lives were more regimented with limited social opportunity compared to men. Duncan et al. (1997) reported similar results, that stronger relationships between authoritarianism and traditional gender role attitudes are high for both women and men in groups that extoll traditional gender roles (Duncan, 2006, p. 60). Sibley et al. (2007) correlate RWA with so-called "benevolent sexism" (where women are seen as fragile and need protection) and, although they find that high RWA men exhibit high degrees of benevolent sexism toward women, women in sexist nations are higher in benevolent sexism (more likely to believe in the inherent inferiority of women) than men. This may be due to the need for women to counteract hostility toward them (citing Glick et al., 2000; Sibley et al., 2007), as well as internalised oppression common to hierarchical societies in general. Given that all of the respondents in our sample are union industrial workers, we expect that gender would not produce a significant difference in the results.

Rather than confirming or denying particular aspects of the existing literature, we found something different: ambivalence, which, as stated above, is a highly charged state that results from emotional conflict which pulls people in competing directions at the same time.

Methods

The union membership in this study consists of approximately 150 retired auto workers and their spouses. The survey was administered in October of 2015 to all members that were in attendance at the monthly meeting of the union. Our sample is a case-study.

This survey is divided into five main sections. The first section deals with background information on the respondent (i.e. demographics). The next two sections contain questions concerning the workers' involvement and commitment to their local unions. Next appears the Zakrisson (2005) short version of Altemeyer's RWA scale, and the last part asks about future activities for the retirees (this part was requested by the union).

The four-page, multiple question survey developed was anonymous and endorsed by the union. Each survey was inserted into an envelope containing a pencil. Copied onto each envelope was a description of the study and some general instructions on how to fill out the survey. Once completed, the respondents were directed to place the survey back into the envelope and drop the instrument off at an assigned station, which was monitored by the union. A total of 74 of the 100 retiree union members present completed and returned the survey, yielding a response rate of just under 50% of the 150 total members.

Results and discussion

Table 1 gives the percentage that answered each of the 10 questions in each category. For readability of this table, slightly disagree and disagree were combined, as were slightly agree and agree. The demographic composition for gender of the sampled auto workers was 68% male and 30% female (2% of responses were missing gender). In addition, 92% of those sampled were white, 3% Hispanic/Latino, 1% Native American/ American Indian, and 1% defined themselves as "other" (3% of responses were missing race.).

To test for differences by gender, a Least-Squares Regression was run with the dependent variable being the rating for the question on a seven-point scale and the independent variable being a dummy variable where 0 = male and 1 = female. To check the validity of the findings, a Mann-Whitney test was also run on the data. The Mann-Whitney test was used to check for differences between the two groups (male and female), since the scoring on each question is on a five-point Likert scale instead of a true continuous scale. According to both of these procedures, there is a difference in the way males and females feel about questions 1 and 2 on this survey.

As shown in Table 2, items 1 and 2 are significant at $p \le .05$ in both tests. On Question 1, "Our country needs a powerful leader, in order to destroy the radical and immoral forces taking over society today", a higher percentage of males were in agreement with this statement than females. While 96% of males agree with this statement (4% slightly agree, 14% agree and 78% strongly

Question	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Disagree nor Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
Question 1 Country needs a powerful leader	1%	3%	4%	21%	71%
Question 2 Country needs free thinkers	4%	6%	6%	31%	54%
Question 3 Tolerance for gays and lesbians	15%	13%	18%	38%	16%
Question 4 God's laws for abortion, pornography, marriage	6%	14%	15%	35%	29%
Question 5 TV and internet need to be censored	14%	16%	7%	28%	35%
Question 6 Many good people challenge government	0%	9%	9%	52%	31%
Question 7 Silence people who disrespect Founders	7%	21%	11%	32%	29%
Question 8 Free to live by own morals	7%	10%	7%	39%	37%
Question 9 Police allowed to do what is necessary	18%	31%	10%	26%	15%
Question 10 Do what's necessary to stop illegal immigration	7%	13%	11%	29%	40%

Table 1. Authoritarian and Contrait Items Frequency

Table 2. S	Significance	Testing
------------	--------------	---------

Question	Regression p-values	Mann-Whitney p-values
Question 1 Country needs a powerful leader	0.035	0.038
Question 2 Country needs free thinkers	0.016	0.032
Question 3 Tolerance for gays and lesbians	0.967	0.958
Question 4 God's laws for abortion, pornography, marriage	0.759	0.61
Question 5 TV and internet need to be censored	0.708	0.596
Question 6 Many good people challenge government	0.816	0.939
Question 7 Silence people who disrespect Founders	0.717	0.847
Question 8 Free to live by own morals	0.026	0.053
Question 9 Police allowed to do what is necessary	0.367	0.268
Question 10 Do what's necessary to stop illegal immigration	0.181	0.180

agree), only 82% of females agree with this statement (27% agree and 55% strongly agree).

On Question 2, "Our country needs free thinkers, who will have the courage to stand up against traditional ways if necessary, even if this upsets a lot of people", again a higher percentage of males were in agreement with this statement than females. While 92% of males agree with this statement (8% slightly agree, 24% agree and 60% strongly agree), only 68% of females agree with this statement (14% slightly agree, 14% agree and 40% strongly agree).

The differences by gender that we found in our case-study mirror the literature over the last several decades since empirical research began in 1950: ambivalence. Our respondents want both a strong leader and, at the same time, more free thinkers. Such apparent contradictions are typical of ambivalence. Although strong leaders seldom tolerate the dissent that free thinkers inspire, ambivalence is this very type of contradiction: a person pulled in competing directions with

no logical resolution. Rather, both sentiments "feel right" and "feel justified" even if they defy rational resolution. While only two significant items may seem like a non-finding, we argue differently, that men and women are each no more or less likely to develop authoritarian personality characteristics. Both are equally high, moderate, or low depending on social roles and cultural norms. The literature predicts that social stability exerts considerable influence on the expression of authoritarian attitudes, so even for those who exhibit moderate to high levels of authoritarianism, high levels of social stability in the form of pay and status will minimise authoritarian attitudes. Since 1950, the *frequency* of authoritarian characteristics has changed very little in the American population, but the strength of authoritarian attitudes varies with social stability (Bremmer, 2006; Kohn, 2006). As people feel a loss of economic livelihood, threats to status, or perceived dangers from outsiders, the more likely they are to embrace authoritarian attitudes. In our case, these manifest as a desire for a strong

leader who will right all the wrongs, and restore moral order. In the case of authoritarianism, any sense of strength and order, whether moral, legal, or otherwise, refers to traditional and conventional normative values, including conventional gender roles. While female factory workers were much less common when the women in our study started work, the presence of authoritarianism negates rational assessment of social or personal conditions, and, instead, a person embraces emotions of power and normativity even if that doesn't really match their own experiences; these are working women who completed a lifelong career as industrial workers, which does not suggest they needed special care or protection because of some alleged frailty. Yet, and like the men, they long for a strong leader who will right all the wrongs.

Conclusion

One of the ironies of the working class in the United States has been that they only minimally identified as working class - working people yes, but not as working class. From a scholarly standpoint, many have legitimately argued that class has decisively shaped social life and politics in the United States since its founding, even if most Americans don't use that perspective. However, few Americans from any class have ever identified by class. As a nation of immigrants from diverse ethnic groups, people identified instead around religion, cultural traditions, and race (Olson & Beal, 2010), such that white workers often sided with owners and the wealthy against black workers and other non-whites (Pearson, 2016). Consequently, race and gender overwhelmingly eclipsed class awareness in any sense (Kendi, 2016; Pearson, 2016; Walker, 2002), despite sometimes radical labour activism (Dray, 2011; Smith, 2006). In the US context, the traditional working class has been strongly ambivalent in general - torn between class and cultural identity - and our case-study supports that historical consistency. As they fought for higher wages and safer working conditions, they also at times sided with management and

conservative political interests against ethnic and gender inclusion and interpreted race and class as the same thing. Today, with unions largely broken in the private sector and marginalised in the political realm, the ambivalence has perhaps resolved with a decisive rightward shift. As found, Donald Trump's core support comes from the white working class. Our research suggests that strong authoritarian tendencies are one reason and they are gradually winning over more inclusive and rational tendencies. In the end, the working class may, in fact, be the revolutionary class, but at present, the revolution they support is something more like white nationalism over and against democracy.

We recognise that our case study may not be generalisable across the population, given our statistical measures due to our sample size. With a greater number of respondents, we could have added more explanatory statistical power to our research. Also, the link between authoritarianism, ambivalence and gender needs further analysis above and beyond what we have reviewed. Since the literature is quite varied in those areas, a greater number of case studies could greatly add to the literature.

References

- Altemeyer, B. (1981). *Right-Wing Authoritarianism*. Winnipeg, Canada: University of Manitoba Press.
- Altemeyer, B. (1996). *The Authoritarian Spector*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Altemeyer, B. (1998). The other "authoritarian personality." Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 30: 47–91.
- Adorno, T.W., Frenkel-Brunswik, E., Levinson, D.J. & Sanford, R.N. (1950). *The Authoritarian Personality*. Oxford, England: Harpers.
- Bayoumi, M. (2015). *This Muslim American Life: Dispatches from the War on Terror*. New York: New York University Press.
- Brandt, M. J. & Henry, P. J. (2012). Gender inequality and gender differences in authoritarianism. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 38(10): 1301–1315.
- Brandt, M. J., Henry, P. J. & Wetherell, G. (2012). The relationships between authoritarianism and

life satisfaction changes depending on stigmatized status. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *6*(2): 219–228.

- Brandt, M., Crawford, J., Chambers, J., Wetherell, G. (2015). Bounded openness: The effect of openness to experience on intolerance is moderated by target group conventionality. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 109(3): 549–568.
- Bremmer, I. (2006). *The J-Curve: A New Way to Understand Why Nations Rise and Fall.* New York, NY: Simon and Schuster.
- Campo-Flores, A. (2016). Election 2016: Immigration set to stay center stage in GOP race. *Wall Street Journal*, 20 February, p. A5.
- Carney, D. R., Jost, J. T., Gosling, S. D. & Potter, J. (2008). The secret lives of liberals and conservatives: Personality profiles, interaction styles, and the things they leave behind. *Political Psychology*, 29(6): 807–840.
- Case, C., Greeley, A., Fuchs, S. (1989). Social determinants of racial prejudice. *Sociological Perspectives*, 32(4): 469–483.
- Choma, B.L. & Hanoch, Y. (2017). Cognitive ability and authoritarianism: Understanding support for Trump and Clinton. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 106: 297–291.
- Coghlan, T. (2016). US teams up with Russia to fight militants in Syria: Syria [edition 2]. *The Times*, 2 July, p. 4.
- Crawford, J.T. (2012). The ideological objectionable premise model: Predicting biased political judgments on the left and right. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48: 138–151.
- Crowson, H. M., Thoma, S. J. & Hestevold, N. (2005). Is political conservatism synonymous with authoritarianism? *Journal of Social Psychology*, 145: 571–592.
- Crowson, H. M. (2009). Right-wing authoritarianism and social dominance orientation as mediators of worldview beliefs on attitudes related to the war on terror. *Social Psychology*, 40(2): 93–103.
- Cundiff, N. L. & Komarraju, M. (2008). Gender differences in ethnocultural empathy and attitudes toward men and women in authority. *Journal of Leadership* & Organizational Studies, 15(1): 5–15.
- De Regt, S., Smits, T. & Mortelmans, D. (2012). The relevance of class in shaping authoritarian attitudes: A cross-national perspective. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 30: 280–295.

- Dekker, P. & Ester, P. (1987). Working-class authoritarianism: A re-examination of the Lipset- thesis, *European Journal of Political Research*, 15: 395–415.
- Dhont, K. & Van Hiel, A. (2009). We must not be enemies: Interracial contact and the reduction of prejudice among authoritarians. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 46: 172–177.
- Diemer, M. A., Mistry, R. S., Wadsworth, M. E., Lopez, I. & Reimers, F. (2012). Best practices in conceptualizing and measuring social class in psychological research. *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy*, 13(1): 77–113.
- Dray, P. (2011). *There Is Power in a Union: The Epic Story of Labor in America*. New York, NY: Anchor/ Random House.
- Duckitt, J. (2001). A dual-process cognitive-motivational theory of ideology and prejudice. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 33: 41–113.
- Duckitt, J. & Sibley, C.G. (2010). Personality, ideology, prejudice, and politics: A dual-process motivational model. *Journal of Personality*, 78(6):1861–1893.
- Duncan, L. E., Peterson, B. E. & Winter, D. G. (1997). Authoritarianism and gender roles: Toward a psychological analysis of hegemonic relationships. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23(1): 41–49.
- Duncan, L. E. (2006). What feminist and political psychologists can learn from each other: The case of authoritarianism. *Feminism and Psychology*, 16(1): 58–64.
- Eagly, A. H., Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C. & van Engen, M. L. (2003). Transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles: A meta-analysis of comparing women and men, *Psychological Bulletin*, 129: 569–591.
- Eagly, A. H. & Karau, S. J. (1991). Gender and the emergence of leaders: A meta-analysis. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 60(5): 685–710.
- Eagly, A. H., Diekman, A. B., Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C. & Koening, A. M. (2004). Gender gaps in sociopolitical attitudes: A social psychological analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(6): 796–816.
- Feather, N. T. (1993). Authoritarianism and attitudes toward high achievers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(1): 152–164.
- Fleming, S. & Murphy, M. (2015). US income inequality rises up political agenda. *The Financial Times*, 25 July, 4.

- Funke, F. (2005). The dimensionality of Right-Wing Authoritarianism: Lessons from the dilemma between theory and measurement. *Political Psychology*, 26: 195–218.
- Glick, P., Fiske, S. T., Mladinic, A., Saiz, J. L., Abrams, D., Masser, B., et al. (2000). Beyond prejudice as simple snippety: Hostile and benevolent sexism across cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79: 763–775.
- Goldstein, M., Abrams, R. & Protess, B. (2016). Private equity hits close to home: Mortgage companies repeat mistakes the banks made. *New York Times*, 27 June, p. 1.
- Goodin, R., Dryzek, J. (1980). Rational participation: The politics of relative power. *British Journal of Political Science*, *10*(3): 273–292.
- Heaven, P. C. & Bucci, S. (2001). Right-wing authoritarianism, social dominance orientation and personality: An analysis using the IPIP measure. *European Journal of Personality*, 15: 49–56.
- Henry, P. J. (2011). The role of stigma in understanding ethnicity differences in authoritarianism. *Political Psychology*, *32*(3): 419–438.
- Hodson, G., MacInnis, C. C. & Busseri, M.A. (2017). Bowing and kicking: Rediscovering the fundamental link between generalized authoritarianism and generalized prejudice. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 104: 243–251.
- Hodson, G., Hogg, S. M. & MacInnis, C. C. (2009). The role of "dark personalities" (narcissism, Machiavellianism, psychopathy), Big Five personality factors, and ideology in explaining prejudice. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 43: 686–690.
- Hyde, J. S. (2005). The gender similarities hypothesis. *American Psychologist*, 60(6): 581–592.
- Jost, J. T., Glaser, J., Kruglanski, A. W. & Sulloway, F. (2003). Political conservatism as motivated social cognition. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129: 339–375.
- Kaufman, D. (2016). Out & in office A right-wing, gay Israeli's lesson for America. *New York Post*, 12 January, p. 25.
- Kelman, H. C. & Barclay, J. (1963). The f-scale as a measure of breath of prespective. *Journal of Abnormal* and Social Psychology, 67(6): 608–615.
- Kendi, I. X. (2016). *Stamped from the Beginning: The Definitive History of Racist Ideas in America*. New York, NY: Nation Books/Perseus.
- Kemmelmeier, M. (2010). Gender moderates the impact of need for structure on social beliefs: Implications

for ethnocentrism and authoritarianism. *International Journal of Psychology*, 45(3): 202–211.

- Kohn, M.L. (2006). Change and Stability: A Crossnational Analysis of Social Structure and Personality. Boulder, CO: Paradigm Press.
- Kohn, M. L. (1977). Class and Conformity: A Study in Values (Second Edition). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Kraus, M. & Stephens, N. (2012). A road map of an emerging psychology of social class. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 6(9): 642–656.
- Kurtz, S. (2002). *Workplace Justice: Organizing Multi-Identity Movements*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Lee, C. I., Pratto, F. & Johnson, B. T. (2011). Intergroup consensus/disagreement in support of group-based hierarchy: An examination of socio-structural and psycho-cultural factors. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(6): 1029–1064.
- Lippa, R. (1995). Gender-related individual differences and psychological adjustment in terms of the big five and circumplex models. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(6): 1184–1202.
- Lippa, R. & Arad, S. (1999). Gender, personality, and prejudice: The display of authoritarianism and social dominance in interviews with college men and women. *Journal of Research and Personality 33*: 463–493.
- Lipset, S. M. (1959). Democracy and working-class authoritarianism. *American Sociological Review*, 24(4): 482–501.
- Londono, E. (2016). America's global campaign for gay rights: Editorial. *New York Times*, 26 May, p. A22.
- Lott, B. (2002). Cognitive and behavioral distancing from the poor. *American Psychologist*, 57: 100–110.
- Lott, B. (2012). The social psychology of class and classism. *American Psychologist*, 67: 650–658.
- MacWilliams, M. C. (2016). Who decides when the party doesn't? Authoritarian voters and the rise of Donald Trump. *Political Science & Politics*, *49*(4): 716–721.
- Mashal, M. & Shah, T. (2016). Taliban's new leader, more scholar than fighter, remains a mystery. *The New York Times*, 12 July, p. A4.
- McFarland, S. (1998). Toward a typology of prejudiced persons. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Society of Political Psychology, Montreal, Canada.
- McGregor, J. (2016). Corporate America's embrace of gay rights reaches stunning tipping point. *The Washington Post*, 5 April.

- Middendorp, C. & Melon, J. (1990). The authoritarianism of the working class revisited. *European Journal* of Political Research, 18: 257–267.
- Myers, J., Mai-Duc, C. & Welsh, B. (2016). Election 2016; Are you an independent voter? If you checked this box, then you aren't. *Los Angeles Times*, 17 April.
- Nagoshi, J. L., Terrell, H. K. & Nagoshi, C. T. (2007). Changes in authoritarianism and coping in college students immediately after the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43: 1722–1732.
- Napier, J. J. & Jost, J. J. (2008). The antidemocratic personality revisited: A cross-national investigation of working class authoritarianism. *Journal of Social Issues*, 64(3): pp. 595–617.
- Oakes, J.M. & Rossi, R.H. (2003). The measurement of SES in health research: Current practice and steps toward a new approach. *Social Science and Medicine*, 56: 769–784.
- Olson, J.S. & Beal, H. O. (2010). *The Ethnic Dimension in American History*, Fourth Edition. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Paletta, D. (2016). Election 2016 (A special report) ---terror attacks in U.S., Paris alter election narrative. *Wall Street Journal*, 27 January, p. S3.
- Pearson, C. (2016). *Reform or Repression: Organizing America's Anti-Union Movement*. Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Perry, R., Sibley, C. G. & Duckitt, J., (2013). Dangerous and competitive worldviews: A meta-analysis of their associations with Social Dominance Orientation and Right-Wing Authoritarianism. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 47(1): 116–127.
- Peterson, B. & Lane, M. D. (2001). Implications of authoritarianism for young adulthood: Longitudinal Analysis of college experiences and future goals.

Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 27(6): 678–690.

- Peterson B. E. & Zurbriggen, E. L. (2010). Gender, sexuality and the authoritarian personality. *Journal* of Personality, 78(6): 1801–1826.
- Romans, C. (2016). Meet the angry American voter. *CNN Wire Service*, 29 March.
- Santos, F. & Medina, J. (2016). Undocumented immigrants live in fear after court ruling. *New York Times*, 27 June, p. A9.
- Sibley, C. G., Wilson, M. S. & Duckitt, J. (2007). Antecedents of men's hostile and benevolent sexism: The dual roles of social dominance orientation and right-wing authoritarianism. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 33(2): 160–172.
- Sidanius, J., Levin, S., Lui, J. H. & Pratto, F. (2000). Social dominance orientation, anti-egalitarianism and the political psychology of gender: An extension and cross-cultural replication. *European Journal* of Social Psychology, 30: 41–67.
- Smith, S. (2006). Subterranean Fire: A History of Working-class Radicalism in the United States. Chicago, IL: Haymarket Books.
- Solt, F. (2008). Economic inequality and democratic political engagement. *American Journal of Political Science*, 52(1): 48–60.
- Unger, R. K. (2002). Them and us: Hidden ideologiesdifferences in degree or kind? *Analysis of Social Issues and Public Policy*, 2: 43–52.
- Walker, T. J. E. (2002). Illusive Identity: The Blurring of Working Class Consciousness in Modern Western Culture. Lanham, MD: Lexington Press.
- Zakrisson, I. (2005). Construction of a short version of the right-wing authoritarianism (RWA) scale. *Personality and Individual Differences* 39: 863–872.

Aleksander Noworól

Management of the Kraków Functional Urban Area, in Poland, using a European Union Instrument: Integrated Territorial Investments

Abstract

The *objective* of this paper is to analyse the ways in which one of the European Union's Cohesion Policy instrument, i.e. the Integrated Territorial Investment (the ITI), can be used, with specific reference to the example of the Kraków Functional Urban Area (the KFUA). ITI is an instrument of EU policy and was introduced during the 2014–2020 program period. It was designed to promote the development of functional areas, especially on a metropolitan scale, and to strengthen the co-operation ability of local entities.

Research design: The reasoning utilised in this article uses participant observation as the primary research method. The complimentary analytical methods are desk research of documents, written questionnaires and individual direct interviews. It is important to underline the direct involvement of the author in the preparation of the ITI Strategy for the KFUA, participative workshops concerning the introduction of ITIs, and expert reports commissioned by the Kraków Metropolis Association (the KMA).

The *findings* enable one to clarify mechanisms disclosed in the national scale with specific features also present in the KFUA. The first part of this paper includes a brief review of the literature concerning the nature of the metropolitan scale, management of the development of functional urban areas, and deliberation procedures. In the second part, the author presents the results of his qualitative research revealing the way an instrument of ITI is implemented by the KMA. Tools used by the KMA, taking into consideration juridical and cultural conditioning, demonstrate how the ITI instrument can become, beyond financial support for communities, a real creator of a co-operative ecosystem of entities.

The *added value* is to show that the ITI instrument, despite some bureaucratic sluggishness, can be, thanks to understanding the essence of "metropolitan governance", an approach which builds real territorial co-operation.

Article classification: research and conceptual article

Keywords: metropolitan governance, metropolitan scale, functional urban area, EU cohesion policy, integrated territorial investments, Poland, Kraków

JEL classification: D04, R11, R58

Introduction

Functional urban areas (FUAs) are entities composed of core cities and peri-urban interfaces

(Allen, 2003; McGregor et al., 2006). They are identified on the metropolitan scale with its all complex determinants of economic, spatial and political nature (d'Albergo & Lefèvre, 2018; Fricke

Aleksander Noworól, Department of Regional Economy, Faculty of Public Economy and Administration, Cracow University of Economics, ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; noworola@uek.krakow.pl; ORCiD: 0000-0002-1333-3440.

& Gualini, 2018). Pro-development interventions in such a scale have to take into consideration assumptions resulting from the reflection on the efficient management systems (Davoudi et al., 2008; Noworól, 2018a; Parks & Oakerson, 2000) as well as broader factors related to social and political constraints (d'Albergo & Lefèvre, 2018; Gorzelak, 2012). The EU Cohesion Policy then brings an essential stimulus in that context in the form of the Integrated Territorial Investments, ITIs (CSF, 2012; PA, 2014, 2017). The spotlight on problems of the FUA of the city of Kraków (the Kraków Functional Urban Area, the KFUA) can be described based on the author's own experiences. Those practices include direct participation in the building of the ITI Strategy, research work on Polish ITIs, being a part of the analysis of territorial instruments of the Polish State's development policy, and, finally, consulting services provided for the Kraków Metropolis Association (Noworól et al., 2018; Noworól, 2018b).

Management on the metropolitan scale

The accurate reflection on the management on the metropolitan scale has been deepened by various approaches undertaken during the last 20 or so years. During that period, we observe consideration for two significant perspectives of understanding the dichotomy of "metropolitan government" vs "metropolitan governance" (Kaczmarek & Kociuba 2017; Lefevre, 2009; Parks & Oakerson, 2000; Pyka, 2016). If we observe the evolution of public management models (Hausner, 2006 and 2019; Izdebski, 2007; Mazur, 2015; Pollitt & Bouchaert, 2011), that dichotomy was well identified by the reflection on the New Regionalism (Savitch & Vogel, 2000). In that concept, government "... is an elaborate machine that operates through hierarchical layers of political authority and accountability" while governance "conveys the notion that existing institutions can be harnessed in new ways, that cooperation can be carried out on a fluid and voluntary basis among localities, and that people can best regulate themselves through horizontally linked organizations" (Savitch & Vogel, 2000, p. 161).

The reflection on metropolitan government/ governance has to raise the question of the metropolitan scale. There is a rich set of references in that respect. Recently, a comprehensive study has been presented by d'Albergo and Lefèvre (2018). Against a backdrop of the review of definitions, theories, and research questions, d'Albergo and Lefèvre construct their "perspective on metropolitan development processes as understood through the economic, spatial and political dimensions of the metropolitan scale". They underline three approaches. The first approach is based on policy networks as inter-organizational governance structures. The second attitude refers to the theories of growth coalitions and urban regimes (mostly public-private interactions). The third represents the constructionist approach focusing on the discursive construction of scale, "the collective construction of meanings" (d'Albergo & Lefèvre, 2018, pp. 152-154).

E. d'Albergo and Ch. Lefèvre evoke the concept of rescaling of local governments or policy networks in which multiple actors exercise different levels of authority, and action to determine the organisations or leaders to make decisions in a selected context (see also: Brenner, 2003 and 2004; Mansfield, 2005; Reed & Bruyneel, 2010). In the management context, the duality of "government" and "governance" takes the shape of the opposition between the Neo-Weberian concept (Kattel, 2015; Lemay-Hébert, 2013; Mazur & Kopyciński, 2017; Pollitt & Bouchaert, 2011) and the many ways of understanding "governance" (Blackmond Larnell, 2018; Pollitt & Bouchaert, 2011; Reed & Bruyneel, 2010; Sroka, 2009). The meaning of "governance" or "good governance" reflects multiple references through such tools as networks, joining-up, partnerships, multilevel relationships, etc. (Chrabaszcz & Zawicki, 2016). It is associated with the way a public administration acts in a political, social and technological environment supported by information and communication technologies. Pluralistic and multi-level relationships of organisations from different levels of authorities and different sectors of stakeholders represent a broad understanding of activities on a metropolitan scale. In that context emerges the notion of "territorial governance". In a broad understanding it is "the process of territorial organisation of the multiplicity of relations that characterize interactions among actors and different, but non-conflictual, interests" (Davoudi et al., 2008, p. 37). Research proves that municipal leaders treat cities as ecosystems which are structured and managed/governed "either as "extended enterprises" where inputs from specialized organizations are coordinated and integrated into the final service or as "platform markets" where direct interactions between third-party service providers and citizens are facilitated by the city leaders" (Visnjic et al., 2016, p. 109). Municipal governments are then understood as ecosystem managers that are involved in managing local activities and delivering services. The real challenge of management on the metropolitan scale consists then of the ability to erect and to maintain a network of entities able to move development processes in different dimensions of territorial activities. The metropolitan governance thus relies on negotiations and on balancing interests. It is therefore necessary to ensure that all parties come to consent in the correct way. In effect, the deliberation procedure should be the tool essential for the successful goal achievement in the ITI partnership. Cohen (1997) uses the notion "deliberation" to describe a public process of communication oriented towards searching for appropriate arguments advocating specific evaluations and solutions in the issues under discussion. Sroka (2009), taking into consideration various theoretical approaches, presents a set of postulates of deliberation procedures. He picks out following features (inter alia): the argumentative character of deliberation, inclusiveness and accessibility to the discussion, liberating debates from internal and external pressures, and a rule that problems can be regulated in the equal interest of everyone (Sroka, 2009).

Integrated Territorial Investments in EU Cohesion Policy 2014–2020 and the introduction thereof in Poland

Rationale, general concept and legal framework

The European Union has given significant support to rescaling processes. It is related to the concept of what is known as "a place-based policy" expressed for the European Commission authorities in the Barca report concerning "a place-based approach" (Barca, 2009). That report emphasized the functional linkages and flows in the territorial scale non-compatible with the administrative boundaries of local communities. Skipping the historical aspects of the introducing the territorial dimension to the EU Cohesion Policy (Europe 2020 Strategy, 2010; Territorial Agenda of the European Union 2020, 2011; Treaty of Lisbon, 2007; Urban Agenda for the EU, 2016), it is worth noting that the concept of relevant activities took legal and binding form in the Common Strategic Framework (the CSF, 2012). That document depicts the new Cohesion Policy instrument called the Integrated Territorial Investment (ITI), dedicated to Functional Urban Areas (FUA).

While the FUA represents an urban area on the metropolitan scale, with all its economic, social and political determinants, the ITI tool gives national authorities an opportunity to support an integrated approach involving investments under more than one priority axis of one or more operational programmes (all in terms of the Cohesion Policy). Article 99 of the Common Strategic Framework indicates that Member States "may designate one or more intermediate bodies, including local authorities, regional development bodies or non-governmental organisations, to carry out the management and implementation of an ITI" (CSF, 2012, p. 99). On 23 May 2014, the European Commission and the Government of Poland adopted a partnership agreement (the PA), which is a crucial document defining

the strategy of interventions of European funds within the framework of EU policies, including the Cohesion Policy, in Poland in the years 2014-2020 (PA, 2014-2017). The PA emphasises the territorial dimension of the intervention, which should be introduced by inter alia, applying ITIs. Integrated Territorial Investments are dedicated mostly to FUAs of the major Polish cities, i.e. capitals of voivodships (regions). "In total at the level of all Regional Operation Programs, the allocation earmarked for this purpose in relation to the total allocation of particular funds for Poland is at least 5.2% of ERDF allocation and 2.4% ESF allocation" (PA, 2014, p. 214). The PA specifies the following three goals of the use of the ITI instrument in Poland, i.e.:

- the promotion of a partnership model of cooperation between various administrative units in FUAs;
- the increased effectiveness of the interventions made via the introduction of integrated projects responding to the needs and problems of cities and areas comprehensively having functional ties with them;
- the increased influence of units within FUAs on the shape and manner of execution of actions supported in their territory under the cohesion policy.

The PA sets conditions for ITI introduction, specifying an institutionalised form of partnership (the establishing of an ITI union or association) and the preparation of an ITI Strategy. ITI associations will play the role of joint representation of public authorities of the FUA. This means that the PA restricts the co-operation to the relevant local governmental units (gminas or/and poviats). The Polish government has published the mandatory guidelines defining the way in which ITI strategies have to be prepared (Principles..., 2013). Respecting the EU requirements, the national, overly precise, instructions, brought ITI strategies to something nearer to an action plan, concentrated on using European Funds. In order to ensure the compliance of the activities of ITI beneficiaries (the proceedings of initiators of the projects executed under the ITI model of intervention) with the relevant EU regulations, and the relevant PA, ITI unions/ associations were entrusted the role of administrative controllers known as "intermediate bodies" (IB). That decision empowers ITI unions, but at the same time burdens them with a significant number of managerial tasks of minor importance with respect to each ITI strategy's goals (Implementation Act, 2014, Article 30).

Current phase of the introduction of ITIs in Poland

The introduction of instruments of the EU Cohesion Policy has been associated in Poland with a relevant scientific reflection. It also involves the case of the ITI or intervention on a metropolitan scale, analysed in various contexts: policymaking in regional scale (Gorzelak, 2012; Szafranek, 2014, 2015; Śleszyński, 2013); territorial management/ governance (Kaczmarek & Kociuba, 2017; Kociuba, 2017; Noworól, 2018a); and overall results for a region (Kociuba, 2018; Noworól et. al., 2018; Smętkowski et al., 2018; Wolański et al., 2018).

As ITIs have been introduced in practice since 2015, several reports and scientific papers summarised in 2018 the state and on-going status of their introduction in Poland. Analyses cover the allocation of ITIs in voivodships, dilemmas with regard to the delimitation of FUAs, types of intercommunity co-operation as the basis for the establishing of ITI unions/associations, and, finally, problems identified during execution of tasks. Researchers study the projects of ITIs and correlate them with the EU Cohesion Policy goals. Relevant findings bring forward a set of conclusions concerning the overly detailed policy guidelines created by the Polish government, a certain short-sightedness of local governments in the preparation of ITI strategies (selection of projects), and the relatively successful process of structuring partnership co-operation (Kociuba, 2018; Noworól, 2018a).

Important conclusions arise from the evaluation analyses of the ITI instrument, contracted by the National Government, i.e.:

- "Evaluation of the system of implementation of ITI in the 2014–2020 program period" (Wolański et al., 2018, p. 147–150),
- "Analysis of the effectiveness and efficiency of territorial instruments implemented on the national, regional and local levels in the framework of the Cohesion Policy – recommendations for the system of implementation of NSRD¹ 2030" (Noworól et al., 2018).

It should be underlined that the results of all the cited papers and studies firmly support the concept of the introduction of ITIs based on intergovernmental co-operation. On the one hand, that concept is near to the idea of "metropolitan governance", as a way in which independent local governments co-operate in the sake of development of the functional urban area. However, we should stress that the process of mobilisation of local and regional actors on a metropolitan scale is almost entirely limited to public authorities. NGOs and companies are not sufficiently included in such a type of territorial management. The organisational culture of Polish society can explain this "administrative" orientation of the activities of ITI unions/associations. According to published comparative studies,² the organisational culture in Poland is not favourable to participative and deliberative attitudes (ESS, 2016). In many cases, a bureaucratic schematism overwhelms the activities of all the governmental levels. The ITI instrument has an essential meaning in that respect.

Introduction of the ITI Instrument in the Kraków Functional Urban Area

The Kraków Functional Urban Area

The Kraków Functional Urban Area (the KFUA) is located in the south of Poland, around the city

of Kraków, the second Polish city in terms of the number of inhabitants, approximately 770,000 (Kraków Metropolitan Area, 2016), and in terms of the share of the national GDP, 3.3% (op. cit.). The Kraków FUA, with the population over 1 million inhabitants, covers the area of 15 local gminas, including the city of Kraków, the towns of Skawina, Wieliczka, Niepołomice and Świątniki-Górne, and seven village-type localities in the periurban zone. The delimitation of the KFUA was set by regional authorities in the process of the preparation of the Regional Operational Program of Malopolska for the 2014-2020 program period (RPO MV, 2014). This delimitation was an arbitrary administrative decision, approved mostly to facilitate the introduction of the ITI instrument.

Kraków Metropolis Association and its roles

In 2014 local communities in the Kraków FUA formed a partnership/union in the form an association of gminas. That was one of the conditions determined in the PA for participation in the ITI instrument and for obtaining support from the EU Cohesion Policy. The Kraków Metropolis Association (KMA) voted upon the ITI Strategy for Kraków FUA, satisfying the second necessary condition of "ITI eligibility". The national Government also assigned the Association as the intermediate body (the IB) with regard to the process of ITI implementation. The agreement between the KMA and the regional authority designates a set of purely administrative activities in that respect.

The ITI Strategy for the Kraków Urban Functional Area was adopted in 2015. The document was prepared by a consulting company, with significant participation of the KMA. The strategy had to follow the national guidelines (Principles..., 2013). Without going into details, it is important to note that the Kraków FUA ITI Strategy has gone beyond strictly following the EU and national exigencies, linked to the goals of the EU Funds. So, taking into consideration the vision statement "Kraków and the Kraków Functional Urban Area – the metropolis of the national and the international

¹ National Strategy for Regional Development 2030.

² https://www.hofstede-insights.com/product/comparecountries/

rank", the strategy indicates three following goals (the following are synthesized): (1) a high level of competitiveness of the sub-regional economy; (2) a high quality of living of the inhabitants of the FUA; and (3) integrated management of the Kraków FUA.

Summarising above observations, the Asso= ciation plays two primary roles in the introduction of the ITI. On the one hand, it satisfies the goals of the ITI Strategy, designed more widely than it is expected, according to regional and national documents. On the other hand, the KMA comes down to the role of "a mini-office" administrating, through the execution of projects, the allocation of the EU Funds, as designated in the Regional Operational Program.

Procedures and Co-operation Tools used in the Association

The analysis of selected management systems of the Association was conducted in terms of the ability to participate in a flexible, participatory co-creation of the developmental potential of the Kraków FUA.

It should be emphasized that at the stage of developing the ITI Strategy and during current activities, the Association applies in practice the principles described above as a deliberative procedure. The processes of decisions in the Association are the result of debates between the heads of the gminas in the ITI. Never in the history of the KMA has there been a need to use voting to make decisions. When pursuing the objectives and tasks of the ITI instrument, participants are free from external coercion and are entirely sovereign. There have been no problems in the work of the KMA that were not able to be regulated in the equal interest of all members. Despite the considerable differences in terms of economic and financial potential between the city of Kraków and other members of the Association, internal debates are free of internal coercion, i.e. everyone has the same chances of being heard, being criticised, etc. All of the members of the KMA are provided with equal access to the mechanisms of social communication.

The activities of the Association go far beyond obligatory tasks. The KMA office has the will and the ability to strengthen the co-operation between the gminas around critical themes for the functioning of the peri-urban zone of Kraków. The manifestation of this is the implementation of metropolitan co-operation procedures in the form of what are known as forums. Despite the lack of formalisation, the forums constitute an effective mechanism of collaboration, covering in each case all of the members of the Association. The activity of the forums focuses on the areas of the KMA's operations which require more intensive involvement of the ITI communities than in the case of the execution of projects carried out by individual members. Three forums have been established:

- The Clean Air Forum of the Kraków Metropolis sets its goals and tasks concerning improving air quality. The related activities aim at unifying the policies of municipalities, in the scope of removal of coal boilers, in five areas:
 1) inventory, 2) management, 3) finalisation,
 4) control, and 5) information and promotion;
- The Forum for Integrated Transport of the Kraków Metropolis is oriented towards facilitating co-operation with regard to the development of bicycle infrastructure in the Kraków FUA, integration of public transport of gminas and strengthening co-operation within the framework of integrated agglomeration public transport;
- The Forum for Public Procurement in the Kraków Metropolis improves the competences of municipalities' officials.

It is worth underlining that the subject matter of the above-mentioned forums is at the heart of KFUA's needs. It is not only about the execution of the projects submitted and agreed at the introduction stage of the ITI Strategy. A much more difficult challenge is creating a climate of mutual understanding of gminas and co-ordinating activities the time-horizons and needs of which, in terms of resources involved, go beyond the current EU program period. Cooperation forums are a unique platform for dialogue, enabling one to believe that the ITI becomes a lesson in the co-ordination of significant arearelated socio-economic activities.

Challenges with regard to networking between ITI gminas

An essential aspect of the functioning of the KMA is the position of the Association with regard to other entities affecting the introduction of the ITI instrument, and in the future metropolitan cooperation in the Kraków Functional Area. Many factors disclosed in the current practice should be considered here. The experience of the KMA Office indicates two aspirations. On the one hand, there is a conviction in the KMA that the real challenge is "a shared vision of the metropolitan idea", which is a fulfilment of the process of grassroots integration of communities living in individual gminas/municipalities. The organising of the forums described above, and the mode of determining the areas of metropolitan collaboration testify to this. Also, the Directorate of the KMA Office emphasises the logic of establishing closer managerial links between the Associations and the voivodship as well as the ITI governance systems of the gminas. This is related to the fact that, at present, the Kraków Metropolis Association functions outside the formal system of gminas, and makes it difficult to identify the metropolitan contexts of certain investments and tasks, and ultimately to formulate proposals for actions. The challenge for the KMA management is to reconcile these requirements with the Association's intentions to become a "metropolis of a network of contacts, a metropolis of standards understood as an agreed way of responding to a given problem" (Noworól, 2018b).

It seems that a vital aspect of the functioning of the KMA is determining the status of the Association with regard to crucial entities that are stakeholders of the ITI instrument. Useful here may be theories concerning multi-level governance (MLG), especially in the aspect of revealing the causes and mechanisms of cooperation between entities from various levels of governance/management. At the same time, it is worth looking at the Association as an organisation with a limited amount of real power and influence on the ITI gminas, while also an entity dependent on regional and national authorities.

A vast amount of literature attempts to classify the theories of MLG (Rhodes, 1997; Sørensen & Torfing, 2005 and 2007). Essentialising various approaches, Sroka (2009) indicates four groups of these theories. Two groups reflect rivalry and calculation as the principle of creating multi-level networks. They are theories of interdependency -the exchange of resources - and governability, which consists of a kind of manipulation to regain an ability to govern. The second group of theories is built on references to the anthropological discourse, in which culture plays a key role. Sroka indicates the concept of governmentality in which the government influences the people's imaginations through media and the theory of integration, relying on building a network based on reconciling different goals and strategies on organisational fields, created by various entities (Olsen, 2007; Sroka, 2009, pp. 47–48).

In practice, the activities of organisations are a melange of the approaches mentioned above. In the case of the KMA, we can confirm the relevance of two of those approaches. There can be no doubt that joining the introduction of the ITI instrument resulted primarily from the efforts to obtain EU funds dedicated to this tool. So, the first step is – following the theory of interdependence – exchange of resources. The gminas decide to co-operate in exchange for an opportunity to obtain external funds. It is undoubtedly the starting position for building a co-operation network, a standpoint based on calculation and a stern look at what is happening in each gmina. And the Association must somehow "rule it", in the sense of co-ordination and mediation.

The key – for the essence of the ITI Instrument – methods of networking co-operation are related

to the developing of a culture of collaboration. Integration theories accentuate the importance of what are known as "organisational fields" produced by co-operating bodies. It is inside these fields that the process of negotiated adaptation of the actions of many actors takes place. This means conducting specific activities in the areas of mutual interest of each organisation interested in integration. Within organisational fields, specific ways and styles of the gminas' activities are reconciled, enhancing the process of reciprocal adaptation. If understanding and mutual benefits accompany this, authentic network logic should emerge, reinforced by knowledge, symbols and "good practices". The experience of the Association confirms the legitimacy of continuing this form of its activity.

Conclusions

Conclusion of this paper can be formulated in theoretical and practical contexts. The crucial observation of the performed research concerns the organisational aspects of intervention on a metropolitan scale. It is worth noting that territorial strategies are not strategies of administration offices, but development plans of the entire community/ communities living in a given area. This means that the management of development must go beyond the domain of public administration. Effective introduction of the territorial strategy should refer to what is happening in the local economy, to social and cultural activities carried out by entities from all sectors. The challenge consists then of influencing a complex and hybrid institutional ecosystem of differentiated bodies. The critical challenge is capability with regard to the 'animation' of intersectoral co-operation, to networking and stimulating pro-development activities of organisations, public, business and nongovernmental, operating in a specific geographical area.

With reference to the two models of development management in functional areas ("metropolitan

government" vs "metropolitan governance"), this author is clearly in favour of accepting the latter. The complexity of existing organisational ecosystems including entities from public, private and social spheres require with regard to metropolitan management the bottom-up mobilisation of potentials of local actors.

Taking into consideration the experiences of the KMA in building a co-operative environment/ ecosystem of ITI implementation, this author is of the opinion that instead of administering the ITI Strategy projects, the KMA should act more in the "metropolitan governance" formula. The real challenge facing Polish communities with regard to European Union standards of governance is broadening and developing managerial skills to co-operate through identifying common themes, platforms for exchanging information and knowledge, good practices, etc. The main task of the Association should be working on another co-operation strategy: developing a vision of the KFUA. That should be done regardless of whether there will be EU support via the ITI instrument or not. For the KMA, this results in the need to include entities from outside the public sphere in the work of the Association. It is reasonable to use the Association's experience and delineate – at the beginning – a limited circle of operation, so that, over time, this circle will expand, including further entities and residents.

The main observation in terms of the introduction of the EU Cohesion Policy in Poland consists of a demonstration of the benign role of the Integrated Territorial Investments on a metropolitan scale. The well-programmed organisation responsible for the introduction can bring added value in excess of the results of ITI projects. This overall benefit signifies the building of a co-operative ecosystem of entities, hopefully, ready to act together independently from external financial support. The EU Cohesion Policy becomes a guide of future action and not only a source of funds.

References

Books and journal articles

- d'Albergo E., & Lefèvre C. (2018). Constructing metropolitan scales: Economic, political and discursive determinants. *Territory, Politics, Governance*, 6(2): 147–158, https://doi.org/10.1080/21622671.2018. 1459203.
- Allen, A. (2003). Environmental planning and management of the peri-urban interface: perspectives on an emerging field. *Environment & Urbanization*, 15(1): 135–147.
- Barca, F. (2009). An Agenda for a Reformed Cohesion Policy. A place-based approach to meeting European Union challenges and expectations. Brussels: the Commission of the European Communities.
- Blackmond Larnell, T. (2018). Does it matter 'who governs?' Governance networks, local economic development policies, and the Great Recession. *Local Government Studies*, 44(5): 624–648.
- Brenner, N. (2003). Metropolitan institutional reform and the rescaling of state space in contemporary Western Europe. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 10(4): 297–324.
- Brenner, N. (2004). New State Spaces: Urban Governance and the Re-scaling of Statehood. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Chrabąszcz, R. & Zawicki, M. (2016). The evolution of multi-level governance: The perspective on EU anti-crisis policy in Southern-European Eurozone states. *Public Governance*, 4(38): 17–31, https:// doi.org/10.15678/ZP.2016.38.4.02.
- Cohen, J. (1997). Deliberation and democratic legitimacy. In A. Hamlin, B. Pettit (Eds.), *The Good Polity*. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Davoudi, S., Evans, N., Governa, F. & Santangelo, M. (2008). Territorial governance in the making. Approaches, methodologies, practices. *Boletín de La A.G.E.*, 48: 33–52
- ERDF/CF/ESF Territorial delivery instruments Implementation progress. (2019). https://cohesiondata.ec.europa.eu/EU-Level/ERDF-CF-ESF-Territorial-delivery-instruments-Imple/i4ed-3nn4 (last accessed 19 February, 2019).
- ESS (2016). *European Social Survey 2016*. Dimensions of Social Cohesion. Poland, https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/data/country.html?c=poland (last accessed 19 February, 2019).

- Fricke, C. & Gualini, E. (2018). Metropolitan regions as contested spaces: the discursive construction of metropolitan space in comparative perspective. *Territory, Politics, Governance*, 6(2): 199–221.
- Gorzelak, G. (2012). *The Regional Dimension of Transformation in Central Europe*, London: Routledge.
- Hausner, J. (2006, 2019). *Administracja publiczna*. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Izdebski, H. (2007). Od administracji publicznej do public governance. Zarządzanie Publiczne, 1: 7–20.
- Kaczmarek, T. & Kociuba, D. (2017). Models of governance in the Urban Functional Areas – Policy lessons from implementation of Integrated Territorial Investment (ITI) in Poland. *Quaestiones Geographicae*, 36(4): 51–68.
- Kattel, R. (2015). What would Max Weber say about public sector innovation? *The NISPAcee Journal* of Public Administration and Policy, 8(1): 9–19.
- Kociuba, D. (2017). Delimitacja miejskich obszarów funkcjonalnych ośrodków wojewódzkich w realizacji zintegrowanych inwestycji terytorialnych w Polsce – teoria versus praktyka (Delimitation of Functional Urban Areas of Voivodeship Centres in the implementation of Integrated Territorial Investments: Theory vs. practise). *Studia Regionalne i Lokalne*, 3(69): 54–78.
- Kociuba, D. (2018). Implementation of Integrated Territorial Investments in Poland: Rationale, results, and recommendations. *Quaestiones Geographicae*, 37(4): 69–86
- Kraków Metropolitan Area. 2011–2015 (2016). Kraków: Statistical Office.
- Lefevre, Ch. (2009). *Gouverner les métropoles*. Paris: L.G.D.J.
- Lemay-Hébert, N. (2013). Rethinking Weberian approaches to statebuilding (pp. 3–14). In D. Chandler & T.D. Sisk (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of International Statebuilding*. London: Routledge.
- Mansfield, B. (2005). Beyond rescaling: reintegrating the 'national' as a dimension of scalar relations. *Progress in Human Geography*, 29(4): 458–473.
- Mazur, S. (Ed.) (2015). *Współzarządzanie publiczne*. Warsaw: Wydawnictwo Naukowe Scholar.
- Mazur, S. & Kopycinski, P. (Eds.) (2017). Public Policy and the Neo-Weberian State. London: Routledge.
- McGregor, D., Simon, D. & Thompson, D. (Eds.) (2006). *The Peri-Urban Interface. Approaches to Sustainable Natural and Human Resource Use.* London – Sterling, VA: Earthscan.

- Noworól, A. (2018a). Smart governance and metropolitan dimension, Case for Kraków, Poland. *Smart Cities and Regional Development (SCRD) Journal*, 2(1): 31–37.
- Noworól, A. (2018b). *Współpraca gmin Stowarzyszenia Metropolia Krakowska – doświadczenia i perspektywy* (Cooperation of Communes of Kraków Metropolis Association. Experiences and Prospects). Report commissioned by the Kraków Metropolis Association.
- Noworól, A., Noworól, K., Kudłacz, M., Hałat, P., Potkański, T. & Komża, J. (2018). Analiza skuteczności i efektywności instrumentów terytorialnych wdrażanych na poziomie regionalnym i lokalnym w ramach środków polityki spójności 2014–2020 oraz instrumentów terytorialnych i programów sektorowych wdrażanych w ramach krajowych środków budżetowych – rekomendacje dla systemu wdrażania KSRR 2030". Raport końcowy (Analysis of the effectiveness and efficiency of territorial instruments implemented on the national, regional and local levels in the framework of the Cohesion Policy - recommendations for the system of implementation of NSRD 2030. Final Report). Report commissioned by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Development.
- Olsen, J.P. (2007). Understanding Institutions and Logics of Appropriateness: Introductory Essay. Oslo: Centre for European Studies.
- Parks, R. B. & Oakerson, R. J. (2000). Regionalism, localism, and metropolitan governance: Suggestions from the research program on local public economies. *State and Local Government Review*, 32(3): 169–179.
- Pollitt, C. & Bouchaert, G. (2011). *Public Management Reform* (third edition). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pyka, R. (2016). Ewolucja władzy miejskiej we Francji na początku XXI wieku. Nowe wymiary, nowe poziomy na przykładzie Metropolii Lyonu. *Studia Regionalne i Lokalne*, *3*(65): 31–49.
- Reed, M. & Bruyneel, S. (2010). Rescaling environmental governance, rethinking the state: A three-dimensional review. *Progress in Human Geography*, 34(5): 646–653.
- Rhodes, R. (1997). Understanding Governance: Policy Networks, Governance, Reflexivity and Accountability. Buckingham: Open University Press.

- Savitch, H. V. & Vogel, R. K. (2000). Paths to New Regionalism. *State and Local Government Review*, *32*(3): 158–168.
- Smętkowski, M., Gorzelak, G. & Rok, J. (2018). Stakeholders' Perception of Cohesion Policy Implementation and Performance: Dimensions, Determinants and Outcomes. COHESIFY Research Paper. Warsaw: Centre for European Regional and Local Studies (EUROREG) University of Warsaw.
- Sørensen, E. & Torfing, J. (2005). The democratic anchorage of governance networks. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 28(3): 195–218.
- Sørensen, E. & Torfing, J. (Eds.) (2007). *Theories* of *Democratic Network Governance*. New York: Palgrave.
- Sroka, J. (2009). *Deliberacja i rządzenie wielopasmowe. Teoria i praktyka*. Wrocław: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Wrocławskiego.
- Szafranek, E. (2014). Integrated Territorial Investments as a tool of sustainable regional and local development. *Economic and Environmental Studies*, 14(4): 485–495.
- Szafranek, E. (2015). Cohesion of planning and programming the development of regions in the conditions of a territorially – oriented policy. *Studia Regionalia*, 41–42: 169–184.
- Śleszyński, P. (2013). Delimitacja Miejskich Obszarów Funkcjonalnych stolic województw. Przegląd Geograficzny, 82(2): 173–197.
- Visnjic, I., Neely, A., Cennamo, C. & Visnjic, N., (2016). Governing the city: Unleashing value from the business ecosystem. *California Management Review*, 59(1): 109–140.
- Wolański, M., Ledzion, B., Borowczak, A., Kupiec, T., Płoszaj, A., Popis, Z. & Mrozowski, W. (2018). *Ewaluacja systemu realizacji instrumentu ZIT* w perspektywie finansowej UE na lata 2014–2020. *Raport Końcowy* (Evaluation of the system of implementation of ITI in programming period 2014–2020. Final Report). Report commissioned by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Development.

Legal acts and documents

Agreement (2015). Agreement No. IXA/487/ZPO/15 of 10 July 2015 on entrusting the implementation of tasks under the Regional Operational Program for the Malopolska Voivodship for the years 2014–2020.

- CSF (2012). Elements for a Common Strategic Framework 2014 to 2020 the European Regional Development Fund the European Social Fund, the Cohesion Fund, the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development and the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund. Commission Staff Working Document. SWD (2012) 61. Final, 14.3.2012. Brussels: the Commission of the European Communities
- Europe 2020 Strategy (2010). Brussels: Commission of the European Communities
- ITI Strategy for KFUA (2015). Strategia Zintegrowanych Inwestycji Terytorialnych dla Krakowskiego Obszaru Funkcjonalnego (Strategy of Integrated Territorial Investment for Kraków Functional Urban Area). Kraków: Kraków Metropolis Association
- PA Partnership Agreement (2014, 2017). Program of the 2014–2020 financial perspective. Warsaw: Ministry of Infrastructure and Development

- RPO MV (2014). Regional Operational Program for Malopolska Voivodship for 2014–2020. Kraków: Board of Malopolska Voivodship
- Territorial Agenda of the European Union 2020. Towards an Inclusive, Smart and Sustainable Europe of Diverse Regions (2011). Gödöllő.
- Treaty of Lisbon amending the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty establishing the European Community, signed at Lisbon, 13 December 2007.
- Principles... (2013). Zasady realizacji Zintegrowanych Inwestycji Terytorialnych w Polsce (Principles for the implementation of the Integrated Territorial Investment in Poland). Warsaw: Ministry of Regional Development.
- The Urban Agenda for the EU (2016). Brussels: the Commission of the European Communities.
Adam Mateusz Suchecki

Spatiotemporal analysis of Polish municipal budget expenditure on selected categories of cultural institutions in the years 2003 to 2016

Abstract

Objectives: The main aim of the article is to analyse changes in spending on culture with regard to four selected groups: libraries, community cultural centres, heritage and monument protection, and others in the years 2003 to 2016. This article also looks at the sum of municipal budgets in individual provinces.

Research Design and Methods: For the selected years, location quotients (LQ) were used to show the spatial diversity of cultural expenditure in the municipalities of particular voivodships. To illustrate the diversity of municipal expenditure on culture in particular years of the analysis was made using a dynamic modification of Knudsen's regression model of share transfers proposed by Berzeg (the SSANOVA model).

Findings: The increase in the share of cultural expenditure followed by a decline thereof may indicate that in 2011–2014 the municipalities in Poland made significant expenditure on culture, which could have been aimed at improving both hard and soft cultural infrastructure. Analysis using the Knudsen model revealed a disturbing tendency to decrease the share of municipal expenditure devoted to culture in total expenditure

Implications/Recommendations: The fact that the majority of municipalities in Poland in the analysed period devoted a higher share of expenditure to cultural purposes than average spending of this type for Poland may indicate a change in the approach of local authorities to the culture as a potential factor for the development of a municipality, rather than unnecessary budget expenditure. The downward trend in the share of cultural expenditure of municipalities in their total expenditure may, though not necessarily does, indicate a change in the direction of cultural policy of local governments in Poland.

Contribution/Value Added: This approach opens new possibilities for analysing cultural expenditure from local budgets, as well as local cultural policies and the effectiveness of public finances.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: spatial shift-share analysis, cultural economics, public finances, municipal budgets

JEL classification: Z1, H7, C5

Introduction

In most countries the provision of cultural services is divided between the public and the

private sectors. The public sphere is further divided into different administrative levels: the central level, regional and county levels, and local municipalities (Håkonsen & Løyland,

Adam Mateusz Suchecki, The Faculty of Economics and Sociology, University of Lodz, ul. P.O.W. 3/5, 90-255 Łódź; adam.suchecki@uni.lodz.pl; ORCID: 0000-0001-6177-6660.

2015) The main purpose of the changes to the system in the field of culture after the systemic transformation was the introduction of mechanisms supporting an efficient and fair management of public resources, the introduction of changes in the public administration competencies relating to the organising of the culture financing process, and the introduction of new solutions in the scope of the financing, organising and managing of cultural institutions, such as decentralisation of cultural institution management, increasing of the autonomy of cultural institutions and development of legal frameworks for patronage and sponsorship in this area (Wrona, 2011). One of the most important changes in management processes and financing with regard to self-government units was the transmission of cultural tasks to the municipalities as obligatory own tasks. On one hand that gave to a significant scope of financial autonomy to Polish municipalities, but, on the other hand, those changes forced the municipalities to supply the financial background of all transmitted tasks from their own incomes. This situation resulted in a great variety of municipal revenues for culture and national heritage protection, correlating with municipal wealth and the way in which local politicians treat cultural matters with respect to socio-economic categories.

Literature review

The studies of various aspects of local cultural policy and local cultural spending can be grouped into two types. Most of those studies analyse local cultural expenditures as a whole, i.e. an aggregate of all cultural expenditure in a municipality (Depalo & Fideli, 2011; Benito et al., 2013; Werck et al., 2008) In addition, some studies analyse a specific local or regional cultural institution, such as an opera house (Schulze & Ursprung, 2000) or a theatre (Getzner, 2004). In this study, the author will combine the two types mentioned above and begin with by analysing the aggregated expenditures of municipal budgets in Poland on culture and national heritage for the economic background according to the structure and types of cultural expenditures in the years 2003-2016. To point out the spatial diversity of cultural spending in municipalities of the particular voivodships the location quotient (LQ) has been used. A great variety of municipal revenues for the culture and national heritage protection correlated with the municipal wealth and the way in which local politicians treat cultural goods with respect to socio-economic categories. So, trials of quantitative evaluations of this category of municipal revenues have been carried out with consideration given to spatial-sectional and time range. This multidimensional approach made it possible to evaluate and estimate the level of the regional development according to the reference area and to analyse the speed and the structure of changes. One of the methods used to such analysis are methods involving Shift-Share Analysis (SSA) and its modifications enlarged with regard to the time dimension (Knudsen, 2000; Berzeg, 1984). The collected sample of statistic data considers the information about cultural revenues of Polish municipalities (by the voivodship) in the years 2003-2016, split into four groups of expenditure: libraries, community cultural centres, heritage and monument protection, and others (for example galleries and artistic exhibition offices). The statistical information considers the multi-dimensional data about municipal expenses in 16 regions with regard to four categories of cultural goods and services in a 14-year period (2003-2016).

Methods

The general description of expenses incurred by particular provincial governments for cultural institutions shows that these expenses are characterised by spatial diversity. Taking this into account, it seems advisable to perform a comparative analysis of the average of these expenses in Poland.

One of the tools used for spatial quantitative analysis are location quotients (LQ), in this case

calculated for the expenditure of provincial governments on particular cultural institutions.

In general, the location quotients (also known as concentration indices) are a commonly applied and practical planning tool used to understand local economic specialisation and economic dependency (Shaffer et al., 2004) applied in the analysis of the spatial distribution of dependence relationships between two variables, in this case between the total expenditure on culture and the expenditure on types of cultural institutions. Location quotients are also used as a management tool (Marcouiller et al., 2009). To calculate a location quotient one uses concentration indices determined on the basis of the Lorenz concentration curve. The Lorenz curve is a useful tool because it illustrates a natural order of distributions from the most even one to the most concentrated one (Suchecki, 2010).

While interpreting location quotients one should take into consideration the values above and below unity. An LQ greater than 1 indicates that in the analysed area the spending on a particular type of cultural institutions is higher than the average spending in Poland, while an LQ below 1 indicates that the regional government spending on a particular type of cultural institutions is lower than the average spending in the reference field.

For studying spatiotemporal relationships the tools that consider the specificity of the analysed phenomenon or process are often used. Among them, a group of methods for analysing shift-share deserves particular attention. These tools fall within the scope of spatial statistics and econometrics. They are multi-dimensional in space-sector-time. This approach makes possible the assessment and examination of the level of a given area against the background of the reference area. It also allows one to account for the dynamics and structure of changes. Generally, two different models are considered: the Berzeg model and a dynamic modification thereof, the Knudsen model. In this research, the multi-dimensional data of the Polish municipal cultural expenditures by regions (NUTS 2, voivodships) on the different types of cultural goods and services in the period of fourteen years (2003–2016) has been completed. This makes it possible to use more complex methods of the analysis with regard to dynamic aspects.

The collected sample of statistic data looks at information about cultural spending by Polish municipalities (by region) in the years 2003–2016 split into four groups of expenditure: libraries, community cultural centres, heritage and monument protection, and others (for example galleries and artistic exhibition offices). The statistical information covers multi-dimensional data about municipal expenses in 16 regions with regard to four categories of cultural goods and services in the 14-year period (2003–2016). That structure and the large number of statistical samples ($16 \times 4 \times 14$ observations) make it possible to use the SSANOVA panel model as a tool to analyse municipal cultural expenditures in Poland.

In the literature on the subject, the two most commonly used variants of SSA models are most often mentioned: the Berzeg model (Berzeg, 1984) and the Knudsen model (Knudsen, 2000). These are practical simplifications (used in empirical studies) of the general form of the total variance decomposition model for multi-dimensional data (Marimon & Zilibotti, 1998)

$$y_{rit} = h(i) + m(r,i) + b(t) + f(i,t) + g(r,t) + \varepsilon_{rit},$$

which includes: constant in time and in region structural variation h(i), constant in time regionalsectoral variability m(r,i), the trend of national growth rate b(t), specific effects of sectoral growth trend f(i,t), effects of changes in the time of regional growth of individual regions g(r,t) and the random component of the model: ε_{rii} .

This article presents and discusses the results of the Knudsen model:

$$tx_{rit} = \Sigma_t a_{0t} + \Sigma_i a_i \cdot s_i + \Sigma_r b_r w_r + \varepsilon_{rit}$$

which is a dynamic decomposition of the increase in spending on culture, in which the variable growth rate in the following years is explained (decomposed) txt = [(xt-xt-1) / xt] including the division into components according to four types of expenditure and 16 voivodships with a variable effect of the temporal dimension, i.e. with different values of the total growth parameter (differentiation of the free expression) in particular years.

Results and discussion

The spending on culture from Polish municipal budgets was growing from 2003 until 2014 (Table 1). After that year the slight fall in cultural spending has been noted. In the first year of analysis, the amount of spending on culture by Polish municipalities was PLN 1,911.065 million and reached the level of PLN 5,274.949 million in the last estimated year. The highest level of spending on culture by Polish municipalities was in 2014 (PLN 6,243.012 million). In the years 2003 to 2016 the highest level in cultural expenditure were noticed for municipalities in the Mazowieckie and Śląskie regions. The spending on culture by municipalities in Mazowieckie was highest in 2016, at PLN 890.024 million; while the municipalities in the Śląskie region spent the largest amount on culture in 2014: PLN 831.339 million. The yearto-year changes in cultural spending by Polish municipalities have been on a downwards trend since 2011. The percentage of the cultural spending in total budgetary expenses of municipalities in the analysed period averaged 2% to 4% and was highest in the municipalities of the Dolnośląskie region in 2014.

In the analysed period, municipal spending on culture increased until 2014 (Table 1). In the years 2003–2016, the share of spending on culture and national heritage protection in most municipalities in Poland was higher than the average

Voivodship	2003	%	2011	%	2016	%
Poland	1,911,065	3	5,245,835	3.8	5,274,949	3.3
Dolnośląskie	189,685	4	521,547	4.0	565,099	4.6
Kujawsko-Pomorskie	84,684	2	251,269	3.3	234,337	2.6
Lubelskie	89,524	3	288,593	5.0	257,979	3.6
Lubuskie	47,068	2	174,989	6.8	129,841	2.4
Łódzkie	117,137	3	332,941	4.4	319,139	3.4
Małopolskie	164,627	3	428,639	4.9	466,831	3.9
Mazowieckie	288,558	3	791,225	3.7	890,024	3.4
Opolskie	47,996	2	140,163	6.0	133,599	3.9
Podkarpackie	89,300	2	238,897	2.6	227,789	2.3
Podlaskie	52,939	3	150,123	2.9	133,809	2.5
Pomorskie	109,283	3	383,461	4.6	358,286	3.9
Śląskie	267,808	3	538,853	3.2	567,693	2.8
Świętokrzyskie	42,068	3	144,005	2.9	116,290	2.3
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	62,228	3	167,994	2.4	157,335	1.8
Wielkopolskie	170,770	3	439,382	3.5	475,477	3.1
Zachodniopomorskie	87,340	3	253,353	4.0	241,421	3.1

Table 1. The total cultural spending from municipal budgets in 2003, 2011 and 2016 (in PLN thousand) and its percentage in total expenditures (in percent)

Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura/kultura-w-2017-roku, 2, 15. html. Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-w-2017-roku, 2, 15. html. Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-turystyka-sp

share of such expenditure in the reference area (Table 2). For municipalities in the Dolnośląskie and Małopolskie voivodships, the level of location quotient remained above one in the whole period covered by the study. In 2014, the municipalities of the Dolnośląskie Voivodship recorded a recordbreaking LQ ratio of 2.13. This means that the share of cultural spending from municipal budgets in this voivodeship was more than 100% higher than the share of cultural spending of municipal budgets in their total expenditure in Poland. The location co-efficients value above unity in the majority of the analysed period was also recorded in the Lubelskie, Łódzkie, Mazowieckie, Opolskie and Pomorskie voivodships. Particularly noteworthy are the municipalities located in the Opolskie voivodeship: In their case, the LQ increased from 0.64 in 2003 to 1.21 in 2016.

The literature emphasises that a dynamic approach in structural and geographical analyses makes it possible to obtain better, more reliable results, due to the better allocation of growth between components. Dynamic analysis also provides additional information, e.g. that the transformation of the regional economy is characterised by a specific development tendency.

The results of the Knudsen model analysis presented above, in addition to the sectoral components (expenditure and regional groups), also demonstrate the ability to draw conclusions about the trends of changes in the analysed fields of economic and social activity, in particular to take into account the variability of temporal effects of the national component, illustrated in Figure 1. The next points in the chart show a clear reduction in spending on culture, especially in 2011 compared with the previous year, down by more than 3%. Also, a large negative change is visible in 2015, down by more than 10% compared with the previous year (Table 2).

The accuracy of the Knudsen's estimation is also evidenced by the values of Student's t-statistics

Table 2. Location quotients (LQ) for municipal budget spending on culture in selected years of the period
2003–2016

Voivodship	2003	2005	2008	2011	2014	2016
Dolnośląskie	1.32	1.32	1.36	1.05	2.13	1.42
Kujawsko-pomorskie	0.77	0.69	0.85	0.86	0.47	0.79
Lubelskie	0.98	0.84	1.09	1.32	1.04	1.11
Lubuskie	0.52	0.50	0.56	1.79	0.68	0.74
Łódzkie	1.02	0.89	1.01	1.14	0.98	1.04
Małopolskie	1.07	1.36	1.01	1.30	1.58	1.19
Mazowieckie	1.02	1.18	1.20	0.96	0.70	1.04
Opolskie	0.64	0.76	0.82	1.57	1.07	1.21
Podkarpackie	0.68	0.64	1.06	0.69	0.46	0.70
Podlaskie	0.97	0.61	0.65	0.77	0.54	0.76
Pomorskie	1.04	0.90	1.06	1.20	1.32	1.19
Śląskie	1.03	0.99	0.82	0.84	1.05	0.85
Świętokrzyskie	0.86	1.00	0.62	0.77	0.60	0.71
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	0.83	0.82	0.97	0.63	0.50	0.55
Wielkopolskie	0.97	0.78	0.75	0.92	0.86	0.94
Zachodniopomorskie	1.03	0.89	0.84	1.05	0.93	0.94

Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura/kultura-w-2017-roku, 2, 15. html. Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-w-2017-roku, 2, 15. html. Source: GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-turystyka-sp

	Parameter	Evaluation	in %	in %*13	t – stat	p – value
Domestic factor	A0	0.0163	1.63	162.95	res.	
Libraries	A1	-0.0193	-1.93	-193.37	-4.78	0.00
Cultural Centres	A2	-0.0096	-0.96	-95.84	-2.76	0.01
Heritage Protection	A3	-0.0248	-2.48	-247.83	-3.74	0.00
Others	A4	0.0700	7.00	700.00	res.	
Dolnośląskie	B1	0.0053	0.53	52.98	0.67	0.50
Kujawsko-pomorskie	B2	-0.0051	-0.51	-50.64	-0.53	0.60
Lubelskie	В3	0.0129	1.29	129.34	1.39	0.17
Lubuskie	B4	-0.0150	-1.50	-150.45	-1.41	0.17
Łódzkie	В5	-0.0023	-0.23	-23.13	-0.26	0.80
Małopolskie	B6	0.0061	0.61	60.59	0.74	0.46
Mazowieckie	B7	-0.0031	-0.31	-30.95	-0.41	0.68
Opolskie	B8	-0.0025	-0.25	-24.75	-0.22	0.83
Podkarpackie	В9	-0.0058	-0.58	-57.72	-0.61	0.55
Podlaskie	B10	0.0014	0.14	14.25	0.13	0.90
Pomorskie	B11	0.0071	0.71	71.31	0.82	0.41
Śląskie	B12	-0.0206	-2.06	-205.77	-2.63	0.01
Świętokrzyskie	B13	0.0138	1.38	138.09	1.21	0.23
Warmińsko-Mazurskie	B14	-0.0053	-0.53	-52.95	-0.50	0.62
Wielkopolskie	B15	0.0139	1.39	139.20	1.67	0.10
Zachodniopomorskie	B16	-0.0195	-1.95	-194.53	res.	
2004/2003	A43	0.1465	14.65		5.30	0.00
2005/2004	A54	0.1748	17.48		9.05	0.00
2006/2005	A65	0.2408	24.08		6.50	0.00
2007/2006	A76	0.1239	12.39		4.10	0.00
2008/2007	A87	0.1635	16.35		7.02	0.00
2009/2008	A98	0.1799	17.99		5.09	0.00
2010/2009	A109	0.1971	19.71		7.57	0.00
2011/2010	A1110	-0.0302	-3.02		-1.27	0.21
2012/2011	A1211	0.0470	4.70		2.12	0.04
2013/2012	A1312	0.0405	4.05		1.95	0.06
2014/2013	A1413	0.1451	14.51		6.47	0.00
2015/2014	A1514	-0.1018	-10.18		-4.48	0.00
2016/2015	A1615	-0.0108	-1.08		-0.44	0.66

Table 3. Results of the analysis using the Knudsen dynamic model of the decomposition of the growth rate of expenditure on culture by four groups of expenditure and 16 voivodships in Poland in 2004/2003 to 2016/2015

Source: own elaboration based on the implementation of myr procedure (SUR - UWMNK), GUS, https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura-w-2017-roku,2,15.html.



Figure 1. Changes in the domestic factor assessments value (free expression) in the period 2004/3 to 2016/15 on the basis of the results of analysis using the Knudsen model equations (decomposition of the spending on culture in Poland)

Source: own elaboration based on data from Table 3.

and p-value. Most assessments of the components of changes over time and sectoral components are here statistically significantly different from zero, at a 5%-level of significance. Spending on particular sectoral components in the analysed period were falling. A large increase in spending on culture from municipal budgets (7%) involved expenditures in the remaining category.

Conclusions

Despite the fact that the nominal spending from municipal budgets on culture in 2003-2016 in Poland grew, reaching a high-point in 2014, the share of this spending in total expenditure remained at a more or less stable level (slightly above 3%). An increase in the percentage share of cultural spending by municipalities in their total expenditure was visible only in the middle years of the analysed period (2011-2014). After this increase, in municipalities located in some voivodships, even falls in such shares were noted, e.g. in the municipalities of the Warmia-Masuria voivodeship the share of spending on culture in total expenditure fell from 3% in 2003 to 1.8% in 2016. This increase in the share of cultural spending followed by a decline may indicate that in 2011-2014 the municipalities of Poland made significant spending on culture, which could have been aimed at improving both hard and soft cultural infrastructure. This situation, as well as the fact that the majority of municipalities in Poland in the analysed period had a higher share of expenditure on cultural purposes than average spending of this type for Poland, which was measured by means of location indicators, may indicate a change in the approach of local authorities to culture that manifests itself in the increasingly frequent perception of this sphere of the economy as a potential factor for the development of a municipality, rather than unnecessary budget expenditure.

On the other hand, the analysis using the Knudsen model revealed a disturbing tendency to decrease the share of municipal spending dedicated to culture in total expenditure. It is also impossible to explicitly indicate a component that would have the greatest impact on changes in the movements of these shares in the audited period. Only municipalities from five voivodships had positive assessment values in the case of regional growth component shares. These were municipalities from the following provinces: Wielkopolskie, Świętokrzyskie, Lubelskie, Małopolskie and Dolnośląskie. The occurrence of a clear downward trend in the share of cultural spending by municipalities in their total expenditure may, though not necessarily, mean a change in the direction of cultural policy of local governments in Poland. Most likely, the current direction of local government spending related to meeting infrastructural needs with regard to culture

and modernisation of already existing cultural organisations has been replaced by another, much more complex from the research point of view, direction, which is to increase cultural activity of local communities and fight the exclusion of certain social groups (e.g. large families or seniors) from participating in cultural events. In this case, expenses related to the implementation of the new objectives of cultural policies of local governments are not borne directly by the cultural sector and its institutions, but rather by the sectors of public expenditure, such as education and social assistance.

References

- Benito, B., Bastida, F. & Vicente, C. (2013). Municipal elections and cultural expenditure. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 37(1): 3–32.
- Berzeg, K. (1984). A note on statistical approaches to shift-share analysis. *Journal of Regional Science*, 24(2): 277–285.
- Depalo, D. & Fideli, S. (2011). Heterogenecity in the Cultural Expenditures of Municipalities. Evidence from Italian Data (1998–2006). Working Paper, Vol. 139.
- Getzner, M. (2004). Exploring voter preferences in cultural policy: a case study for Austria. *Empirica*, *31*(1): 27–42.
- GUS (n.d.). https://stat.gov.pl/obszary-tematyczne/kultura-turystyka-sport/kultura/kultura-w-2017-roku,2,15. html.

- Håkonsen, L. & Løyland, K. (2015). Local government allocation of cultural services. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 40(4): 487–528.
- Knudsen, D. (2000). Shift-share analysis: further examination of models for the description of economic change. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 34(3): 177–198.
- Marcouiller, D.W., Prey, J. & Scott, I. (2009). The regional supply of outdoor recreation resources: Demonstrating the use of location quotients as a management tool. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 27(4): 92–107.
- Marimon, R. & Zilibotti, F. (1998). 'Actual' versus 'virtual' employment in Europe. Is Spain different? European Economic Review, 42(1): 123–153.
- Shaffer, R., Deller, S. & Marcouiller, D. W. (2004). Community Economics: Linking Theory and Practice. Ames: IA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Schulze, G. & Ursprung, H. (2000). La donna e mobile – or is she? Voter preferences and public support for the performing arts. *Public Choice*, *102*(1–2): 129–147.
- Suchecki, B. (2010). Ekonometria przestrzenna. Metody i modele analizy danych przestrzennych. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo C.H. Beck.
- Werck, K., Heyndels, B. & Geys, B. (2008). The impact of 'central places' on spatial spending patterns: Evidence from Flemish local government cultural expenditures. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 32(1): 35–58.
- Wrona, T. (2011). Doświadczenia 20 lat samorządu terytorialnego – stan finansów samorządowych. Samorząd Terytorialny, 7–8: 5–14.

Dorota Jendza, Piotr Wróbel

The barriers to co-operation in the food safety system in Poland

Abstract

Objectives: The official food safety system in Poland is divided between a number of specialised inspection bodies. The effective implementation of the entire inspection and supervision process requires multi-direction co-operation. The aim of the study presented was the identification of the barriers to and boundaries of the inter-organisational co-operation between the inspection bodies involved in the official food safety process.

Research Design & Methods: Qualitative research methods: analysis of organisational documentation, industry reports, post-audit reports and in-depth interviews with employees of five inspection bodies.

Findings: The co-operation between the inspection bodies should be multi-threaded and multi-lateral. In fact, the mechanisms that encourage co-operation are relatively weak and there are numerous barriers between them. The lack of the inter-organisational co-operation is caused by various factors: cultural, social, political, legal, and organisational norms and values. The key source of the barriers is the fragmentary perception of the food safety supervision process by employees, which results from the lack of a systematic approach to this process. The employees of the inspection bodies perceive the remaining inspections as external entities and not co-workers taking part in a common process aimed at common good.

Implications/Recommendations: This article suggests some policy implications. The evolutionary solutions may include measures to eliminate the differences between inter-organisational co-operation postulated in legal regulations and real practices. The revolutionary activities may consist of building a comprehensive system of official food safety which will lead to consistent supervision over the entire food chain, and not only over the individual stages thereof. The construction of such a system may require changes in the number and the scope of tasks of the existing inspections.

Contribution/Value Added: The inter-organisational co-operation problems as part of the official food safety process are not specific to only the system in Poland: similar difficulties are found in many countries. Therefore these research findings have potentially wide application.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: inter-organisational ties, public management, food safety

JEL classification: H79, M54

Dorota Jendza, Faculty of Management, University of Gdańsk, ul. Armii Krajowej 101, Sopot; dorota.jendza@ug.edu.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-2493-1841. **Piotr Wróbel**, Associated Professor, Faculty of Management, University of Gdańsk, ul. Armii Krajowej 101, Sopot; piotr.wrobel@ug.edu.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-4469-5874.

Introduction

The issue of inter-organisational co-operation¹ is widely explored in relation to the enterprise sector. Meanwhile, researchers indicate that the changes taking place in recent years in public management include, inter alia, the intensification of interorganisational co-operation (Osborne, 2010; Wiatrak, 2006; Plawgo et al., 2006). Kożuch (2007) emphasises that co-operation is a precondition for achieving the objectives of every modern public organisation, but, at the same time, it is a factor that presents many difficulties. This is a particularly important problem in the system of official food safety, which in Poland involves five organisations (inspection bodies) which are subordinate to three ministries. Effective performance by the whole system requires cooperation between its participants.²

In Poland there has been for many years an ongoing debate around the weaknesses of the official food safety system, indicating that it requires numerous improvements, and perhaps also a fundamental change in structure. In the last few years several projects for change have been drawn up, but none of them have been fully implemented (Wojciechowski, 2014).

The aim of the study presented in this article is to identify barriers to inter-organisational cooperation between the Veterinary Inspectorate (IW) and other inspection bodies involved in the official food safety process. The scope of this article does not include co-operation with foreign inspection bodies.³ The interpretative paradigm was accepted in the study; the research methods used included analysis of organisational documentation, industry reports, post-audit reports of the Supreme Chamber of Control (NIK), statements from experts and, above all, individual interviews with 56 employees of five inspection bodies.

Poland is an EU Member State and, according to the relevant international requirements, each and every Member State has to ensure the safety of the food produced or/and processed within its borders. Taking into consideration the fact that the food produced in any Member State can be freely transported to and sold and exchanged in every Member State, the official food safety system must provide full and thorough information concerning any given food item that is being introduced on the market. Thus, the functioning of the system in Poland is very much connected with food safety in all Member States. Therefore, the knowledge and awareness of the real and possible barriers in terms of inter-organisational co-operation may lead directly to the excellence of the national system, and, indirectly, to the system on the European and global levels.

Literature review

The importance of co-operation in the official food safety system

Food safety is understood as ensuring that food does not cause any harmful effects on the health of the consumer, provided it is prepared and consumed as intended (Knechtges, 2012). In Polish legislation (Ustawa, 2006) food safety is defined as all conditions and actions that must be taken at all stages of the production or trading of food to ensure human health and life.

To ensure food safety, it is vital to have a process which ensures that food is safe and does not pose a threat to human health (Federal Ministry

¹ The authors understand *inter-organisational co-operation* as a relationship in which two or more entities engage in a mutually beneficial exchange leading to the achieving of common goals (Mattessich et al., 2001).

² One may wonder how much co-operation between inspection bodies that take part in the official food safety system is internal and external. However, one should note that individual inspection bodies constitute separate legal entities, and at the same time during the conducted research it turned out that the participants perceive each other as external entities.

³ Inspection bodies from Member States co-operate with each other in the Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed.

of Food and Agriculture [Germany] 2016). In turn, the efficient performance of this process requires appropriate organisation of official food inspection services. This issue is addressed by researchers around the world. This is due to, inter alia, many changes made in recent years in the organisation of national services, which in turn is often the result of crises related to food safety, such as scandals involving BSE ("mad cow disease").

Lie (2010 and 2011) draws attention to the involvement of many public entities in the official food safety system. The precondition for achieving the objectives of the system becomes the creation of mechanisms of inter-organisational co-ordination, which encourages the participants of the process to co-operate. The researcher analyses the functioning of such mechanisms in Norway and New Zealand, before and after reforms of the relevant organisations. A publication by Ansell & Vogel (2006) is similar in nature, analysing the reforms in the official food safety systems in a number of countries (inter alia France, Germany and the UK). Barling et al. (2002), when analysing the British system, indicate that the issue of food safety requires co-operation between and integration of many different organisations. Lie emphasises that integration should cover not only the organisation of the system, but also individual policies, for example in the areas of health, trade, foreign policy, agriculture, fishing and consumer protection (Lie, 2010). An organisational solution that is often used in practice is the creation of "regulatory agencies" (Gilardi, 2004; Jordana & Sancho, 2004).

In Poland, the official process of ensuring food safety is carried out by five main inspection bodies⁴: the State Sanitary Inspectorate (PIS); the Veterinary Inspectorate (IW); the Trade Quality Inspectorate for Agricultural and Food Products (IJHARS); the State Plant and Seed Protection Inspectorate (PIORiN); and the Trade Inspectorate (IH). The inspection bodies are subordinate to the Ministry of Health (PIS), the Office of Competition and Consumer Protection (IH) and the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (the other three inspectorates). It should be emphasised that food safety is only part of the duties of IJHARS, PIORiN and IH.

The inspections were separated on the basis of two criteria:

- the type of food (of plant or animal origin);
- the stage in the process of creating and distributing the food product (cultivation/slaughter, production, processing, transport, sale).

Not always are the accepted criteria adapted to the market and technological realities. This applies to composite products containing both plant and animal components, e.g. fish oil in capsules and ready-to-eat products of meat origin. In this case, there is a risk that the product will not be covered by supervision or duplication of tasks. In turn, the separation of control over the food chain between five inspectorates hampers the free flow of documents and data about the given product and the inspected entity. In this way, none of the organisations have full information about the entire process of creating and distributing a food product (Jendza, 2015). As a result, despite the precise division of tasks between individual inspectorates, the co-ordination of activities and active co-operation between these organisations become extremely important. Co-ordination can be understood as co-operation between inspection bodies, which results in the exchange of resources, such as knowledge and information during every stage of the official process of ensuring food safety.

Co-operation between the food safety inspection bodies is one of the key elements of the content of numerous European and national regulations, according to which appropriate procedures should be established in the Member States regarding the co-operation of inspection bodies performing inspections at individual stages of the food chain (Regulations No. 882/2004, 178/2002, 854/2004, 852/2004, 853/2004). The requirements which are set forth in these documents have been implemented

⁴ There are some additional smaller inspections, eg. Military Veterinary Inspectorate, Military Sanitary Inspectorate, Inspectorate of Sea Fishing, Chief Pharmaceutical Inspectorate.

into Polish law. According to Polish food law the co-operation between these entities, as public administration units, can take various forms, e.g.:

- providing information about threats and suspected threats, and breaches of law, via information exchange systems;
- organising and conducting joint inspections;
- the joint withdrawal from the market of food products that may pose a threat to human life and health;
- sharing information, documents, decisions and resolutions;
- mutual use of resources in situations of threat to sanitary/veterinary safety;
- organising and conducting joint training;
- co-operation of laboratories operating in inspection bodies.

It would be obvious, therefore, to say that inspection bodies with common or similar goals achieve better results when they co-operate with each other and provide mutual assistance than when each of them operates in isolation (Leoński, 2004), thus it seems that this assumption of interorganisational co-operation constituted the basis of the aforementioned legal acts.

Barriers to inter-organisational co-operation in management theory

The issue of inter-organisational co-operation is undertaken in relations to various entities. In their research Adamik and Matejun (2010) analyse the cooperation of enterprises with business environment institutions. Research on inter-organisational cooperation in the SME sector has been conducted by Ernst (2000), Zeng et al. (2010), and Ujda-Dyńka (2013). Ujda-Dyńka (2013) emphasises that these entities, due to their numerous developmental constraints, can benefit most from shaping the interorganisational co-operation. Many researchers (Geisler, 1995; Veugelers & Cassiman, 2005; Bryła et al., 2013; Cyran, 2015; Kopeć, 2013) deal with the problem of co-operation between universities and the economic environment, in particular analysing barriers that hinder such co-operation.

Research on inter-organisational co-operation for many years has also been conducted in the public sector (e.g. Tung-Mou & Maxwell, 2011; Casalino et al., 2014; Kożuch & Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek, 2016).

Inter-organisational co-operation, which has a durable, long-term nature and is treated more strategically, leads to the creation of cross-organisational links. Czakon defines inter-organisational ties as such interactions between entities in which information, material or energy exchange takes place, and exchange parties' manifest mutual engagement. Inter-organisational ties are long-term, non-hierarchical and non-capital (Czakon, 2007).

Adamik (2009) emphasises that such bonds will function properly when:

- there will be a smooth two-way exchange between the partners of the bond, i.e. material, energy and information flows;
- due to the active involvement of the parties the existing relationship will be deepened and expanded;
- the parties will try to enrich this exchange as much as possible;
- reciprocity will be realised, i.e. symmetry of commitment, significantly related to the community of realised goals.

When describing agreements and relational strategies, the author points out such features as: two-sidedness, equality of the parties, and common goals. On the other hand, De Rond & Bouchkhi (2004) indicate that there is some equality of parties in some inter-organisational ties, but effective ties can also be based on domination by one of the parties, as long as it is accepted by other participants of the ties. Klimas (2015) indicates that the prerequisite for initiating inter-organisational ties is that the organisation has a relational competence.

Research on barriers to inter-organisational co-operation presents diverse results. For example, in the SME sector the most significant barriers identified were (Adamik, 2009): unwillingness to share information and resources; partners' poor involvement in joint ventures; a partner's dominance; and poor preparation with regard to managing relationships of co-operation. Other barriers included: problems with the adaptation of partners to mutual needs; differences in perception of the essence of a partner relationship between partners; cultural distance; higher operating costs; longer decision-making time; and lack of informal contacts.

In turn, among the barriers to establishing and conducting co-operation between universities and businesses, one finds mentions of: mentality barriers (cultural); organisational behaviour barriers; information barriers; financial barriers; organisational barriers; and legal barriers (Santarek et al., 2008).

Kamiński (2017), pointing to the barriers of co-operation between the cultural and education sectors, lists: mutual perception of "culture" and "education"; communication problems; attempts to dominate co-operation; fears of stronger partners; fears that co-operation will not bring them benefits; inability to share successes; and lack of trust and openness.

Research on inter-organisational co-operation in the public sector has been carried out by Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek (2014). This researcher identified a number of problems related to co-operation in the public security management system, which includes a number of entities. The work mentions, inter alia, technical barriers (IT systems), financial barriers, insufficient number of procedures facilitating cooperation, encapsulation of information in units, and various assessments of the importance of a given issue in different units.

Thomson & Perry (2006) identified five dimensions crucial for co-operation in public management: governance, administration, organisational autonomy, mutuality and norms. They emphasised that the process of collaboration should be the result of a more systematic approach.

Klimas (2015), based on a review of research, indicates as the most important of the many barriers to initiating co-operation ties those related to human capital. The author mentions, inter alia, the resistance of employees to changes, a lack of trust towards potential co-operation partners, excessive cultural dissonance of human resources, varied levels of engagement and quality of human capital, communication difficulties, and mentalcognitive differences between employees.

Materials and methods

The aim of this study was to identify barriers to inter-organisational co-operation between the Veterinary Inspectorate and other participants in the official process of ensuring food safety. For this study the authors decided to adopt the dominant interpretative paradigm. In this approach it is not assumed that reality is objective, measurable and described by means of universal laws. It is assumed that reality is constructed socially, and for the determination of the actual manner of co-operation and barriers to establishing and functioning of co-operation, the convictions of the inspection units are the element determining the construction of mutual relations (Hatch, 2002; Jemielniak, 2012; Smircich & Morgan 1982).

The Veterinary Inspectorate is an institution responsible for the safety of all products of animal origin, and therefore for human and animal health in Poland. It employs 5,000 people at the central, provincial and poviat levels. The performance of its tasks requires co-operation with three of the four other main food safety inspection bodies in Poland and many other institutions.

This article partly uses the results of tests carried out in units of food safety inspection bodies, the purpose of which was to learn about the conditions for the functioning of these units and to examine their preparation for the performing of tasks in the conditions of the changing external environment. The research was carried out from 2012 to 2015 in two stages. The first stage concerned the analysis of the organisational (internal and external) documentation used by the inspection bodies during the performance of tasks. In addition, industry reports, post-audit reports of the Supreme Audit Office and expert statements were analysed. In the second stage in-depth interviews were conducted with employees of inspection bodies. The selection of units of these bodies was deliberate, because the type of inspection, management level and location were taken into account, which means that the units selected for the study were located in different provinces of the country. A total of 56 interviews were conducted with employees of inspection bodies performing various functions at different levels of central, provincial and poviat management (tab. 1). This allowed for extending the study of inter-organisational co-operation to include internal co-operation within inspection bodies. A standard protocol (a scenario with questions) was used in interviews.

All examined organisations have common features. First of all, they are public administration and inspection units specialising in supervision and inspections in a specific scope. They all carry out their tasks in similar legal, political, economic and cultural conditions. Therefore, the essence of the research was not to conduct interviews in each unit (of a certain type or level), but rather the main issue was to get to know the meanings that that employees of these institutions give to the conditions and processes in which they participate. However, due to the fact that the research was conducted in different types of units, it was possible to discover their diversity: to compare the meanings and check if there are differences between them and if so, what those concern.

Interviews were recorded and 53 hours of recorded conversations were obtained, which were subsequently transcribed. The research material obtained in this way was analysed both in terms of the content of the statement (preliminary analysis) and the view of the organisational reality (proper analysis) (Polanyi, 1997). The creation of a list of intermediate threads, which were then ordered, was the result of this stage, thus creating the main cognitive categories. This article describes one of many threads selected during the research analysis concerning inter-organisational co-operation between inspection units.

Level of management / position	IW	PIORiN	IJHARS	IH	PIS	Total
Central	1	2	_	_	-	3
Chief Inspector	_	1	_	_	_	1
General Director	1	1	_	_	_	2
Provincial	8	14	3	2	7	34
Provincial manager	3	2	2	_	1	8
Head of department	3	4	1	1	2	11
Inspector	2	8	_	1	4	15
Poviat / branch	10	1	Lack of this leve	1	9	19
Poviat manager	3				1	4
Head of department	2				1	3
Inspector	5				7	12
Total	19	16	3	2	16	56

Table 1. Number of interviews conducted

IW – Veterinary Inspectorate, PIORiN – State of Plant Health and Seed Inspectorate, IJHARS – Trade Quality Inspectorate for Agricultural and Food Products, IH – Trade Inspectorate, PIS – National Sanitary Inspectorate. Source: own study.

Results and discussion

The formal scope of co-operation of the Veterinary Inspectorate with other inspection bodies

The examination of legal acts and organisational documentation of inspection bodies shows that the activities undertaken in the framework of interorganisational co-operation between the Veterinary Inspectorate and the State Sanitary Inspectorate are described in the most comprehensive manner. They concern the preparation of lists of establishments at which food of plant and animal origin is produced, processed or stored. In addition, these units may organise joint training on the functioning of the food safety systems, including the HACCP system. They can also appoint their representatives to the examination boards in the field of basic hygienic issues. These units are required to provide information on cases of zoonotic diseases and food poisoning, mutually agreeing the official food inspection plans. In addition, IW co-operates with the Chief Sanitary Inspector in the field of providing information on dangerous food products and animal feeds.

Sea fisheries inspectorates should also cooperate with IW in the area of organising and conducting joint inspections, providing information on suspected violations of fisheries regulations and veterinary requirements. While the co-operation of IW inspectorates with IJHARS units should consist of (in particular): organising and conducting joint inspections of premises used for storing or processing fishery products; and providing mutual information on infringements of fisheries regulations (Jendza, 2010).

On the basis of the analysis of legal acts, it can be concluded that co-operation between inspection bodies that supervise and inspect the successive stages in the production process, processing, distribution and sale of food should be multithreaded and multi-lateral (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Co-operation of inspection bodies supervising food safety in the light of legal provisions

IJHARS - Trade Quality Inspectorate of Agricultural and Food Products, PIORiN - State Plant and Seed Protection Inspectorate.

Source: own study.

The actual scope of co-operation of the Veterinary Inspectorate with other inspections

The research was carried out at both the provincial and poviat levels. The research shows that voivodeship inspectorates of the Veterinary Inspectorate (provincial level):

- did not co-operate or very rarely co-operated with units of other inspection bodies responsible for food safety, even when the scope of supervision or inspections coincided with the selected areas;
- more often undertook co-operation with bodies supporting their functioning, e.g. with the Police, than with units of other inspection bodies;
- if co-operation with units of other inspection bodies was undertaken, a written form of communication was used, while all forms of communicating the information were used with poviat units and other voivodeship units of own inspection and with the Police (direct contact, e-mail, fax, letters, etc.);
- practically did not co-operate with the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development, to which they are subject.

It was interesting that even internal co-operation between different provincial (voivodeship) inspectorates of IW has been rarely engaged in.

In turn, poviat units of the Veterinary Inspectorate:

- did not co-operate or very rarely co-operated with units of other inspection bodies responsible for food safety;
- co-operated with other poviat IW units (internal co-operation) and units supporting their work more often than the provincial inspectorates;
- used a more direct form of communication during co-operation than that used by provincial units.

The research also shows that most often the cooperation with units of other inspection bodies was engaged in due to the existing legal provisions, e.g. regarding the transfer of inspection documents or information about the inspected entity and about products that do not meet the requirements (forced co-operation). However, in general, inspection bodies did not co-operate with each other during the execution of projects or the performing of tasks within inter-organisation inspection teams, they also performed joint inspections very rarely (i.e. there was a lack of voluntary co-operation).

Barriers to inter-organisational co-operation between the Veterinary Inspectorate and other inspection bodies

The analysis presented above referring to the formal aspect of co-operation shows that the organisational documentation, in a general way, describes with whom the Veterinary Inspectorate should co-operate during the performance of tasks and what actions it should take as part of cooperation. Meanwhile, the conducted research shows that inspection bodies, at various levels of management, did not or only very rarely decided to engage in inter-organisational co-operation. At this point a question should be asked about the reasons for the discrepancy between the officially formulated postulates and real practices. When identifying the barriers of interorganisational co-operation, the classification proposed by Santarek and his team (Santarek et al., 2008) has been used. The description of barriers is the result of the conducted studies.

The first of the barriers is of a semantic nature, concerning concepts and the interpretation thereof. In individual legal acts regulating the operation of individual inspections non-homogenous terminology is used when defining the scope of tasks and competence thereof. The result is that there are numerous doubts and interpretation problems (Wojciechowski, 2014, p. 55), which has a negative effect on the mutual understanding of employees of various inspection bodies. In addition, it is worth noting that legal acts regarding the official system of ensuring food safety were issued "in relation to the achieving or performing of various goals and tasks, among which protection of food safety or food quality is, in most cases, one of many actions of bodies appointed under these acts" (Wojciechowski, 2014, p. 64). This means that individual inspection bodies had various, often divergent priorities in their activities.

The diverse organisational structure of individual inspections was the organisational barrier to establishing co-operation. The field structure of individual inspections was non-homogenous, due to the different number of levels and the legal situation: some field inspections are governed by a unified administration and others in a nonuniform way. This made it difficult for field inspectors to identify partners for co-operation in other inspection bodies.

The organisational and legal barriers are not the only reasons for the very limited inter-organisational co-operation. The conducted study also identified process, cultural and information barriers, as well as organisational behaviours. The following were most frequently noted among them:

- fragmentary perception of the official system of ensuring food safety by employees;
- not recognizing the stages of the process for which other inspection bodies are responsible;
- conviction about self-sufficiency and, as a result, feeling a lack of need for co-operation;
- lack of experience of co-operation with other units;
- negative experiences related to co-operation;
- perception of other units as rivals and not as partners ("us vs them" syndrome).
- A more detailed list of diagnosed barriers can be found in Table 2.

Many of the barriers listed above have been previously identified by other researchers (e.g. Kamiński, 2017; Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek, 2014). As noted by Klimas (2015), the most important barriers are those related to human capital.

Table 2. Barriers to undertaking and conducting inter-organisational co-operation between the Veterinary Inspectorate and other inspection bodies

Barrier category	Barrier description
Mentality barrier (cultural)	Perception of other units as rivals Lack of atmosphere of trust, respect and openness
Barrier of organisational behaviour	Lack of or unfavourable experience of co-operation with other units Failure to notice the benefits of co-operation Employees' fear of more work as a result of establishing co-operation Inter-level misunderstandings and desire to please the decision-makers
Information barrier	Lack of knowledge among employees about the scope of supervision of other inspection bodies Lack of knowledge about whom to contact Lack of developed informal channels
Process barrier	Division of the supervision process into fragments carried out by various inspections Fragmentary perception of the process of food safety supervision (through the prism of own inspection)
Political barrier	Political appointment of key decision makers at the level of voivodeship (provincial) inspectorates limits engaging in co-operation
Organisational barrier	Non-uniform field structure of individual inspections (no equivalent to contact at a given level of an organisational structure)
Semantic barrier	Different understanding of terminology in the legal acts regulating the operation of individual inspection bodies
Legal barrier	Divergent priorities in the operations of individual inspection bodies Lack of detailed legal regulations concerning co-operation Fragmentary definition of tasks for inspection

Source: own study.

The fragmented perception of the official system of ensuring food safety by employees was a specific barrier to the studied units. This is a problem that, in the opinion of the authors, should be treated as a separate category: a process barrier.

The barriers of co-operation described above caused the inspection bodies to co-operate with each other very rarely, more often co-operation was established within the organisation: between poviats, or between the voivodeship (provincial) and poviat levels. Most often, inter-organisational co-operation was enforced by legal regulations. What is interesting is the fact that inspection units engaged in external co-operation more often with bodies "supporting" their work, for example, with the Police or the Road Transport Inspectorate, than with other inspection units of the official system for ensuring food safety. Activities involving joint inspections or the execution of other joint projects improving the functioning of units were not carried out at all. It can be concluded that identified barriers block both voluntary and forced co-operation.

Policy implications

Inter-organisational co-operation problems between parts of the official system of ensuring food safety are not specific only to the system in Poland. Similar difficulties are observed in many countries. Therefore these research findings have potentially wide application. The actions aimed at improving the process of ensuring food safety may be of an evolutionary or revolutionary nature.

Evolutionary solutions may include measures to eliminate the differences between inter-organisational co-operation postulated in legal regulations and real practices. Their goal should be to clear the co-operation channels between the five existing inspectorates.

Revolutionary activities may consist of building a comprehensive system for ensuring food safety which will lead to consistent supervision over the entire food chain, and not only over individual stages of it. The construction of such a system may require changes to the number and the scope of tasks of the existing inspections bodies. Interorganisational co-operation problems as part of the official system of ensuring food safety are not specific only to the national system. Similar difficulties were noted in many foreign systems made up of a number of entities. In the search for solutions, quite radical actions have been being taken that involve the consolidation of inspection bodies into one organisation consisting of central body and field bodies.5 However, when deciding on the integration, one should consider change not only in the legal or structural terms, but also think about the mechanisms for combining these inspection bodies in mental terms or organisational behaviour. It should be made ensured that the "islands" isolated from each other are not formed within the integrated organisations but that the institution instead operates as one "body".

Conclusions

In these times of the rapidly changing global environment and the introduction of new food products and production technologies, "acting alone" has no reason for existence, while joint action based on equality and appreciation of the importance of each inspection body is a strength. Meanwhile, the research conducted shows that there is a significant discrepancy between legal regulations which set out the rules of co-operation of the Veterinary Inspectorate with other inspectorates and the actual inter-organisation cooperation (not) engaged in as part of the process of ensuring food safety.

⁵ In the last twenty years, such changes have been introduced in, inter alia, Denmark (1997), Canada (1997), Ireland (1998), the UK (2000), Finland (2002), the Netherlands (2002), Germany (2002), and New Zealand (2002); see Wojciechowski, 2014, p. 64. Mergers of existing inspection bodies may pose some risks, in particular disturbances in operational activity during the integration phase, increased bureaucracy, and internal competition between combined entities.

The lack of co-operation in accordance with the formal guidelines is due to cultural conditions, organisation, information, processes, legal and organisational behaviour. It seems that the key source of barriers is the fragmentary perception of the food safety supervision process by staff, which results from the lack of a systematic approach to this process (i.e. a process barrier). The tasks within the process are clearly divided between the participants, and the employees of the inspection bodies focus on their own activities, without being involved in the work of other inspection bodies. However, the stages of the inspection process are interrelated and their effectiveness would be higher if inter-organisational co-operation took place. However, the mechanisms that encourage co-operation are relatively weak, and there are numerous barriers to co-operation between inspection bodies. As a result, each inspection body focuses on its own goals, which does not mean that the goals of the whole process are achieved. As a consequence, employees of inspection bodies perceive the other inspection bodies as external entities and not colleagues taking part in a common process. Therefore, it is difficult to talk about the official system of ensuring food safety, but rather about isolated inspection bodies.

References

- Adamik, A. (2009). Bariery wdrażania koncepcji międzyorganizacyjnych więzi współpracy. In M. Matejun & M. Szczepańczyk (Eds.), Współczesne metody zarządzania w praktyce gospodarczej. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Politechniki Łódzkiej.
- Adamik, A. & Matejun, M. (2010). Regionalne uwarunkowania rozwoju przedsiębiorstw opartego na współpracy z otoczeniem okołobiznesowym. Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego. Ekonomiczne Problemy Usług (Marketing przyszłości. Trendy. Strategie. Instrumenty. Partnerstwo i komunikacja w regionie ed. by G. Rosa & A. Smalec), 56: 11–22.
- Ansell, C. & Vogel, D. (2006). The contested governance of European food safety regulation. In C. Ansell, D. Vogel (Eds.), *What's the Beef? The Contested Governance of European Food Safety* (pp. 3–32). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

- Barling, D., Lang, T. & Caraher, M. (2002). Joined-up food policy? The trials of governance, public policy and the food system. *Social Policy & Administration*, 36(6): 556–574.
- Bryła, P., Jurczyk, T. & Domański, T. (2013). Klasyfikacja barier podejmowania współpracy z otoczeniem gospodarczym przez uczelnie wyższe. *Marketing i Rynek*, 5: 10–16.
- Casalino, N., Cavallari, M., Marco, M., Gatti, M. & Taranto, G. (2014). Defining a model for effective e-government services and an inter-organisational cooperation in public sector. In: *ICEIS 2014 Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems*, Vol. 2 (pp. 400–408). Lisbon.
- Cyran, K. (2015). Bariery współpracy sfery biznesu z jednostkami naukowymi z perspektywy małych i średnich przedsiębiorstw. *Modern Management Review*, *22*(3): 23–33.
- Czakon, W. (2007). *Dynamika więzi międzyorganizacyjnych przedsiębiorstwa*. Prace Naukowe Akademii Ekonomicznej im. Karola Adamieckiego w Katowicach, Katowice.
- Ernst, D. (2000). Inter-organisational knowledge outsourcing: What permits small Taiwanese firms to compete in the computer industry? *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *17*(2): 223–255.
- Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) (2016). Understanding Food Safety. Facts and Background. Berlin: Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture.
- Geisler, E. (1995). Industry–university technology cooperation: a theory of inter-organizational relationships. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 7(2): 217–229.
- Gilardi, F. (2004). Institutional change in regulatory policies: Regulation through independent agencies and the three new institutionalisms. In J. Jordana, D. Levi-Faur (Eds.), *The Politics of Regulation. Institutions and Regulatory Reforms for the Age of Governance* (pp. 91–112). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Hatch, M.J. (2002). *Organization Theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Jemielniak, D. (2012). *Badania jakościowe*. Vol. 1. Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN.
- Jendza, D. (2010). Doskonalenie współdziałania jednostek inspekcyjnych warunkiem skutecznego nadzoru nad bezpieczeństwem żywności w Polsce. In M. Chrabkowski (Ed.), *Bezpieczeństwo 2*. Zeszyty

Naukowe WSAiB im. Eugeniusza Kwiatkowskiego w Gdyni, no. 15. Gdynia: Wydawnictwo WSAiB.

- Jendza, D. (2015). Nieformalne bariery współpracy między jednostkami inspekcyjnymi nadzorującymi bezpieczeństwo żywności w Polsce. *Zarządzanie Publiczne* (UJ), 3: 255–263.
- Jordana, J. & Sancho, D. (2004). Regulatory design, institutional constellations and the study of the regulatory state. In J. Jordana, D. Levi-Faur (Eds.), *The Politics of Regulation. Institutions and Regulatory Reforms for the Age of Governance* (pp. 296–319). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Kamiński, P. (2017). Bariery i potencjały współpracy sektorów kultury i edukacji, 29.03.2017, http://www.bardzomlodakultura.pl/wp-content/ uploads/2017/03/Bariery-i-potencja%C5%82ywsp%C3%B3%C5%82pracy-sektor%C3%B3wkultury-i-edukacji-29-marca-2017.pdf (accessed: 23.07.2018).
- Klimas, P. (2015). Przesłanki i bariery zawiązywania więzi międzyorganizacyjnych. *Problemy Zarządzania*, *13*(1): 29–46.
- Kopeć, N. (2013). Bariery współpracy uczelni i przedsiębiorstw w lubelskim środowisku naukowym. Zagadnienia Naukoznawstwa, 3(197): 235–245.
- Kożuch, B. (2007). *Nauka o organizacji*. Warszawa: CeDeWu.
- Kożuch, B. & Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek, K. (2016). Paradoksy współpracy międzyorganizacyjnej w systemie zarządzania bezpieczeństwem publicznym. Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu, 421: 289–300.
- Knechtges, P.L. (2012). *Food Safety. Theory and Practice.* London: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Leoński, Z. (2004). Zarys prawa administracyjnego. Warszawa: LexisNexis.
- Lie, A. (2010). Coordination Processes and Outcomes in Norway and New Zealand: The Challenge of Inter-Organisational Coordination of Food Safety Issues. Oslo: University of Oslo.
- Lie, A. (2011). Coordination processes and outcomes in the public service: the challenge of inter-organisational food safety co-ordination in Norway. *Public Administration*, 89(2): 401–417.
- Mattessich, P.W., Murray-Close, M. & Monsey, B.R. (2001). *Collaboration: What Makes It Work*. Saint Paul, MN: Amherst H. Wilder Foundation.
- Osborne, S.P. (2010). *The New Public Governance: Emerging Perspectives on the Theory and Practice of Public Governance*. New York: Routledge.

- Plawgo, B., Szpak, A. & Radziwon, P. (2006). Zarządzanie relacjami organizacji publicznych z ich otoczeniem. In B. Kożuch (Ed.), *Problemy zarządzania organizacjami publicznymi*. Kraków: Fundacja Współczesne Zarządzanie, Instytut Spraw Publicznych UJ.
- Polanyi, M. (1997). *Knowledge in Organizations*. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Regulation (EC) No 882/2004 of the European Parliament and the Council of 29 April 2004 on official controls performed to ensure the verification of compliance with feed and food law, animal health and animal welfare rules.
- Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 laying down specific hygiene rules for food of animal origin.
- Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety.
- Regulation (EC) No 854/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 laying down specific rules for the organisation of official controls on products of animal origin intended for human consumption.
- Regulation (EC) No 852/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the hygiene of foodstuffs.
- de Rond, M. & Bouchkhi, H. (2004). On the dialectics of strategic alliances. *Organization Science*, *15*(1): 56–69.
- Santarek, K. (ed.), Bagiński, J., Buczacki, A., Sobczak, D. & Szerenos, A. (2008). Transfer technologii z uczelni do biznesu. Tworzenie mechanizmów transferu technologii. Warszawa: PARP, https://www.parp.gov.pl/ files/74/81/194/4372.pdf (accessed: 23.07.2018).
- Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek, K. (2014). Strategic approach and initiatives streamlining emergency operations in Poland. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, *3*(1): 385–392.
- Smircich, L., Morgan, G. (1982). Leadership: The management of meaning. *Journal of Applied Behavioural Studies*, 18(3): 257–273.
- Thomson, A.M. & Perry, J.L. (2006). Collaboration process: Inside the black box. *Public Administration Review*, 66(s1), pp. 20–32.
- Tung-Mou, Y. & Maxwell, T.A. (2011). Informationsharing in public organizations: A literature review of interpersonal, intra-organizational and

inter-organizational success factors. *Government Information Quarterly*, 28(2): 164–175.

- Ujda-Dyńka, B. (2013). Współdziałanie gospodarcze jako element strategii rozwoju małych i średnich przedsiębiorstw. *Nierówności Społeczne a Wzrost Gospodarczy*, 34: 289–300.
- Ustawa o bezpieczeństwie żywności i żywienia, 25.08.2006 r., Dz. U. 2006, No. 171, poz. 1225.
- Veugelers, R. & Cassiman, B. (2005). R&D co-operation between firms and universities. Some empirical evidence from Belgian manufacturing.

International Journal of Industrial Organisation, 23(5–6): 355–379.

- Wiatrak, A. (2006). Sektor publiczny jako system. In B. Kożuch (Ed.), Problemy zarządzania organizacjami publicznymi. Kraków: Fundacja Współczesne Zarządzanie, Instytut Spraw Publicznych UJ.
- Wojciechowski, P. (2014). Organy urzędowej kontroli żywności w Polsce. *Kontrola i Audyt*, 1: 49–65.
- Zeng, S.X., Xie, X.M. & Tam, C.M. (2010). Relationship between co-operation networks and innovation performance of SMEs. *Technovation*, 30(3): 181–194.

Agnieszka Wincewicz-Price

Does behavioural economics equip policy-makers with a complete (enough) picture of the human: the case of nudging¹

Abstract

Objectives: The article offers a critical discussion of the policy of nudging and suggests so far unexplored evaluation criteria for behavioural policy experts and practitioners.

Research design: A multi-disciplinary approach is taken here to fill out the thin anthropology of *homo economicus* – which is shown to inform the concept of nudging – with selected aspects of human agency which are commonly discussed in moral, political and economic philosophy. The aim of this paper is twofold: 1) to outline the conceptual shortcomings of the behavioural foundations of the nudge theory as it has been originally proposed by Thaler and Sunstein; 2) to suggest several non-behavioural aspects of human agency and action which extend the original concept of nudging and should be accounted for by policy-makers in their design of nudge-like behavioural interventions.

Findings: It is claimed that mere inclusion of cognitive biases and irrationalities in the behavioural approach to policy does not sufficiently extend the artificial concept of the rational agent; in particular this narrow understanding of human failure misses important aspects of the rich concept of well-being.

Implications: The use of nudges requires a comprehensive knowledge of the application context. In underspecified decision contexts, choice architects need to apply more care and critical reflection in order to prevent unintended or harmful consequences of nudging.

Contribution: It is rare for pragmatically oriented public policy research to focus on the philosophical concepts that inform its theory and practice. This paper is a philosophical reflection on some key elements inherent in nudging. It helps better to understand the ambiguous design, potential and limitations of nudge policy.

Article classification: theoretical/conceptual.

Keywords: nudges, behavioural economics, behavioural public policy, well-being, human choice, practical reason

JEL classification: B4, B5, D6, D9, H1, H8, I3

Introduction

Behavioural sciences, not least behavioural economics, have inspired policy-makers with a new approach to improve social welfare. The new approach suggests that policies can be designed to minimise the influence of various distorting – mostly cognitive – factors on people's choices, so that they make better decisions which increase their welfare. This approach has been popularised

Agnieszka Wincewicz-Price, Polish Economic Institute, Behavioural Economics Unit, Al. Jerozolimskie 87, 02-001 Warsaw; agnieszka.wincewicz@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3336-1753.

¹ The views expressed in this paper are the views of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Polish Economic Institute. I thank two anonymous referees for their constructive reviews and valuable suggestions.

by a bestselling 2008 book *Nudge: Improving Decisions about Health, Wealth, and Happiness* by behavioural economist Richard Thaler and legal philosopher Cass Sunstein. The book has provided an important argument for third-party intervention in the preferences and choice decisions of citizens and given rise to a rich academic and professional debate about the legitimacy and usefulness of nudges and other forms of noncoercive use of behavioural tools in policy.

Insights from the original nudge theory and its abounding later developments, broadly conceived of as behavioural policy tools, promise to enable policy-makers to improve the design of public policies. In essence, this is possible because they are said to provide a deeper understanding of human behaviour and how it can be influenced (Bubb and Pildes, 2014; European Commission, 2016). Whereas traditional policy instruments are based on the assumption that people make rational decisions, behavioural policy insights - informed by a broad array of findings from behavioural economics, psychology and neuroscience - rely on the understanding that most of the decisions people make are not rational, but subject to many different biases and heuristics. This creates new opportunities for influencing people's behaviour and, therefore, it is said to also increase effective decision-making. Not surprisingly then, many policy-makers have recently embraced this new approach internationally, with several forms of what are known as nudge units now featuring in national and international policy-making.

The scope of nudge-like solutions to public policy problems is very broad and the list of new forms and applications of nudges is constantly growing.²

Some of these new policy tools are introduced to supplement conventional policy measures (e.g. SMS reminders about upcoming appointments at a doctor or behaviourally designed letters prompting payment of overdue tax), while others have started to replace ineffective conventional regulations which are often (mis)informed by the assumptions of rational behaviour (e.g. a pre-defined default option instead of a voluntary contribution to pension schemes). Nudges seem especially attractive in the context of pressing societal and economic problems, such as obesity or insufficient savings, which are encouraging governments to constantly rethink the ways in which to address these issues. While in general the idea of the state attempting to manipulate preferences via its institutions appears highly dubious, the discovery that people could, without coercion, be 'nudged' into certain beneficial behaviours has been welcome with enthusiasm.³

In what follows, the claim that the behaviourallyinformed approach to policy is based on an accurate image of the human is challenged. It will be shown that insights from behavioural sciences and behavioural economics, in particular,⁴ only partially reform the abstract image of the rational decision maker and that accounting for merely – or primarily – cognitive biases and irrationalities might not suffice as a reliable basis for policy making. It will be argued that the new perspective does not pay enough attention to some important aspects of human agency which are not captured or sufficiently accounted for by behavioural sciences but are thoroughly discussed by philosophers and social scientists. Since these neglected qualities are

² The extensive research literature on the subject together with elaborate policy reports and guidelines produced by the forerunners of the new approach show a wide array of policy dilemmas and challenges which are increasingly tackled by behavioural tools. The list of important publications on various aspects of behavioural policy in general and specific elements of nudging in particular is too long to mention here. Examples are included in the bibliography at the end.

³ The growing scope of various attempts undertaken to this effect can be seen in annual and periodical publications of the British Behavioural Insights Team, the OECD, the World Bank and an increasing number of specialist journals dedicated to behavioural policy analysis.

⁴ One ought to be mindful of the common mislabelling of applied behavioural sciences as behavioural economics (cf. Introduction in Shafir, 2013). The reason for putting a particular emphasis on behavioural economics in the argument of this paper is its concept of rationality which – as it is shown below – the nudge philosophy has confused, and not without consequences.

important factors with regard to human welfare, ignoring them in the behavioural approach to policy making risks bringing about unintended and adverse effects on individual and social well-being. "Choice architects" responsible for implementing nudges and similar tools as an innovative governance practice need to be mindful of this danger so as to avoid long-term financial and social costs of their innovations. This paper thus qualifies the premature enthusiasm for this new type of government intervention. While it relies on a richer model of human psychology than traditional policy tools, its lasting success requires more critical reflection and non-behavioural insights.

A number of typologies of behavioural interventions in public policy have been proposed since the publication of *Nudge*, and the eponymous nudge itself is now widely considered to be merely one among several other possible forms of behavioural policy. It is, however, the original concept of nudging that is put under special scrutiny here to show how the economic vision of agency which takes on a new role in this approach – one of a normative standard – narrows the applicability of nudges and of analogous behavioural tools in policy.

Some of the arguments brought up here have been discussed more or less broadly by other authors. The controversies regarding nudging in particular have received an exceptionally rich treatment in the literature.⁵ What is distinctive in the approach of this paper is the focusing of these various sources of critical reflection in the perspective of human practical reasoning and the recognition of the undetermined character of many of human goals.

The argument advanced in this paper necessarily crosses the boundaries of several disciplines. It tackles the important problem of conceptualisation of the human in economic and political theory with a mix of tools borrowed from economic methodology as well as political and moral philosophy. Such a multi-disciplinary approach seems necessary, given the narrow confines in which modern social sciences (including its behavioural branch) picture human choice and action. Selected explanatory limitations of this narrow framework are identified and important qualifications which should be considered in its application in behaviourally informed policy are suggested. Simplistic moral philosophy of well-being is given special attention in questions of policy objectives which are ethical in nature and need to be considered in a broader context than that of instrumental means-ends reasoning. Thus, reintegration of the economic image of the human, which has arguably been retained as a normative standard in behavioural policy of nudging, into the philosophical and moral discussion about human actions and human goals has been the proposed method of analysis.

The structure of this paper is as follows. Section 1 reviews the definitional characteristics of nudges. Section 2 discusses normative and epistemic foundations on which the original nudge theory rests. Section 3 challenges the limitations of the image of human agency painted by the authors of nudging by contrasting it with some constitutive aspects of human personhood. Section 4 provides cursory policy recommendations. The final section concludes this paper.

What is nudging?

For decades public policy has relied on the economic assumptions about human behaviour. It is not surprising, then, that refutation of these assumptions by empirical findings of behavioural sciences and development of behavioural economics in particular have also affected the perception of human decision making and choice behaviour in public policy. Contrary to the assumptions of the rational choice theory, behavioural research has shown that individuals often do not come to decision problems with pre-existing preferences. They rather form those only when confronted with particular problems, and they are sensitive to

⁵ For example, Grüne-Yanoff (2012), Rebonato (2012), Sugden (2008) and White (2013).

details of 'framing'.⁶ Thus, the authors of the nudge strategy claim that the decision-making situation can be designed to improve choices, so that they are closer to what the individual would choose in a situation free from obstacles. They have concluded that the findings of behavioural science justify policies which "nudge" individuals towards those choices that are in their best interests.

Although the image of nudging does a lot of work, the concept itself, originally, was not clearly defined.⁷ Thaler and Sunstein define nudges mainly by example. The most unified account of the concept they propose describes nudge as "any aspect of the choice architecture that alters people's behaviour in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their (...) incentives" (2008, p. 6). In a later formulation Sunstein defines nudges as "initiatives that maintain freedom of choice while also **steering** people's decisions in the **right** direction (**as judged by people themselves**)" (2014, p. 17; emphasis added). That is vague in all the right ways so as to remain open for policy uses.

Thaler and Sunstein demonstrate how policymakers can assume the role of choice architects and make major improvements to the lives of others by designing "user-friendly environments". Examples of nudge policies range from simple techniques, such as serving drinks in smaller glasses in order to reduce unhealthy consumption, designating sections of supermarket trolleys for fruit and vegetables or redrawing lines on roads to prevent speeding, to requirements that household energy bills contain comparative consumption information (e.g. in period X you have consumed

n% more energy than your neighbours) and default enrolment in pension plans. In cafeterias a clever positioning of food – with the less healthy choices placed further away - could make it less likely that individuals choose unhealthy food, say in a sudden moment of weak will. Some nudges work because they inform people, other nudges work because they make certain choices easier, still others work because of the power of inertia or procrastination. By presenting information in particular ways, the state can nudge people towards being more sensitive to salient aspects of a situation. Such policies promise to reduce our exposure to misinformation or offer helpful suggestions of ways to achieve our goals. They do not merely simplify technicalities of a given decision process, but also streamline it so that the beneficial goal is accomplished more efficiently, without much ado.

To count as a **mere** nudge, as opposed to coercion, the intervention must be easy to avoid and avoiding it must not incur the chooser any serious costs. The set of available options should remain "essentially unchanged". The possibility for a person to make his/her own decision must remain. Choice architecture should be primarily intended to facilitate an individual's pursuit of his/her own goals. So, a subsidy is not a nudge, a tax is not a nudge, a fine or a jail sentence is not a nudge.

What is particularly important in the context of this paper, the authors of nudging claim to be offering policy ideas that are "informed by a more accurate conception of choice, one that reflects a better understanding of human behaviour and its wellsprings" (Sunstein 2000, p. 13). They ground their fresh understanding of human behaviour in the psychologically based assumptions about human decisions and choice behaviour. These assumptions are claimed to be more accurate, since they are backed by sound results of scientific experiments. What they hope to gain through this approach is improvement of "law's ability to move society toward desired outcomes" (Sunstein 2000, p. 38).

⁶ Kahneman and Tversky (1979)

⁷ Many attempts have been made to narrow down and specify the original concept (e.g. Hansen (2016), Hausman (2018)). The analysis of this paper focuses on Thaler and Sunstein's definition, since theirs best reveals its roots in standard economic theory and its account of rationality. It is also this concept which sparked the subsequent debate on behavioural policy. Its critical assessment can thus be useful for the analysis of modified concepts of nudging and other behavioural tools.

Thaler and Sunstein's concept of nudging is but one account of how to use behavioural insights in policy, as well as how to understand those uses normatively. Theirs, however, is the first and best-known policy approach of its kind, and the most widely discussed in current debates. Many of its distinct features have been pointed out and elaborated on. Various qualifications and typologies have been put forward in the debate about legitimacy of behavioural policy tools, not least nudges. The following sections present one more critical approach which contributes, so far unexplored, evaluation criteria for behavioural policy experts and practitioners. What has not been dealt with is a theoretical issue which has important practical implications for the policy of nudging and related behavioural tools, namely the concept's reliance on a confused idea of rationality. I take the original account of nudging as the case-in-point illustrating why philosophical complexities of human choice may deserve more attention in policy application of behavioural findings. Before explaining why these findings should not uncritically increase our enthusiasm for government intervention, I will offer a more in-depth analysis of the normative and epistemic underpinnings of the nudge approach.

The normative and epistemic foundations of nudge theory

Nudging is often referred to as soft or libertarian paternalism, for it claims to draw on the liberal vision of mature and enlightened individuals who are free to act in accordance with their interests. They make their own decisions in accordance with those interests and the available alternatives. They do all that autonomously. Followers of the liberal tradition, according to which people themselves know best what is good or bad for them and even a democratically legitimised government does not have the right to judge their convictions (Kirchgässner 2017), often reject paternalism. They are also sceptical about its softened version manifest in the policy of nudging, for by harnessing the modified vision of a mistake-prone individual, nudge advocates seem to be undermining this traditional liberal vision. Advocates of libertarian paternalism claim that once preferences are recognized to be context-dependent and tainted with "behavioural anomalies", the notion of individual sovereignty appears to be not well-defined (Brennan and Lomasky, 1983). Research shows that it is not uncommon for people to mispredict or overlook what is good for them. Human proclivity to choose smaller immediate rewards over larger delayed gratification (a phenomenon known as hyperbolic discounting) is a case in point.⁸ This recognition has become the foundation of Thaler and Sunstein's innovative policy of nudging, as they say:

... we emphasize the possibility that in some cases individuals make inferior choices, choices that they would change if they had complete information, unlimited cognitive abilities, and no lack of willpower (Thaler and Sunstein, 2003, p. 175).

While people no doubt often do make choices they later regret, the belief that they would change those choices in an ideal world of full information, perfect knowledge and unfailing character is not very well founded. In fact, it looks a lot like the assumptions made about choice in the standard neoclassical approach to economic agency which behaviouralists famously question. Thaler and Sunstein recognise that on the behavioural level people are not like the theoretical "homo economicus", but they nonetheless seem to propose this ideal as a normative benchmark for the making of superior choices.

The apparent reliance on homo economicus is even more visible in one of Sunstein's articles (2012). He quotes Rebonato's sceptical characterisation of libertarian paternalism:

"Libertarian paternalism is the set of interventions aimed at overcoming the unavoidable biases and decisional inadequacies of an individual by exploiting them in such a way as to influence her

⁸ See, for example, Ainslie and Monterosso (2003) and Scharff (2009).

decisions (in an easily reversible manner) towards choices that she herself would make if she had at her disposal unlimited time and information, and the analytic abilities of a rational decision maker (more precisely, of Homo Economicus)." (Rebonato, 2012, quoted in Sunstein, 2013, p. 1860).

Interestingly, Sunstein does not argue with this description of his theory. But this makes the theory all the more debatable, because it implies that a particular – idealised – model of human decision is granted an epistemic priority that is far from being self-evident. It seems, therefore, that libertarian paternalists take behavioural economics seriously in their description of human behaviour, but they otherwise ignore it by normatively adhering to the overly demanding rationality principles endorsed in standard economics.

In what follows I argue that the normative reliance on the homo economicus view of choice is a problematic element in Thaler and Sunstein's theory of nudging and likely the source of much criticism professed against it. It downplays the role of human agency in discovering and learning one's true ends over time. It also fails to appreciate the value of that very process for humans. It overlooks the not uncommon possibility that the chooser's personal experience of his/her choice situations might over time enable him/her to develop insights into what is worthwhile and what is not. In short, this behavioural approach can have an adverse effect on a person's well-being, broadly understood, especially if it aims to affect the person's good merely by influencing causes beyond his/her control without engaging his/her conscious deliberation and action.

What is missing in the behaviourally accurate picture of the human? Three problems behind the theoretical foundations of nudging

The implicit normative foundation of nudging defined by an idealised, static picture of homo

economicus can be challenged on (at least) three important notions underlying the theory of nudging: mistaken or inferior choice; good or welfareincreasing choice; and the optimistic status of nudge which can only increase or, at worst, be neutral, but never impair one's welfare. These notions acquire different meaning when seen from the position of a choosing person rather than an artificially constructed rational agent.

A choosing person is a practical reasoner who usually lacks full knowledge of his/her chosen end(s). He/she chooses things under some aspect of the good, and without knowing what those choices really entail until after enacting the choice in his/her life. I chose to marry, not realising all it entailed. My choice might not have been better (or even possible) if I had had full knowledge of the entailment. A model of choice in partial knowledge of what is chosen, and in hope of becoming or remaining a certain kind of person, is a better model of how ordinary moral persons choose, than that proposed either by rational choice theory or by the nudgers. Whereas the former assumes full knowledge of one's preferences, the latter accepts this is not always the case, but focuses merely on psychological factors which make the perfect knowledge impossible. The following three subsections provide examples of alternative non-behavioural explanation of why people tend to make "irrational choices" and show why these cases might not be good candidates for nudging.

Preventing mistakes

Many of Thaler and Sunstein's examples of nudges suggest that the problem they want to address consists of bad choices resulting in decreased well-being of the chooser. Their famous cafeteria example targets the mistake of eating too much unhealthy food. The other often quoted example of automatic enrolment in a pension scheme addresses the fault of not saving enough money for retirement. Other mistaken choices they list can result from unrealistic optimism (e.g. in starting a business), status quo bias, loss aversion, and other cognitive or volitional factors of choice which are hard to control. More generally, bad decisions are understood here as decisions people "would not have made if they had paid full attention and possessed complete information, unlimited cognitive abilities, and complete self-control" (2008, p. 5).

A serious limitation of Thaler and Sunstein's approach in this regard is that it does not consider the possibility that what might appear to be poor or mistaken decisions are not necessarily or merely results of cognitive or psychological biases. There are many other factors which can lead to mistakes in human judgment and decision-making. While as empirical experimentation demonstrates⁹ quite often mistaken choices are indeed the result of cognitive biases and heuristics, decision-making processes (for there are many) are influenced by a wide array of motivations and considerations which are neglected in the framework postulated by nudge advocates. Poor choices could, for instance, reflect one's incomplete understanding of what one should value or which of one's values should be pursued. In short, the "mistakes" might result from bad reasoning or poor judgment, which is not easily reversible by the application of a nudge.

Curiously, the architects of nudging do not conceive mistakes as deviations from some objective notion of the good. Instead, they understand mistakes as decisions that people themselves regret upon reflection. Nudging is therefore supposed to help people make choices they will not regret. Its apparent role is to correct or prevent people's mistakes and thus help them to achieve their "true" or more "authentic" ends.

This approach suggests a fairly strong epistemic and normative conclusion, namely that the phenomena observed by behavioural economists and described as deviations, bias, or anomalies can and should be counteracted. When the experiments in psychology and social sciences on which these ideas are based are interpreted from the perspective of standard rationality theory – as is arguably done by the authors of Nudge – they are thought to reveal mistakes people would not make if they were like homo economicus. They accordingly show the psychological heuristics and biases people exhibit as incidental and correctable rather than as fundamental to their nature, or even as essential to how people make choices. But if we take the human tendency to value the present more strongly than the future, for example, it is far from obvious that this is an error in decisionmaking, rather a feature of human nature. Nudges that are supposed to correct for this "mistake" are based on a somewhat arbitrary decision to value long-term preferences more highly than shortterm preferences. Since it can be predicted that a person might regret his/her choice in the future, the "mistaken" choice needs to be prevented.

It is, however, not always the case that increasing someone's well-being in the future at the expense of today is the right thing to do. As Sunstein himself admits, "there can be a thin line between a selfcontrol problem and a legitimate focus on shortterm pleasure" and, continuing, that "no choice architect should engage in a program of nudging that disregards the importance of short-term pleasures, or pleasures in general, which are of course crucial parts of good lives" (2016, p. 47).¹⁰

An overtly simplistic diagnosis of a mistaken choice entails one other important difficulty for the original nudge theory. From their understanding of mistaken decisions Thaler and Sunstein infer that the value of nudges can be found in that nudges allow individuals to overcome their various biases and blunders that affect their everyday behaviour, and help them resist temptations. It is hard to see, however, how a nudge which relies on an automatic and essentially unconscious psychological mechanism (e.g. increasing the salience of healthy food at a cafeteria by exposing it more than unhealthy sweets) has anything to do with a demanding and effortful conscious process of overcoming one's weakness. The latter requires an act of will and

⁹ AIKhars et al. (2019)

¹⁰ On the importance of purpose and pleasure see Dolan (2014) and Gilbert (2006).

usually a long-term endeavour, sometimes thwarted by failures. Nudging which harnesses cognitive biases and gets around human consciousness has little to do with self-aware attempts to correct one's bad habits.

Lastly and related to the next section, the approach does not account for the possibility that people form their values and ideas of the good in part through learning about their biases and weaknesses. Their real or apparent mistakes might, in fact, help them understand what is good for them by providing a formative experience. Sometimes people only arrive at their judgments of well-being and learn to appreciate those in their efforts to overcome difficulties, resist temptations, juggle priorities, etc. A reluctant long-term smoker who makes repeated resolutions to give up his/ her addiction is a case in point. An obvious consideration in this regard is that the learning experience may be quite costly for the person concerned and even for the whole society, especially when the mistaken decision is irreversible or the long-term consequences are realised too late. Two commonly discussed examples are poor health decisions and insufficient retirement savings. A nudge put in place to help avoid severe consequences in these and similar circumstances is therefore often seen as a boon.¹¹

While this is a complex issue which would benefit from separate treatment, it seems relatively evident that preventing people's mistakes can be less controversial in cases in which it is obvious or generally agreed what is good for people (crossing the street properly would be an obvious example). That the "mistake" is correctly identified and understood seems therefore crucial for the legitimacy and effectiveness of nudges, so that they can indeed help people achieve ends which are good for them. In other cases, where it is not obvious what a person's good consists of, nudges become problematic, since there is a danger that they arbitrarily impose ideas of the good or make discovery of the good for oneself impossible.¹²

Nudging for the good

Nudging is intended to improve welfare of the persons concerned. In order to succeed, choice architects need to know which choice reflects the person's well-being. Is it better for the person if he/she spends or if he/she saves some part of his/ her income (and what part in each case)? Is it better for him/her if he/she buys insurance or if he/she does not? Is it better for him/her if he/she sticks to his/her diet or enjoys a family meal, indulging in food he/she would otherwise deny himself/ herself? It is hard to see how these questions could be answered merely by simulating what the person in question would choose if he/she had been free from temptation and reasoning imperfections.

This is, however, how Sunstein and Thaler propose to resolve such problems when the authors say that people are not acting in their own best interests if their decisions are ones "they would change if they had complete information, unlimited cognitive abilities, and no lack of willpower". It is difficult to see how such an idealised criterion can be treated as empirical. For example, it is not obvious how we can determine what complete information, unlimited cognition, or complete willpower entail without making normative judgements in relation to specific circumstances. This counterfactual reasoning advocated in Nudge has been rightly criticised as (yet another) a "view from nowhere".¹³ The argument relies on a purely hypothetical basis: if individuals were fully rational and were choosing according to their informed preferences, they would do X. Of course, one may wonder what is it to be "fully rational", and to have "informed preferences". Similarly, how can one know (or even

¹¹ For this reason default opt-in in pension schemes is gaining popularity around the world (including Poland). An argument to the contrary has been put forward by van Aaken (2016, p. 95).

¹² On the state's responsibility for nudging see Hansen (2016).

¹³ See, for example, Sugden (2008), Hédoin (2015).

make sense of) what choice someone endowed with "unlimited cognitive abilities" will make? The "view from nowhere" is a perspective typical of homo economicus, which has no history, no future, no commitments, and no context-specific considerations. This is not the perspective that the practically reasoning moral person assumes in his/her decisions.

In asking after what a person would choose if he/she experienced no problems of cognition or self-control, nudge advocates imply that there is a true choice one would make if one had appropriate conditions for choice. A nudge is in place because it ostensibly creates the appropriate conditions. This perspective entirely neglects the fact that as long as the person has not fully formed the idea of the good he/she wants to pursue, it is hard to say what decision framework can help him/ her achieve the end. It does not seem possible to design a choice framework to help realise an unknown good as an end. Therefore, constructing a "proper" decision framework cannot be seen as a sufficient factor determining the proper choice for that person. It will not be sufficient for the person to make a choice he/she will not regret.

This conceptual basis of nudging seems to share the more profound problem entailed in liberalism. That is the assumption that one can be allowed to pursue one's idea of the good within an ethically neutral institutional framework, which itself respects each individual's judgment and does not impose any value criteria on him/her. In a libertarian spirit (here meaning just hyper-liberal and morally libertarian, rather than anti-government) Sunstein and Thaler recommend an unassuming policy tool. It is not to contain a doctrine about what constitutes people's welfare.¹⁴ It merely suggests ways to improve people's own decisions regarding what is good for them.

In this, they want to be able to say that their proposals will steer each individual in the direction that he/she would have chosen for himself/herself under ideal circumstances. In their counterfactual reasoning the authors seem to rely on the idea that anything increasing the extent to which people make choices that they regret less than they otherwise would is respectful of their internal sense of what is important. However, it is one thing to determine what people's preferences would be if they were free of rational foibles, and it is a different thing to determine what is good for people. The approach of Nudge seems to suggest that one's decision situation can be modified to help one achieve an outcome that one finds agreeable, without the need to define that outcome in advance. The decision framework itself is meant to be neutral ethically. It is as if one's ends could exist or be formed in isolation from one's decision situation. But in order to determine what is good for people "some grounds independent of their distorted preferences" (Hausman 2012, p. 101) are needed. It is hard to imagine how policy advice could be formulated without a concept of well-being or welfare. What is deliberately undertaken must have a goal. Nudges are no exception. If policy makers can determine what is truly good for individuals and society, then they can devise policies that will lead people to make better choices. A substantive theory about which choices actually make individuals better off, is ultimately needed. When a strong position cannot be worked out, all possible trade-offs should be recognised and weighed against one another. Such might be the decision about using default options in pension schemes and organ donations.

In avoiding taking a position on what is good for persons, nudging offers a procedural approach to welfare. What is not captured in this ostensibly neutral approach is the possibility that one's **formation of ends and ideas of the good itself is**

¹⁴ Sunstein and Thaler avoid defining welfare, claiming that they "are not attempting to say anything controversial about welfare, or to take sides in reasonable disputes about how to understand that term" (Sunstein and Thaler 2003, p. 1163). The abstract character of this concept has been criticised by Sobel (2016, p. 51), who argues that the "the notion of a fully informed self is a chimera", because the great variety of possibilities, choices, and

lives an agent might lead are not available to a single consciousness.

an important element of choice and important factor of welfare. The idea of nudging does not account for this possibility. It locates well-being in given end states, outcomes of choices which one would make, if one were a fully-knowledgeable, rational agent. The nature of this outcome is seen as mere utility, or as reducible to utility. As moral persons, however, we do not act to maximise some well-defined utility. Rather, we often act to realise some under-specified value, often in order to learn what that value is and what it means for us. Action is not always or merely outcome-oriented. It could (also) be an expression of one's values (Hargreaves Heap, 1989). Thus the end outcome is not the only criterion defining the right and unmistaken action.

Skipping levels

The third important assumption which is implicit in nudging holds that human limitations are best corrected by a third party through a properly designed nudge. This is so, apparently, because people, in their fallibility and susceptibility to bias, cannot be trusted to correct themselves. The choice architect responsible for the design of choice environment is seen as an impartially benevolent spectator, who helps people to achieve their own ends without influencing them normatively. If therefore, he/she nudges a person into ways of acting which he/she finds in the person's best interest, and it turns out to be in that person's best interest, we should be inclined to welcome nudging as a true improvement to decision making. There are at least two reasons making this optimism unjustified.

Firstly, as argued in the previous section, it is rarely obvious what one's true interests might be. People not only are uncertain whether their actions serve their goals, but in some important circumstances they are also uncertain of the goal itself. When it is not clear what the goal is, the choice architect needs to make a value judgment that is not necessarily in line with what the person's judgment would be if performed in an ideal environment. This creates a danger that the choice architect will be relying on his/her own values and beliefs instead of the chooser's. Since a nudge cannot be neutral among available alternatives, in practice it steers people toward choices that the architect expects are going to be seen as beneficial by the chooser himself/herself. Since there is no 'neutral' frame, any way of presenting a situation of choice will necessarily make an option more salient than another one (by defining, say, a default option, a first option in a list of alternatives, a set of possible options, etc.).

But even if nudges are designed to further ends which choosers approve of, there is a second, more profound, problem with this strategy for welfareenhancing. Due to its over-reliance on behaviourism, nudging takes people to be (mostly) passive, plastic, malleable entities. It is understood in this approach that humans respond to external modifications in their environment, but underappreciated that they can also influence it themselves. Given that the capacity to form one's ends is an element in a person's well-being, when a person's value formation is replaced by a third party's valuation (which may happen in the process of nudging), he/she can be justified in feeling deprived of his/ her inherent capacity to determine his/her own ends based on his/her own values.

As rational agents, in Christine Korsgaard's words we "are faced with the task of making something of [ourselves]" (2009, xii). With the passive, atemporal homo economicus as its implicit normative standard, nudging neither seems interested in nor capable of helping people develop capacities or abilities for this kind of transformative choice (Wartenberg, 1990).

Nudges can alter the behaviour of individuals to coincide with those who accept certain norms, but it cannot provide **the reasons** necessary to alter people's behaviour in the long run. Thus, on their own, successful nudges merely lead people to act **as if** they had a well-established notion of the good they pursue, without attempting to engage with the individual at that deeper level where he/she might be, actually only, trying to establish what end to pursue.

Insofar as nudges are designed to select the "prudent" or "best" alternative without having to invest the otherwise necessary careful deliberation, they do not engage the chooser's key capacities and potential. One could go as far as to claim that nudging could stand in the way of a person making efforts entailed in that person's self-formation. This is especially true if it prevents the person from acquiring the kind of experience in which he/she gains knowledge about what is and is not good for him/her.¹⁵ Imagine a video game in which a player was allowed to win a game by skipping a few, perhaps the most difficult, levels. The general concept of nudging does not seem to appreciate this heuristic aspect of personal identity. In their original publication the authors of nudging fail to consider human agency and well-being from a broad enough perspective. They do not account for the fact that welfare can be found in the capacity for self-formation, which homo economicus does not have. In short, thus understood, behaviourally informed attempts to influence and steer behaviour can have an adverse effect on a person's well-being. That is to say, if it aims to affect the person's good merely by influencing causes beyond his/her control without engaging his/her conscious deliberation and action.

More recently, Sunstein himself took up the issue of the threats that nudging might pose to agency (Sunstein 2017). He distinguishes non-educative nudges, which rely on unreflective behaviour and harness cognitive biases (default options, framing, use of emotionally charged graphics), from educative ones, which are devised to increase people's reflective capacities and help them make more informed decisions (disclosure requirements, warnings, reminders). The latter type of intervention arguably respects and perhaps even enhances human

agency.¹⁶ Even so, Sunstein still argues in favour of non-educative nudges, mostly on the grounds of their value in simplifying our increasingly complex life. Thus, for instance, nudges might be considered to be less of a threat to agency overall when it comes to basic retirement savings or severe health risks. In a similar vein, Valdman (2010) suggests that nudging could be seen as the product of an act of voluntary partial "outsourcing of selfgovernment" to some external body. He offers a view that there are certain domains where it is plausible to presume that a large majority of citizens benefits from contextual support - from partially "outsourcing their agency" - in order to minimize the risk of severe distress later in life. Similarly, Conly (2013) seems to think that most of us would gladly outsource choices associated with giving up smoking or examining nutritional content which we do not enjoy making. On this reasoning, the public body would "ease us of the responsibility of doing what we would rather not do on our own". Far from finding such restriction of autonomy objectionable, we might welcome such laws and policies as "unburdening" us with regard to doing the things in life we would rather do. It should be noted, however, that the examples offered by Valdman and Conly, respectively, illustrate an important contrast. For there seems to be a significant difference between outsourcing one's agency in order to avoid severe distress in the future and letting a third party decide for one for the sake of being unburdened of difficult choice-making. Conley's line of argument seems to value convenience in a way that is not as explicit in Valdman's analysis. That that convenience may become dangerously "excessive" (Korsgaard 2009) is not considered in Sunstein's analysis of non-educative nudges.

¹⁵ Goodwin (2012) argues that alongside these traditional restrictions on freedom, the process of self-realisation and overcoming internal obstacles to action (e.g. addictions, phobias, aversion and prejudices) may also be important, I would say, as part of positive freedom.

¹⁶ Some authors place non-educative nudges in an altogether different category of so called boosts (e.g. Yanoff & Hertwig (2016)). The educational value of non-coercive policy interventions as opposed to the manipulative character of nudging is also endorsed by John et al. (2013). Distinction that is closest to the argument developed in this paper has been made by Niker (2017).

Cursory lessons for policy

The above discussion exhibits some key assumptions which are implicit in the notion of nudging. It shows that insofar as the design of nudges relies on the conceptual framework which is analogous to that in which the abstract, atemporal homo economicus operates, it is not necessarily fit for furthering well-being broadly understood. Nudging, at least in Thaler and Sunstein's construction, is informed by the counterfactual reasoning of the rational economic man and thus relies on a partially misjudged normative ideal. Its objective is to prevent people from making mistakes they will regret without due consideration for the larger context of mistake-making and its meaning for the individual. What follows from this is that uncritical support for nudging fails to account for a realistic picture of human agency. Trying to influence people's choice behaviour rather than their reasons for choosing neglects that real persons, unlike the rational homo economicus, are often not able to specify or define what they truly want, at least not in an(y given) instant. What they truly want often depends on values which they form over time, and not merely on a choice framework. And those values are valued for reasons unrelated to achieving some specific goal. In other words, the original notion of nudging - and related behavioural policy instruments - neglects the human capacity for practical reasoning and focuses merely on the instrumental aspects of decision making. It thus also fails to account for the broader concept of human welfare, which is in part constituted by one's ability to exercise practical reason, without which rational agency would be inconceivable.

The foregoing analysis should not be read as uncompromising criticism of the entire approach but rather as a call for a deeper reflection on the conceptual construction and the use of nudges and their possible extensions. It also suggests a framework of rarely considered evaluation criteria which should be useful for the assessment of the legitimacy of a particular nudge-like tool. For the nature of nudges is such that they

need to be designed and applied in the context of a particular case, with an understanding of all relevant institutional and behavioural particularities. Because nudges vary in form, mechanism and complexity, and their long-term consequences are not always obvious or agreed upon, it is imperative for policy-makers to have a nuanced grasp of how they are meant to work and what they can and cannot be expected to achieve. It is also important, if challenging, to be able to fit nudges into the larger picture of a given policy aside other tools which may or may not be more applicable in a given case. With all its promising qualities, nudging should be seen as an addition to the existing policy practice and not as replacement of traditional regulatory tools. And thus it is the bigger picture of a given policy which should serve as an evaluation framework for most instances of nudging.

On the practical level it is crucial to remember that nudges might help mitigate adverse consequences of myopic or uninformed decisions only if the perceived failures of cognition or attention are indeed the root cause of the problem in question. When the problem is caused by poor motivation, lack of education or infrastructure, behavioural tools should not be employed as a primary remedy. All in all, behavioural insights need to be interpreted with caution so that turning away from the ideal of homo economicus as major reference point for policy is not replaced by an equally distorted perception of people as hyper-irrational creatures. The following theoretical scenario illustrates the danger of excessive focus on people's perceived behavioural biases in policy making.

Take the example of entrepreneurs. From behavioural point of view, it would not be difficult to highlight possible biases inherent in entrepreneurial activity: overestimation of abilities, overconfidence, the desire for self-direction and self-determination which may lead to unpredictable consequences (Astebro et al., 2014). If we accepted the position of nudge advocates who want to use nudges to debias people's excessive optimism, nudges might need to be introduced to prevent entrepreneurs from initiating risky ventures. Their creative ideas might be viewed as the product of biases that are reported to be destructive to the individual and that lead to behaviours that proliferate market choices or disorder decision-making environments for the rest of society. In the Schumpeterian view, for example, the entrepreneur disrupts the prevailing equilibrium by introducing some new innovation that completely alters existing patterns of supply and demand. Overtly cautious nudge advocates might also say that entrepreneurs are constantly disrupting the stasis of the marketplace, adding and replacing products, services, businesses, jobs, etc., from the market, which simply contributes to the proliferation of choices available to us, thus making new and changing cognitive demands on us. Nudges designed to prevent such "unwelcome" consequences would surely curtail the ability of entrepreneurial individuals to act upon their initiatives. This could be problematic for the otherwise entrepreneurial society and for the individual entrepreneurs.

While the above might not seem like a plausible policy scenario, it does illustrate some conceptual deficiencies in the theory of nudging by taking it to its logical extreme. Yet, an analogous case could be considered in which unintended consequences of business activity are prevented by a slightly different nudge, one that is rooted in a richer normative framework than that proposed by Thaler and Sunstein. A view of entrepreneurial decision making as neoclassical (instrumental) rationality has little to say about an important dimension of entrepreneurship, namely the uncertainty inherent in the development of new business ventures and openness to learning. From the policy perspective, the major problem with entrepreneurship is the fact that a large percentage of newly incorporated companies do not succeed and those which fail cannot therefore provide the benefits they promise to their owners, shareholders and the society. Mere tax incentives and better funding options might not be enough to rescue vulnerable enterprises. A simple nudge aimed at identifying risky cases of vulnerable companies and enable managing

their problems at an early stage could be of more help. Here is how it could work.

In an annually filed tax statement, underneath the section in which the business owner states the amount of his/her profit/loss made in a given year, he/she is asked the following question: "Given your performance last year, would you like to take advantage of a free-of-charge consultation/ mentoring session in which you can discuss your major ideas, needs and challenges and work out possible ways to improve your track record in the next 12 months?". Entrepreneurs with little or no success in the initial phase of their activity are often discouraged from continuing. Lack of persistence is one of the main reasons for start-up failure. It is conceivable that an optional meeting with a good mentor who can help identify areas of possible improvement both technical, related to the product itself and personal, aimed at improving the entrepreneur's leadership skills - result in working out realistic milestones for the next 6-12 months and possibly help the business stay on the course longer than would otherwise be possible.

The above example points out an important difference between creating environments that have general characteristics and manipulating environments to create particular outcomes. The paternalism that (at least some of) the nudge advocates endorse is a paternalism that aims to direct individuals toward certain actions in aid of a determinate view of their well-being. This is much different than simply advocating general conditions in which individuals might flourish in the ways they see fit and according to their own decisions. No one would disagree with the critics that how we frame choices reveals our preferences, morals, priorities, and no one would disagree that framing choices in some general way is inescapable. But given that constant, it does not follow that we have no principled objections available to us to avoid endorsing an increasing number of policies that direct individuals to particular ends. The external "scaffolding" which Clark (1997) recommends in the form of institutions that support practical reasoning and that focus our attention on better comprehension of our ends might be one that helps one along the way of an uncertain and perhaps risky undertaking (be it setting-up a new business venture, starting a career in X, changing jobs, etc.) rather than one which is designed to set us on a pre-defined track or prevent one from making mistakes. This way of support could be exercised explicitly and transparently, unlike automatic nudges, which do not allow for deliberation and are criticised as manipulative. Moreover, it would offer a more direct causal link between affecting individual well-being and contributing to overall social welfare which is not obvious in many "standard nudges".¹⁷

Concluding remarks

Critical reflection on the conceptual deficiencies inherent in the original theory of nudging reveals potential risks which could affect some but not all areas of its application. It cannot be denied that there are some areas in which the policy of nudging emerges as a convenient, attractive, and innovative regulatory tool designed to help public policy objectives be achieved more effectively and sometimes less expensively. Its helpful potential lies in the recognition that human cognitive biases are not merely an obstacle but also an opportunity for public regulation. It identifies and addresses important sources of many present-day social problems and endeavours to help "busy people trying to cope in a complex world in which they often do not have the time to think deeply about every choice they have to make" (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008, p. 95). Simplifying complex administrative procedures and forms as well as clever communication of professional jargon (financial, legal, technical, etc.) to non-expert clients are examples of areas where un-intrusive and non-manipulative nudging could be welcome and needed. In such cases, its overall intention to make people's lives easier and help them achieve their true interests seems uncontroversial, if optimistic. Whether reducing bias and preventing mistakes by defaulting people into a scheme they do not have sufficient knowledge of or framing their choice situation in a way that hinders deliberation should be treated as analogously beneficial is far from obvious.

The above considerations expound the increasingly recognised fact that there is nothing direct, straightforward and automatic in the use of nudging. Neither is nudging normatively neutral. That nudges can be adapted to a given situation is probably their greatest advantage. The difficulty remains in dissecting the important factors that matter in a given policy context, both functionally and normatively for unambiguous theoretical evaluation of the use of nudges is not possible. The experimental methods which are increasingly applied to serve this objective are a promising source of much needed data.

On a more fundamental level, the foregoing adds to the debate on the role of the state in increasing the well-being of individual citizens. Even in rare conditions of a general agreement that the state does in fact have a great role to play in this regard, the above analysis suggests that special caution is required in the design and implementation of specific nudges so that their proximate success in deterring someone from a harmful choice does not come at a long-term cost of hindering that person's decision abilities. For people might not always benefit from the type of security from mistakes and comfort of having their ends (co-) decided for them which some forms of nudging promise to provide.

The perspective taken in this paper suggests that the tool of nudging could be better used to facilitate people's formation of their goals instead of steering them towards pre-defined ends. Policy-makers could then shift their focus from the micro-level of identifying 'true' preferences to the meso-scale creation of conditions where such preferences stand a better chance of being

¹⁷ Recent research shows that individually targeted nudges can seriously backfire on the collective level and result in decreasing social welfare instead of helping it (see, for example, Bolton, Dimant & Schmidt, 2018).

developed by the person herself. The short case study of entrepreneurship and the alternative form of nudge it proposes shows that there are unexplored ways in which this approach might be possible and useful.

In conclusion, it appears that the full potential of nudging as a policy instrument and means to strengthen public policies will remain underutilised and its long-term consequences far from understood, unless a more comprehensive picture of human choice is considered by nudge experts. As indicated in this paper, such broader perspective is needed for a more nuanced view of the workings of nudging as well as for its normative appraisal.

References

- van Aaken, A., (2016). Judge the nudge: In search of the legal limits of Paternalistic Nudging in the EU, In: A. Alemanno & A.L. Sibony, *Nudge and the Law: A European Perspective*. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- AIKhars, M., Evangelopoulos, N., Pavur, R. & Kulkarn, S. (2019). Cognitive biases resulting from the representativeness heuristic in operations management: An experimental investigation. *Psychology Research* and Behavior Management, 12: 263–276.
- Ainslie, G. & Monterosso, J. (2003). Hyperbolic discounting as a factor in addiction: A critical analysis.
 In R. E. Vuchinich & N. Heather (Eds.), *Choice, Behavioural Economics and Addiction* (pp. 35–69).
 Amsterdam: Pergamon/Elsevier Science Inc.
- Alemanno, A. & Sibony, A.L. (2016). *Nudge and the Law: A European Perspective*. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Astebro, T., Herz, H., Nanda, R. & Weber, R. (2014). Seeking the roots of entrepreneurship: Insights from behavioral economics. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(3): 49–70.
- Bolton, G., Dimant, E. & Schmidt, U. (2018). When a nudge backfires: Using observation with social and economic incentives to promote pro-social behavior. *PPE Working Papers 0017, Philosophy, Politics and Economics*, University of Pennsylvania, https://ideas.repec.org/p/ppc/wpaper/0017.html
- Brennan, G. & Lomasky, L. (1983). Institutional aspects of "merit goods" analysis. *FinanzArchiv/Public Finance Analysis*, 41(2): 183–206.

- Bubb, R. & Pildes, R.H. (2014). How behavioral economics trims its sails and why. *Harvard Law Review*, 127(6): 1593–1678, https://papers.ssrn. com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract id=2331000
- Clark, A. (1997). Economic reason: The interplay of individual learning and external structure. In J. Drobak & J. Nye (Eds.), *The Frontiers of the New Institutional Economics* (pp. 269–290). Cambridge: Academic Press.
- Conly, S. (2013). *Against Autonomy. Justifying Coercive Paternalism*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dolan, P. (2014). *Happiness by Design*. New York: Avery Publishing Group.
- European Commission (2016). *Behavioural Insights*, https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/research/crosscuttingactivities/behavioural-insights
- Gilbert, D. (2006). *Stumbling on Happiness*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Goodwin, T. (2012). Why we should reject 'nudge'. *Politics*, *32*(2): 85–92.
- Grüne-Yanoff, T. (2012) Old wine in new casks: Libertarian paternalism still violates liberal principles. Social Choice and Welfare, 38(4): 635–645.
- Halpern, D. (2015). *Inside the Nudge Unit: How Small Changes Can Make a Big Difference*. London: Random House.
- Hansen, P. (2016) The definition of nudge and libertarian paternalism: Does the hand fit the glove? *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 7(1): 155–174.
- Hargreaves Heap, S. P. (1989). *Rationality in Economics*. Oxford – New York: Basil Blackwell.
- Hausman, D. M. (2012). Preference, Value, Choice, and Welfare. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Hausman, D. M. (2018). Nudging and other ways of steering choices. *Intereconomics*, 53(1): 17–20.
- Hédoin, C. (2015). From utilitarianism to paternalism: When behavioral economics meets moral philosophy. *Revue de philosophie économique*, *16*(2): 73–106.
- John, P., Cotterill, S., Richardson, L., Moseley, A., Smith, G., Stoker, G. & Wales, C. (2013). *Nudge, Nudge, Think, Think: Using Experiments to Change Civic Behavior*. London – New York: Bloomsbury Academic.
- Kahneman, D. & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk, *Econometrica*, 47(2): 263–292.
- Kirchgässner, G. (2017). Soft paternalism, merit goods, and normative individualism. *European Journal* of Law and Economics, 43(1): 125–152.

- Korsgaard, C.M. (2009). *Self-constitution: Agency, Identity, and Integrity.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Niker, F. (2017). Policy-led 'ecological' virtue-cultivation: Can we 'nudge' citizens towards developing virtues? In T. Harrison and D. Walker (Eds.), *Theory and Practice of Virtue Education*. London: Taylor & Francis.
- Rebonato, R. (2012). *Taking Liberties: A Critical Examination of Libertarian Paternalism*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Shafir, E. (2013). *The Behavioral Foundations of Public Policy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Sharff, R. (2009). Obesity and hyperbolic discounting: Evidence and implications. *Journal of Consumer Policy*, *32*(1): 3–21.
- Sobel, D. (2016). From Valuing to Value: Towards a Defense of Subjectivism. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sugden, R. (2008) Why incoherent preferences do not justify paternalism. *Constitutional Political Economy*, 19(3): 226–248.
- Sunstein, C. R. (Ed.) (2000). *Behavioural Law and Economics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sunstein, C. R. (2013). The Storrs lectures: Behavioral economics and paternalism. *Yale Law Journal*, *122*(7): 1826–1899.

- Sunstein, C. R. (2014). *Why Nudge?: The Politics* of Libertarian Paternalism. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Sunstein, C. R. (2016). Fifty shades of manipulation. *Journal of Behavioral Marketing*, 1(3–4), 213–244.
- Sunstein, C. R. (2017). Human Agency and Behavioral Economics. Nudging Fast and Slow. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Sunstein, C. R. Thaler, R. H. (2003). Libertarian paternalism is not an oxymoron. *The University* of Chicago Law Review, 70(4): 1159–1202.
- Thaler, R. H., Sunstein, C. R. (2008). Nudge: Improving Decisions about Health, Wealth, and Happiness. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Valdman, M. (2010). Outsourcing self-government. *Ethics*, *120*(4): 761–790.
- Wartenberg, T. E. (1990). Forms of Power: From Domination to Transformation. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- White, M. (2013). *The Manipulation of Choice: Ethics and Libertarian Paternalism*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Yanoff, T. G., Hertwig, R. (2016). Nudge versus boost: How coherent are policy and theory? *Minds and Machines*, 26(1–2): 149–183.

Guidelines for Authors

PUBLIC GOVERNANCE

Basic rules

The articles must be prepared **with accordance to our technical requirements** and taking our academic ethics code into account. We will reject submissions not prepared according to our requirements.

Before submitting your article, please read and apply the following rules:

- EASE Guidelines for Authors of Scientific Articles to be Published in English (version of June 2014) explaining in details how to compose a scientific article according to international standards. http://www.ease.org.uk/publications/author-guidelines Please read the EASE file carefully before your submission!
- APA Style Manual (6th edition of June 2009) explaining in details how to use and cite references and how to apply linguistic rules while writing in English.

For very detailed submission instructions, including *guidelines for authors*, and all other information visit our website at: http://www.publicgovernance.pl/en/

Article length and format

All submitted manuscripts should not exceed the recommended size in accordance with established rules:

30 000 - 40 000 characters, including abstract, keywords, tables, figures, references, etc.

No article submission or article processing fees are charged. Nevertheless, the fee for each additional 1 800 characters (exceeding 40 000 characters) is 20€. The payment will be transferred to the Publisher's bank account after the article's approval for publication.

Only editable formats of text can be sent (doc or docx). We do not accept uneditable formats (e.g. pdf).

Language

- 1. Papers should be presented in **clear**, **concise English**. Articles written in poor English will be rejected immediately (and will not accepted even for the review process).
- 2. We prefer **British English** (e.g. behaviour, not behavior), this is why we strongly ask authors to use British English.

Article structure and abstract

Divide your article into clearly defined sections in the following format:

Research articles	Theoretical articles				
<i>1. Introduction</i> State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.					
 2. Literature review or 2. Literature review and hypotheses development A literature survey, revealing all important authors dealing with the topic of the article. 	2. Material and methods – including goals, and research methods. Provide how the literature was selected to analysis. Methods of analysis should be described.				
3. Material and methods – including goals, hypothesis and research methods. Provide sufficient detail to allow quantitative research to be replicated. Methods already published should be indicated by a reference: only relevant modifications should be described.	<i>3. Literature review and theory development</i> <i>A</i> very detailed literature survey, revealing all important authors dealing with the topic of the article.				
<i>4. Results and discussion</i> Results should be clear and concise. Discussion should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them.	<i>4. Discussion</i> Discussion should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them.				
<i>5. Conclusions</i> – including research limitations and recommendations for future research.					

References

Please list all references in alphabetical order. Only references used in the text can be used. Use at least 4 references indexed in Web of Science!

Authors must supply a **structured abstract** on the **Article Title Page**, set out under the following sub-headings:

- > Objectives
- Research Design & Methods
- ➤ Findings
- Implications / Recommendations
- > Contribution / Value Added
- Article Classification:
 - Research article
 - > Theoretical article:
 - Conceptual article
 - Original literature review
- Keywords (at least 5, maximum 7 words)
- JEL classification: at least one code (e.g. F22) For JEL codes please visit: http://www.aeaweb.org/jel/guide/jel.php

The title, authors, abstract together with the suggested citation cannot take more than one page, please pay a special attention to fit it to one full page.

Technical Issues

Text

1. Bullets and Numbering are accepted only in two formats:

Bullets:	Numbering:
– Poland,	1. Poland,
– UK,	2. UK,
– USA,	3. USA,
- Scotland.	4. Scotland.

Use comma (,) after each line of bullets/numbering, and dot (.) after the last one. In most cases please use bullets instead of numbering!

Use each line with the small letter:

Bullets:

- There are three factors (Smith, 1999, p. 2):
- education,
- training,
- consulting.

For full sentences, use (.) after each line and start with the capital letter.

Numbering:

Following Smith (2014, p. 22) we applied the following procedures:

- 1. Execution of the significance test for individual random effects, allowing to choose between the pooled model, and the model with fixed effects (FE).
- 2. Execution of the BP test, allowing to choose between the pooled model, and the model with random effects (RE).
- 3. Execution of the Hausman test, allowing to choose between the FE model and RE.

Please remember to provide with references for each bullets and/or numbering before, not after them!

Other Editorial Requirements

- 2. Non-English words (including Latin) should be in *italics*.
- 3. Authors are requested to limit formatting commands to **bold** to the necessary minimum.
- 4. Authors are requested **not** to use <u>underline</u> words at all
- 5. To enclose a quotation use single quotation marks, so use 'quotation' not "quotation".
- 6. Commas and periods go outside closing quotation marks.
- 7. Please, use high and honest standards for authorship!
 - a. If you are referring to the literature you haven't reached directly and have read it somewhere else, please mention where it was quoted originally: e.g. (Smith, 1976, p. 22) as cited in (Lincoln, 2012, p. 12)
 - b. Please refer to the particular author of the chapter in edited books! Don't quote the editor of the book, but the particular author of the text you are referring to!

c. Please read the further on 'Academic Ethics Policy' and '**Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement**.

Data Sources:

- 8. Please remember to provide with the detailed source for each data you refer to! e.g. The population of Poland is 38 533 299 inhabitants (GUS, 2014, p. 4).
- 9. Never use general source (e.g. Eurostat), but make it as detailed and clear as it is possible, (GUS, 2014, p. 4); (Eurostat, htec_trd_tot4) where 'htec_trd_tot4' is the code used by Eurostat to identify the exact data you refer to.

Transliteration:

- 10. Only Latin characters are accepted in both the main text and the list of references!
- 11. Use transliteration to all non-Latin letters in the text (e.g. Cyrillic, Chinese, etc.) **including list of references** before submitting the manuscript.

Original language		Latin alphabet (to be used in the article)
Japanese	経済学	Keizai-gaku
Russian	Предпринимательство	Predprinimatel'stvo
Ukrainian	Підприємництво	Pidpryiemnytstvo

See: http://www.loc.gov/catdir/cpso/roman.html

Graphics and Tables

- 1. All Tables/Figures should be numbered in Arabic Numerals (Table 1) and should appear in the body of the manuscript (Figure 1).
- 2. Please number all figures as Figure 1, Figure 2 etc. (don't use different names for graphs, schemes, maps, diagrams, charts, line drawings, etc.)
- 3. Tables/Figures should have their titles according to the rule 'What/Who + where + when' (e.g. Table 1. Inflation rate in the European Union in the years 2004–2010).
- 4. All table numbers and titles should appear above each table.
- 5. The numbers, titles of sources of all figures should be provided below each figure.
- 6. Tables/Figures should be **editable**, Tables must be prepared in MS Word (file format: doc or docx) and MS Excel (file format: xls or xlsx). Figures should **be editable** (MS Visio, Corel Draw, MS Word Drawing Module).
- 7. Tables/Figures should fit the Journal page they cannot exceed the size 15.0x21.00 cm (150x210 mm)
- 8. At the bottom of each Table/Figure should be indicated the source from which it was taken, or information that it is developed by author.

For your own original ideas and concepts:

Source: own elaboration.

Source: own study.

If you based your concept on the work of other authors:

Source: own elaboration based on ...

Source: own study based on...

Source: own compilation based on ...

Source: own calculations based on Eurostat data available at

If you slightly changed the original table please indicated that it is your adaptation: Source: adapted from

- 9. Always mention the measures (e.g. in %, in USD).
- 10. For empirical surveys always provide the sampling size (e.g. n = 650)

Please note, that we use N for the whole population and n for the sample.

- 11. If some abbreviations and acronyms are used in the figures/tables, these should be appropriately described in the main body text of the manuscript where they have been cited/referenced/interpreted and well as in the footnotes of the figure.
- 12. All Tables/Figures should be of clear quality in monochrome (mono-colour i.e. black, white).
- 13. Use clear (white) background in all figures! Don't use any shadows!
- 14. Do not use spatial (3D) charts or diagrams, only simple ones (2D) are accepted.
- 15. All Figures have to be submitted in the text as well as in the separate files (source file + file with original look):
 - a. Diagrams/Charts: MS Excel + PDF (in order to see how it looks from the Author's perspective).
 - b. Other graphics: source file (MS Visio, Corel Draw, we also accept MS Word but only with the module of drawing!).
- 16. Authors may include graphs prepared using other software (e.g., Corel Draw, Statistica, Stata, SPSS, Harvard Graphics) provided they are with the module of drawing/editing (for example "wmf" or "eps" format, with all the necessary fonts included).
- 17. Please align the numeric values in the tables to the right and use a uniform number of decimal places in the data presented in the tables and graphs (we advise max. 3 places after dot, e.g. 1.000, please don't use 0.0011111).

Numbers, Formulas and Calculations

Mathematical formulas recommendations

1. Mathematical dependences, their notations in the text and other symbols should be typed in MS Word 2010 – The Equation Tools Design Tab:

The Equation Tools Design Tab



The Equation Tools Design tab is divided into three groups: Tools, Symbols and Structures.

2. Formulas are centred and numbered by Arabic numerals in round brackets and aligned right – **all** formulas must be numbered, e.g. (1), at the right side. There should be single spacing of one line between the formula and the text.

$$\min \rho = 1 - \frac{1}{m} \sum_{i=1}^{m} s_{\bar{i}} / x_{i0}$$
(1)

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12} & \dots & x_{1n} \\ x_{21} & x_{22} & \dots & x_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{m1} & x_{m2} & \dots & x_{mn} \end{bmatrix}, \quad Y \begin{bmatrix} y_{11} & y_{12} & \dots & y_{1n} \\ y_{21} & y_{22} & \dots & y_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ y_{m1} & y_{m2} & \dots & y_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2)

- 3. Matrices are written in square brackets, vectors by bold-regular typeface.
- 4. All the numerals, including index numbers, are presented in regular typeface.
- 5. Work with a large number of formulas to be prepared as follows:
 - simple formulas (one-level) typed with keyboard,
 - complex formulas, (multi-level) should be entered using the equation tools design tab.

Mathematical numbers and money

6. Use New British English (i.e. American English) for numbers:

a thousand million (10^9) is a billion

(not 'a milliard' as it used to be in Old British English!).

For details please see: http://mathworld.wolfram.com/Milliard.html

- 7. DO NOT use dots to separate thousands, millions, etc. (e.g. 32 046; 45 263 721; 741 592 438 526).
- 8. Numbers till 10 are usually best written as full words (one, two, three etc.). 11+ would be written as numbers. There's no strict rule on this: 11–20 may often also be written as words, but 21+ would almost always be put down as numbers. Be consistent over this: don't sometimes write twenty but in other places 20.

9. Money

- a) Do not use graphic signs for currencies. Always use international codes (e.g. USD American dollar, GBP – pound sterling, EUR – euro, PLN – Polish zloty, LTL – Lithuanian litas, RUB – Russian rouble).
- b) The currency codes placed after the numerical value: 4.99 EUR, 100 USD etc. Always make clear what currency you're referring to.
- c) Millions are often abbreviated to m. for example: 7m EUR = 7 million EUR
 - 4.7m USD = 4.7 million USD. However, we advise to use full names (million, billion ...)

Final Remarks at the End of the Article

- All submissions must include:
 - name/degree/title/affiliation,
 - corresponding address to ALL authors,
 - ORCID (Open Research and Contributor ID).
- We follow good practice in science and research statement including:
 - contribution share of authors for co-authored articles only,
 - financial disclosure stating all agencies, sponsors or other supporters,
 - revealing all authors and/or contributors supporting the article, (we applied rules against guest-writing),
 - acknowledgements in order to thank to all people supporting the article
 - (e.g. all who have contributed to the current state of the article).

..:: REFERENCES ::..

References Quality and Quantity

- 1. The bibliography must include more than 10 scientific references.
- 2. The bibliography must include at least 4 references indexed in Web of Science.
- 3. Recent studies published for last five years must be included in references.
- 4. Other than English literature should be kept to the minimum. We advise to use no more than 20% of references written in non-English languages (unless the country-specific article). Articles based only on Your own domestic literature (in your native language, not English) will be rejected.

Reference Style

Please use APA style for referring literature.

For detailed guidelines visit: http://www.lib.usm.edu/help/style guides/apa.html

Text: All citations in the text should refer to:

- 5. *Single author:* the author's name (without initials, unless there is ambiguity) and the year of publication (Smith, 2017);
- 6. *Two authors:* both authors' names and the year of publication, as demonstrated (Alan & Jones, 2010); but in the sentence: Alan and Jones (2010) proved
- 7. *Three or more authors:* first author's name followed by "*et al.*" and the year of publication. Citations may be made directly (or parenthetically). Put semicolons (;) between multiple works cited.

Groups of references should be listed first alphabetically, then chronologically. Examples: "as demonstrated (Allan, 1996a, 1996b, 1999; Allan & Jones, 1995). Kramer *et al.* (2000) have recently shown"

List: References should be arranged first alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically if necessary. More than one reference from the same author(s) in the same year must be identified by the letters "a", "b", "c", etc., placed after the year of publication.

Reference to a journal publication without DOI:

Author, A. (Publication Year). Article title. Periodical Title, Volume(Issue), pp.-pp.

Examples:

Ku, G. (2008). Learning to de-escalate: The effects of regret in escalation of commitment. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *105*(2), 221–232.

Sanchez, D., & King-Toler, E. (2007). Addressing disparities consultation and outreach strategies for university settings. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, *59*(4), 286–295.

Reference to a journal publication with DOI:

Author, A. (Publication Year). Article title. *Periodical Title*, Volume(Issue), pp.-pp. https://doi.org/XX.XXXXX

Example:

Chrabąszcz, R., & Zawicki, M. (2016). The evolution of multi-level governance: The perspective on EU anti-crisis policy in Southern-European Eurozone states. *Public Governance*, 4(38), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.15678/ZP.2016.38.4.02

Reference to a book:

Kidder, T. (1981). The soul of a new machine. Boston, MA: Little, Brown & Company.

Gibbs, J. T., & Huang, L. N. (Eds.). (2001). *Children of color: Psychological interventions with culturally diverse youth.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

Labajo, J. (2003). Body and voice: The construction of gender in flamenco. In T. Magrini (Ed.), *Music and gender: perspectives from the Mediterranean* (pp. 67-86). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

..:: CODE OF ETHICS ::..

Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement

The author's statement including the copyright notice as well as the statement on ethics and good practice in science (including financial disclosure, ghost-writing firewall, guest authorship firewall) must be submitted alongside the manuscript according to the form provided (see the attachment – **author's statement**) as well as to be mentioned on the article title page.

The Editors adhere to the COPE (Committee on Publication Ethics) Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing.

Among others, we apply the following guidelines:

- 1. Articles must be original and cannot include borrowings from other works, which could result in liability of the publisher. Papers cannot infringe any third party rights.
- 2. Articles must reveal the contribution of all individual authors in the creation of publications (with their affiliations and contributions, such as information about who is the author of concepts, principles, methods, protocol, etc. used in the preparation of publications).
- 3. Article cannot display any signs of 'ghost-writing', that is not to disclose the names of authors who have made a significant contribution to the publication of, or otherwise contributed to its creation.
- 4. Article cannot display any signs of 'guest authorship' that is assigning a person who did not contribute to the creation of publications.
- 5. Article must include complete information concerning sources of funding, the contribution of research institutions, associations and other entities ('financial disclosure').
- 6. Editors and the Publisher will be documenting all forms of scientific misconduct and malpractice, particularly violations of ethics and violations in science. Any such cases will be reported to the employer of the author and to the relevant public and state institutions.

Legal aspects

- 1. The author shall receive **no remuneration** for the publication of the text.
- 2. In the case of a paper written by several authors, the author submitting the paper is obliged to seek the agreement of his or her co-authors regarding all the publishing requirements specified above.